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ROKEL COMMERCIAL BANK (SL) LTD

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY given that the 46th Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of Rokel Commercial
Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited will be held at the Beccles Davies Memorial Hall, Gloucester Street, Freetown
on Friday 8th February 2019 at 11:00 a.m. prompt to transact the following business:1.

To consider and adopt the minutes of the 45th Annual General Meeting held on the 20th day of
February 2017;

2.

To receive the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements of the Company as at 31st
December 2016 and 31st December 2017;

3.

To appoint/ratify new Board Members; and

4.

To transact any other business proper to be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

A Member of the Company eligible to vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to
attend, and upon a poll to vote in his stead, a proxy need not be a member of the Company.
All relevant documents in connection with the meeting will be made available to all Shareholders in due
time at the registered office of the Company at Nos. 25/27 Siaka Stevens Street, Freetown.
Dated this 10th day of January, 2019.
`
By Order of the Board of Directors.

Margaret A.L. Davies (Mrs.)
LEGAL ADVISER/COMPANY SECRETARY

i
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 2016
INTRODUCTION:
It gives me great pleasure to make a statement as Chairman of the
Oversight Committee for the year 2016.
The past twelve months can be described as a very exciting but
challenging time for many of us who have been involved with
the Board. The Bank underwent a year of unprecedented change
whether it be at supervisory level or within the banking industry.
During this period, the Oversight Committee had been there to
support the Bank in whatever way possible in order to reposition
the Bank and to regain and maintain customers’ confidence.
Our efforts in achieving the objectives of the Bank have been fruitful and it is visible in the figures as stated
in this Report.
I am proud to say the Bank is significantly positioned in the Financial Industry and we continue to make
tremendous effort to capture the unbanked populace.
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
The Bank was able to record a pretax profit of SLL1.57bn which is 53% less than the previous year’s figure.
This is quite satisfactory given the amount of provision made for impaired debts during the course of the
year and the inflation rate of 17.41% for year ended 31st December 2016.
Total Asset grew by 9% to SLL748bn. Meaningful strides were made in mobilizing deposits. Total customers’
deposits grew by 9% to SLL706bn; an indicator that the Bank remains a key player in the industry.
Revenue increased significantly by 17% on the back of strong interest income on Government securities
which accounted for 58% of total revenue.
ECONOMY:
The economy recovered from the aftermath of the Ebola epidemic, growing by 4.3% in 2016 for 21.1% in
2015.
The country has introduced austerity measures in the 2017 budget, which aided a more restrictive trade
regime by introducing new tariffs.
However, inflation raised from a base of 9.5% in December 2015, to 17.41% in December 2016. Exchange
Rate pressures remained a challenge for the financial and business sector. The Leones depreciated by 28.73%
in December 2016 (year-on-year). The Bank of Sierra Leone increased its weekly foreign exchange auction
from USD $1 million to USD $3 million since June 2016.
The overall fiscal balance was projected to recover slightly from 9.6% of non-iron ore GDP in 2015 to 8.1%
in 2016. Total domestic revenue collection for 2017 is projected at Le3.5 trillion, up from Le2.68 trillion set
in 2016
The IMF projects a medium-term growth to pick up to around 6.5% by 2020 from 4.3% in 2016. Inflation is
projected to decline to 7.5% by 2020.

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

HUMAN RESOURCES:
The total number of staff on roll as at 31st December 2016 was 306. During the year under review, three
members of staff joined the bank including the Legal Adviser/Company Secretary, two staff died in active
service, three senior staff retired including the Deputy Managing Director and fifteen staff severed relationship
for various reasons.
The Bank regards its staff as the most valued assets; this is evidenced by the continuous in-house training
programs conducted at the Bank’s fully equipped Training Centre. During the year, four members of staff
attended training courses in Ghana, Mauritius and the UK and one member of staff completed his ACCA.
OPERATIONS:
The Bank during the year under review continued to provide high quality of service to its customers both
locally and internationally, through ATM (Automated Teller Machine), Electronic funds transfers at point of
sale (POS), VISA products, SWIFT transfer and other services country wide. Also the Automated Clearing
House (ACP/ACH) system introduced by the Central Bank continued to provide a faster and safer settlement
of clearing transactions.
In a bid to broaden the financial services offered in a country where growth is key to competitive advantage,
we are on the verge of upgrading our Universal Banking Systems (UNIBANK) to enable the introduction and
implementation of new and innovative banking products and services.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:
On behalf of the Oversight Committee, I want to thank all the Shareholders of the Bank for their continued
unflinching support. We are very proud of you and we remain grateful to you all.
I would also like to acknowledge and thank the Management and Staff of the Bank for their relentless efforts
and strive in repositioning the Bank. I want to recognize all of our employees for their dogged sweats behind
our success. Their expertise and agility have allowed us to successfully navigate a tough economy and
continue to achieve growth.
We want to express our profound gratitude to our esteemed customers for their loyalty and trust in the
Bank. The Bank is extremely fortunate and grateful to all our customers.
I wish to notify Shareholders of the Bank that our efforts would not have been commendable without
the support and guidance of the Tripartite Body (the Bank of Sierra Leone, the National Commission for
Privatisation and the Ministry of Finance and Economic Development). On that note, I want to express our
sincere gratitude to these institutions for a successful year and looking forward to a better year ahead.
At this point, allow me to acknowledge Members and the Company Secretaries (the erstwhile and the
current) who served with me in the Oversight Committee. Please receive my sincere gratitude for all your
support individually as well as the institutions you represent. I really look forward to working with you again
in 2017, in what will be the end of the term of this Oversight Committee.

………………………………………......................

Kebbe A. Kouroma
CHAIRMAN, OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
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MINUTES OF THE 45TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF ROKEL
COMMERCIAL BANK (SIERRA LEONE) LIMITED
HELD AT THE BECCLES-DAVIES MEMORIAL HALL, GLOUCESTER STREET, FREETOWN
ON MONDAY THE 20TH DAY OF FEBRUARY 2017 AT 2:00 P.M.
Oversight Committee Members Present:
Mr. Kebbe Ahmed Kouroma		
Mr. Henry Yamba Kamara 		
Mr. Abdul Bundu			
Mr. John D. Okrafo-Smart		

-

Chairman
Member
Member
Member/Managing Director

In Attendance:
Mr. Sulaiman Kabba Koroma		
Dr. James Sanpha Koroma		
Mr. Derrick Kawaley			
Mr. Charles B. Sesay			
Mr. Morrison Conteh			
Mrs. Margaret A.L. Davies 		

-

Chairman NCP, Representing the Majority Shareholder
Representing the Minority Shareholders
Representing KPMG (External Auditors)
Director of Finance
Director, Risk Management
Legal Adviser/Company Secretary

Opening of Meeting:

The Chairman declared the meeting opened at 2:00 p:m and asked for
individual silent prayers to be offered. He then welcomed Members to
the 45th Annual General Meeting of the Bank and informed them that
there is currently an Oversight Committee carrying the functions of the
Board of Directors, of which, he was the Chairman and his day’s job was
Accountant-General, Ministry of Finance and Economic Development.

Notice of Meeting:

The Chairman called on the Legal Adviser/Company Secretary to read
out the Notice of the 45th Annual General Meeting which said Notice
was sent to Shareholders by publication in print, visual and other
media.

Itme 1 & 2:
Introduction of the
Legal Adviser/Company
Secretary and Oversight
Committee Members

The Chairman introduced the Legal Adviser/Company Secretary while
members of the Oversight Committee introduced themselves.

Item
3:
		The
Minutes of the 44th Annual General Meeting held on the 9th of
To consider the Minutes
December 2015 as contained in the Annual Report was mentioned and
of the 44th Annual General
the Chairman of the 45th Annual General allocated Five (5) minutes
Meeting held on the
for consideration of the referred Minutes. After due consideration,
9th of December 2015
Members raised the following issues:• Ms. Marion Morgan informed members and admonished the
Company on late delivery of documents (Notice and Annual
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Report) and Mr. Samuel Weekes confirmed same and pleaded with
the Oversight Committee to change this practice by circulating the
documents in time before the meeting.
•

Mr. Eugene Nicol also reiterated this point and asked the Company
to distribute the Financial Statements earlier, preferably days
before the meeting so that members would be able to look at the
figures before attending the meeting.

		

The Motion to adopt the Minutes was moved by Mr. Thomas and
seconded by Mr. Ibi May-Parker whilst Members voted unanimously
for the acceptance of the Minutes as considered.

The Chairman’s Statement was read as contained in the Annual
Item 4:
Chairman’s Statement
Report of 2015.
				
The Report of the Directors and the Financial Statements for December
Item 5:
2015 were presented by a Representative from KPMG; thereafter,
To receive the Director’s
Report and Audited
Shareholders raised the following concerns on the performance of the
Financial Statements of the
Bank:Company as at 31st
December 2015
						
Mr. Campbell informed Members that he is not happy with the 2015
Audited Report particularly the opinion of the External Auditors (KPMG)
as contained in page 7 of the said Report.
Mr. Eugene Nicol demanded answers as regard the so many breaches
opined by the External Auditors as indicated in pages 7 & 8 and asked
whether actions have been taken to correct same.
The Managing Director, Mr. John D. Okrafo-Smart responded to these
concerns by stating that one of the breaches was as a result of the
deficiency in the capital requirement. He furthered that the Bank do
not have the minimum capital adequacy ratio but informed members
that there was adequate cash to carry out the operations of the Bank.
In concluding his response, he mentioned that the Bank had a huge
loss in 2013 but the position has changed from Le100 Billion loss in
2013 to Le23 Billion in 2015. He furthered that the total asset base
increased from Le682.3 Billion to Le683.9 Billion and earnings moved
from negative to positive as indicated in the Annual Report.
Mr. Smith raised a very serious concern and asked the Auditors whether
the Company is a going concern, to which the auditors replied in the
affirmative.
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Members were also concerned about the quantum of debts that have
been collected and amount recovered through the debt recovery
process considering the fact that the Bank has the right to sell secured
properties in recovering its debts.
The Managing Director replied by assuring Shareholders that the Bank
is still in the process of recovering its debts but the process of disposing
properties used as collateral was relatively slow. However, the Bank has
commenced legal actions in court and in cases where the Bank had
obtained judgment in its favour, it has been difficult to get purchasers
to buy the properties.
		Other Shareholders were concerned as to why Management gave
loans without security and Mr. Alimamy Wurie asked whether it was
wrong for Management to publish names of defaulters. The Managing
Director responded by stating that unsecured loans is a thing of the
past and all loans giving out to customers are now 100% secured.
The Motion to receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited
Financial Statements as at 31st December 2015 was moved by Mr.
Mohamed Alie Sesay (representing the NCP) and seconded by Mr.
C.T.O. Martyn whilst members voted unanimously for the acceptance
of the Financial Statements.
Item 6:
Statement from the
Representative of the
Minority Shareholders

The Minority Shareholders representative, Dr. James Sanpha Koroma
informed Members that the Minority Shareholders are in continuous
dialogue with the Government of Sierra Leone on the issue of
diluting the Minority shares from 49% to 35% which they (Minority
Shareholders) consider as against best practice and the issue of changes
made to the Board of Directors. Dr. Koroma commented on the issue
of divesting Government shares to private Shareholders which to the
Minority Shareholders will be in the best interest of the Bank. Dr.
Koroma concluded by stating that dialogue with the Government still
continues, he pleaded with the Minority Shareholders to be patient
and assured them of a successful outcome.

Item 7:
Statement from the
Representative of the
Majority Shareholder

The Chairman of the National Commission for Privatisation, representing
Government of Sierra Leone (Mr. Sulaiman Borbor Kabba Koroma)
thanked Dr. James Sanpha Koroma for raising the concerns of the
Minority Shareholders and assured them that the NCP together with
the Central Bank Authorities will look into the issues raised to ensure
that both the Minority and Prudential Shareholders’ investments are
secured. He mentioned that as Majority Shareholder, the Government is
concerned about the challenges the Bank is encountering in relation to
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the capital base which apparently has placed the Bank under a tripartite
arrangement. He assured Shareholders that the Bank continues to
operate as a going concern and Management is making tremendous
progress not only to reduce the non-performing loans through debt
recovery drive but has also engaged and awaiting the outcome of the
diagnostic study done by the Auditing Firm, Ernst & Young to enhance
public confidence. Mr. Sulaiman Koroma stated that the Prudential
Shareholder will continue to collaborate with the Tripartite Body to
augment the Bank’s Capital Base and restore its stability. Accordingly,
he concluded by thanking members of the Oversight Committee,
Management & Staff of the Bank and the Minority shareholders for
the different roles played and support given in bringing the Bank to its
present status.
Item 8:
Any Other Business

Shareholders reported the challenges customers are facing using the
ATMs and Point of Sales terminal to which the Managing Director
promised to investigate and address accordingly.
In the absence of any other business, the meeting was adjourned at
3:20 p.m. on a motion moved by Ms. Marion Morgan and seconded
by Mr. Ibi May Parker. The Chairman declared the 45th Annual General
Meeting closed and refreshment served.

					
Recorded and Submitted by:

………………………………………......................
Mrs. Margaret A.L. Davies
LEGAL ADVISER/COMPANY SECRETARY

Confirmed by:

………………………………………......................
Mr. Kebbe Ahmed Kouroma
CHAIRMAN, OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
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Report of the Directors
The Directors hereby submit their report to the Shareholders together with the audited Financial Statements for
the year ended 31 December 2016.
Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Bank’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements,
comprising the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 and the statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the
Financial Statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act
of Sierra Leone, the Banking Act of Sierra Leone and the Banking Regulations of Sierra Leone, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The Directors’ Responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of
risk management.
The Directors have made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason
to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.
Share Capital
Details of the Bank’s share capital are shown in note 27 to the Financial Statements.
Profit for the year
The profit for the year after taxation was Le 1.51billion (2015: profit of Le 1.53 billion).
Dividends
No dividend is being proposed this year: (2015: Nil).
Capital Adequacy
The Bank is required to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 15% of total adjusted assets. As at 31
December 2016 the capital adequacy of the Bank was (13.86%) (2015: (29.4%). Details of the computation are
shown in note 5(d) to these Financial Statements.
Directors
The names of the present directors are detailed on page 1.
Under the terms of Article 29 of the Articles of Association, Directors normally retire by rotation and being
eligible offer themselves for re-election. The re-election of the Directors or the appointment of new Directors will
be determined by the National Commission for Privatisation in accordance with Section 13 of the National
Commission for Privatisation Act, 2002. Currently the bank is under the supervision of the Central Bank, the
central bank in -conjunction with the ministry of finance and economic development appoints the Members of
the Oversight Committee which is acting as the Board of Directors of the Bank.
Principal Activities
The Bank is engaged in retail, corporate and commercial banking services in Sierra Leone and operates with
twelve branches in addition to its Head Office.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
The Oversight Committee
The Oversight Committee comprises representatives from the Ministry of Finance and Economic Development
(Chairman), Bank of Sierra Leone, National Commission for Privatisation, Minority Shareholders of the Bank and
the Managing Director. The Oversight Committee assumes the function of the board of Directors of the Bank and
also oversee the activities of the Caretaker Management Team, and reviews all reports of the caretaker
management team with the view to approving, endorsing, amending or rejecting the said reports.
The Committee should also conduct a special investigation on the issues that led to the capital impairment of the
bank and is responsible to take necessary action to promote effective corporate governance of the Bank. The
Committee meets every two weeks.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of the members of the Oversight Committee with the exception of the Managing
Director. The Committee is responsible to oversee the Bank’s activities in relation to financial reporting, internal
control system, risk management system and internal and external audit functions. Its role also includes provision
of advice and recommendations to the Oversight Committee.
Executive Committee
The Executive Committee (Exco) comprises the Managing Director, Deputy Managing Director, Director of
Strategy, Director of operation and IT, Director Risk Management, Director of Finance, Business Center Manager,
Head, wholesale Banking, Legal Adviser/Company Secretary, Acting Business Development and Corporate Affairs
Secretary and Head of Treasury and Finance, Members of Staff of the Bank and meet on a weekly basis to discuss
general issues affecting the Bank.
IT Steering Committee
The IT Steering Committee comprises of Director of operation and IT (Chairman), IT Manager, Business Centre
Manager, Head of Internal Audit and Director of Finance. The Committee is responsible for reviewing,
implementing, monitoring and evaluating the Bank’s IT system (UNIVBANK) and the E-Banking(VISA) that the
Bank uses in its operations.
Disciplinary Committee
This Committee comprises the Director of Strategy, Director 0f Banking Operations and IT, Director of Business
Development and Corporate Affairs, Legal Adviser/Company Secretary and Human Resource Manager. The
Committee is chaired by the Legal Adviser/Company Secretary, and is responsible for the enforcement of
discipline within the Bank by reviewing matters relating to fraud, insubordination, negligence, and absenteeism,
breach of the terms and conditions of service, professional and other misconducts by staff.
Assets and Liability Committee
The Assets and Liability Committee comprises the Director of Finance (Chairman), the Managing Director, the
Deputy Managing Director, the Risk Management Director, the Head of Finance and Treasury, the Head of
Wholesale Banking, the Head of Business Development, and the Manager Business Centre Siaka Stevens Street.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
The Committee meets monthly to monitor the Bank’s Assets and Liabilities and it assists Management in ensuring
that the Bank is in compliance with its Policies and all other regulatory requirements.
Special Debt Recovery Committee
This was a newly formed Committee set up upon the directives of the National Commission for Privatisation. The
objectives of the Committee is to ensure the Bank maintains advances within the limit of Le 300 billion as
required by the Banking Regulatory Body, (Bank of Sierra Leone) and also to monitor the process of debt
recovery/collection.
On 30 January 2015, the Central Bank lifted the directive on new lending but that the total credit portfolio is still
capped at Le 300 billion. This capping on outstanding loans/advances (total credit facilities) will be reviewed by
the Central Bank every three months. As from 31 December 2013 out of bad and doubtful debts totaling
Le144.34 billion, only Le 28.56 billion had been recovered up to 31 May 2017, a proportion considered to be very
insignificant for the overall bad and doubtful loans/advances exposures of the Bank.
The Bank has set up a new Committee, the (Disposal of recovered properties committee) to complement the
work of Special Debt Recovery Committee in 2016. The Committee is tasked to maintain a list of properties
available for sale, advertise the properties available for sale, establish a procedure to make the Committee the
official reference point, negotiate every sale of properties concerned, prepare monthly report of activities of the
Committee and any other activities as directed by the Oversight Committee.
Auditors
The Auditors Messrs KPMG were appointed by the Auditor-General on 2 March 2017 to conduct the audit of the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016.
The Auditor-General will appoint auditors for the Bank for the ensuing year.
Approval of the Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of the Bank as indicated above were approved by the Oversight Committee on
Noverber 2017 and are signed on their behalf by:

……………………………………………..
Chairman

……………………………………………..
Managing Director

……………………………………………..
Director

……………………………………………..
Director

……………………………………………..
Company Secretary

2nd
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Independent Auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including significant accounting policies, and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Bank as at 31 December 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Companies Act
of Sierra Leone, the Banking Act of Sierra Leone and the Banking Regulations of Sierra Leone.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Sierra Leone, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
Impairment of loans and advances to customers
See Notes 20 and 38(h)(vii) to the financial statements
The Key audit matter
How the matter was addressed in our audit
Impairment of loans and advances to customers Our procedures in this area included
is a key audit matter due to the significance of
the balances, and complexity and subjectivity  Updated our understanding of key controls over the loan
over estimating timing and the amount of
origination approval, monitoring and recovery processes.
impairment. The risk is that the amount of
impairment may be misstated.
 Assessed and tested the design, implementation and
operating electiveness of these controls;
The estimations of the impaired loss allowance
on an individual basis requires management to  Assessed and tested the design, implementation and
make judgments to determine whether there is
operating electiveness of controls over the bank’s loan
objective evidence of impairment and to make
impairment, i.e. process regarding management’s review
assumptions about the financial conditions of
process over impairment calculations including the
the business and expected future cash flows.
quality of underlying data and systems;
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Impairment allowances represent management’s 
best estimate of the losses incurred within the
Loans and advances portfolio as at the reporting
date.
Loans and advances for which there is objective
evidence that an impairment event has occurred
are assessed individually for impairment i.e.
(Specific impairment).

Specific impairment is calculated
individual basis for impaired loans.

on

an


Management uses judgement to determine
when an impairment event has occurred, to
make assumptions about the financial conditions
of the counterparty and to estimate the 
expected future cash flows related to that loan.
Other key judgment for Specific impairment
provisions are the recoverable value of any
underlying collateral and estimated time to 
realize the amount.
If there is no evidence that an impairment exists
on an individual basis, loans are assessed
collectively
for
impairment.
Collective
impairment allowances are calculated on 
portfolio of loans of similar nature using models
which approximate the impact of current
economic and credit conditions on the loans
together with performing significant exposures 
(exposures with no indication of impairment).
The two key judgments in the collective
provisioning assessment are the likelihood of
default and the emergence period and it is the
latter which is the most important judgment as
there is limited historic data on which to
accurately assess it and the most sensitive to
adjustment.
The risk that the impairment provisions on loans
and advances may not be adequate to cover the
default risk in the loan portfolio has been
identified as significant and considered in our
audit approach

For loan loss provisions calculated on an individual basis,
we tested the assumptions underlying the main triggers
for specific impairment assessment, the process for
estimating impairment loss including forecasts of future
cash flows, valuation of underlying collateral, estimated
period to realization and estimates of recovery on
default, through inquiry of credit personnel’s, inspecting
correspondence and independent valuation reports.
We independently reperformed the calculation, and
compare the estimates to external evidence when is
available.
Examined a sample of loans and advances which had not
been identified by management as potentially impaired
and test for impairment.
For loan loss provisions calculated on a collective basis,
we tested the reasonableness of the underlying
assumptions in relation to industry norms.
For collectively impairment, we tested
appropriateness of the methodology applied
reference to the Bank and market experience for
assumptions made such as the emergence period,
loss given default and the probability of default.

the
by
the
the

We also assessed whether the data used in the models is
complete and accurate through testing a sample of
relevant data fields and their aggregate amounts against
data in the source systems;
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Independent Auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report
as required by the Companies Act of Sierra Leone, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other
information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard
Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Companies Act of Sierra
Leone, the Banking Act of Sierra Leone and the Banking Regulations of Sierra Leone, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial
reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities For The Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
Auditor’s Responsibilities For The Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
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sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.


Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Bank’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.



Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, then we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the business activities
within the Bank to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Bank’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
Auditor’s Responsibilities For The Audit of the Financial State
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of section 29(6) of the Banking Act of Sierra Leone we report that:


The accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Bank and its results for the year under
review;
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We were able to obtain all the information and explanation required for the efficient performance of our
duties; and



The Bank did not comply with the relevant provisions of the Banking Act of Sierra Leone, in relation to the
following matters:





single obligor limit;
aggregate exposure limit
Local liquid asset ratio
capital adequacy deficiency

In relation to the single obligor limit the Bank consistently breached this condition for all significant
customers and as a result of the accumulated loss position of the Bank, substantially all the lending portfolio
were above the single obligor limit prescribed by the Banking Act.
As at 31 December 2016, the Bank breached the regulations of the prudential guidelines for commercial
banks as its local liquid assets ratio of 40% fell below the statutory minimum of 75%.
Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)
As at 31 December 2016 the Bank’s non-performing loans to total loans ratio of 66 % exceeded the tolerable
ratio of 10% by 56%.
Aggregate exposure breached throughout the period under review.
The issued share capital of the Bank as at 31 December 2016 was Le 38.1 billion. However, as a result of the
accumulated loss position reported by the Bank the net equity of the Bank as at 31 December 2016 was
eroded and fell below the statutory minimum of Le 30 billion, as it recorded Le 1.22 billion as net equity to
the Bank.
As at 31 December 2016 the bank’s minimum capital adequacy ratio and core capital ratio were not met as it
recorded the following:
-

Capital adequacy ratio (13.86%)
and Core capital ratio (13.86%)

These were below the statutory requirements of 15% and 7.5% respectively.
Due to the above violations of the Banking Act, the Bank is subject to further regulatory considerations as
required by the Banking Act and Banking Regulations
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this Independent auditor’s report is
Vidal T.O. Decker.

Freetown

Date:

Chartered Accountants
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Financial Highlights
highlights

Profit before tax
(Thousands of Leones)

71,210,578

83 ,126 ,250

Revenue
(Thousands of Leones)

Net income

3 ,3 44,204

1,574,288

2016

Profit before tax

2015
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Financial Highlights
highlights (continued)
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Statement of financial position

As at 31 December

In thousands of Leones

Note

2016

2015

19
20
21
17
22
23

297,912,110
77,113,696
334,489,527
2,108,655
29,572,361
7,225,072
____________
748,421,421
============

212,480,322
92,005,741
345,179,688
1,108,634
30,138,902
3,064,528
____________
683,977,815
=========

24
25
17
26

706,789,599
6,383,806
34,021,581
___________
747,194,986
___________

649,411,709
6,516,224
27,864,559
___________
683,792,492
___________

27
28
30
30(e)

38,118,869
49,090,909
42,749,704
(128,733,047)
____________

38,118,869
49,090,909
66,059,783
(153,084,238)
____________

1,226,435
___________
748,421,421
===========

185,323
____________
683,977,815
============

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Current tax assets
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Retained (loss)/earnings
Total equity attributable to
equity holders of the Bank
Total liabilities and equity

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

2017

Chairman
Managing Director
Director
Director

The notes on pages 21 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December
In thousands of Leones

Note

Interest income
Interest expense

8
8

Net interest income
Fee and commission income

9

Fee and commission income
Net trading income
Other operating income

Revenue
Net impairment loss on financial assets
Advances written off
Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Other operating expenses
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

10
11

14
14.1
12
13.1
13.2
17(a)

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income,
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement of defined benefit liability
Related tax
Net amount transferred to profit or loss
Other comprehensive loss for the
year, net of income tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year

2016

2015

54,105,354
(4,389,500)
__________
49,715,854
12,704,921
__________
12,704,921
__________
20,642,795
62,680
__________
83,126,250
__________

27,605,773
(3,677,399)
__________
23,928,374
13,511,051
__________
13,511,051
__________
33,719,826
51,327
__________

(19,245,038)
(36,333,152)
(2,276,047)
(23,697,725)
__________

=========

(15,826,429)
(1,165,417)
(29,514,656)
(2,233,957)
(19,125,915)
_________
3,344,204
(1,813,554)
_________
1,530,650
=========

(665,594)
199,678
________

_________

(465,916)

________
1,530,650
=======

1,574,288

(67,260)
_________

1,507,028

________
1,041,112
========

71,210,578

__________

The notes on pages 21 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (continued)
In thousands of Leones

Note

2015

2014

1,507,028

1,530,650
_________
1,530,650
========

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Bank

__________

1,507,028

Profit for the year

===========

Total comprehensive loss
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank
Total comprehensive income for the year
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (Leones)

15

Diluted earnings per share (Leones)

15

1,041,112

__________
1,041,112
========

1,530,650
_________
1,530,650
=======

0.04
======
0.04
======

0.04
====
0.04
=====

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on

...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

2017

Chairman
Managing Director
Director
Director

The notes on pages 21 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements

Balance at 31 December 2016

Total contribution by and distribution
to owners

Transactions with owners of the bank, recorded
directly in equity
Contribution by and distributions to owners
Issue of new shares
Dividend to shareholders
Share premium on issue of new shares
Other movement

Total comprehensive loss and other transfers

Total transfers

Other transfer
Allowances for losses on loans and advances
Transfer to statutory reserve

Total other comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 1 January 2016
Total comprehensive income for the year
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
(defined benefit’s obligations)
Actuarial loss

In thousands of Leones

Statement of changes in equity

Capital
reserve

-

-

49,090,909 17,556,582

Share
premium

-

19,023,366

Statutory
reserve

-

27,733,817

Statutory
loan loss
reserve

-

1,746,018

Other
reserve

1,507,028

-

1,507,028

Total
equity
185,323

Retained
earnings

66,059,783 (153,084,238)

Total
reserve

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

22

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
38,118,869
49,090,909 17,556,582
19,776,880
4,136,140
1,280,102 42,749,704 (128,733,047) 1,226,435
=========================================================================================================
The notes on pages 21 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

-

- (23,597,677)
- (23,597,677)
23,597,677
753,514
753,514
(753,514)
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
753,514
(23,567,677)
- (22,844,163)
22,844,163
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
24,351,191
==========================================================================================================

(465,916)
(465,916)
(465,916)
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(465,916)
(465,916)
- (465,916)
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

-

38,118,869

Share
Capital

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank
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Balance at 31 December 2015

Total contribution by and distribution
to owners

Transactions with owners of the bank, recorded
directly in equity
Contribution by and distributions to owners
Issue of new shares
Dividend to shareholders
Share premium on issue of new shares
Other movement

Total comprehensive loss and other transfers

Total transfers

Other transfer
Allowances for losses on loans and advances
Transfer to statutory reserve

Total other comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 1 January 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
(defined benefit’s obligations)
Actuarial gains

In thousands of Leones

-

-

-

17,556,582
-

18,258,041
-

-

Total
reserve

-

1,746,018 37,560,641

Other
reserve

-

Total
equity

1,530,650

-

(126,115,746) (2,462,195)

Restated
Retained
earnings

23

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
38,118,869 49,090,909 17,556,582 19,023,366 27,733,817
1,746,018
66,059,783 (153,084,238)
185,323
==========================================================================================================
The notes on pages 21 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

- 27,733,817
27,733,817
(27,733,817)
765,325
765,325
(765,325)
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
765,325 27,733,817
27,733,817
(28,499,142)
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(26,969,492)
===========================================================================================================

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

49,090,909

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank
Statutory
Share
Capital
Statutory
loan loss
premium
reserve
reserve
reserve

38,118,869

Share
Capital

Statement of changes in equity (Restated)
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December
In thousands of Leones

Note

2016

2015

1,574,288

3,344,204

13.1

2,276,047

2,233,957

14
8

19,245,038
(49,715,854)
(665,594)

15,826,429
(23,928,374)

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss)/ before tax
Adjustment for:
Depreciation
Net impairment losses on
financial assets
Net interest income
Actuarial Loss
Changes in:

__________

__________

(4,352,993)
(4,160,544)
57,377,890
6,157,022
___________
27,735,300
54,105,354
(4,389,500)
(1,000,021)
__________
76,451,133
__________

1,165,417
9,628,726
25,925,600
(1,404,294)
1,362,134
___________
34,153,799
27,605,773
(3,677,399)
(1,470,000)
___________
56,612,173
___________

(1,709,506)

(1,915,113)

10,690,161
____________
8,980,655
____________

(102,249,013)
____________
(104,164,126)
____________

___________
===========

__________
==========

85,431,788

(47,551,953)

212,480,322
___________
297,912,110
===========

260,032,275
___________
212,480,322
==========

(27,286,075)

Operating assets and liabilities
Overdrafts written off
Loans and advances to customers
Other assets
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities
8a
8b
17d

Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Other movements
Disposal/(acquisition) of investment securities

22

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of shares
Share premium on new shares
Dividend paid
Net cash flow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

19

(2,523,785)

-

The notes on pages 21 to 118 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Reporting entity
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited (the Bank) is a Bank domiciled in Sierra Leone. The address
of the Bank’s registered office is 25/27 Siaka Stevens Street Freetown. The financial statements of the Bank
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 comprise the Head Office and its branches. The Bank is
primarily involved in retail, consumer banking, financial services and wholesale banking services.

2.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements of Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They were authorised for issue by the Bank’s oversight committee on
________________ 2017.
Details of the bank’s accounting policies, including changes during the year, are included in notes 37 and
38.

3.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Leones, which is the Bank’s functional currency. Except as
otherwise indicated the financial information presented in Leones has been rounded to the nearest
thousand.

4.

Use of judgements and estimates
In preparing these financial statements the directors have made judgements estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of the bank’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual reports may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
estimates are recognized prospectively.

Revisions to accounting

(a) Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is set out below.
(i)

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank
makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the
decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include
observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of
borrowers in a Bank, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the Bank.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
4.

Use of judgements and estimates (continued)
(a) Judgements (continued)
(i)

Impairment losses on loans and advances (continued)
Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when
scheduling its future cash flows.
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual
loss experience.

(ii)

Held to maturity investments
The Bank classifies non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity as held to maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. The
investments are therefore measured at amortised cost.

(b) Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment in the year ending 31 December 2017 is set out below in relation to the
impairment of financial instruments and in the following notes:
 Note 6

- determination of fair value of financial statements with significant unobservable
inputs;

 Note 17(f)

- recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable
profit against which carry forward tax losses can be used;

 Note 31

- recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions
about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources.

 Note 38 (h) (vii) - Identification and measurement of impairment
Impairment of financial instruments
Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on the basis described in note
38(h)(vii).
The individual component of the total allowance for impairment applies to financial assets evaluated
individually for impairment and is based on management’s best estimate of the present value of the
cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes
judgements about a debtor’s financial situation and the net realisable value of any underlying
collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its merits, and the workout strategy and estimate of cash
flows considered recoverable are independently approved by the Credit Risk function.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
4.

Use of judgements and estimates (continued)
(b) Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Impairment of financial instruments
A collective component of the total allowance is established for:
• groups of homogeneous loans that are not considered individually significant; and
• groups of assets that are individually significant but that were not found to be individually impaired
(loss 'incurred but not reported' or IBNR).
The collective allowance for groups of homogeneous loans is established using statistical methods
such as roll rate methodology or, for small portfolios with insufficient information, a formula approach
based on historical loss rate experience. The roll rate methodology uses statistical analysis of historical
data on delinquency to estimate the amount of loss. Management applies judgement to ensure that
the estimate of loss arrived at on the basis of historical information is appropriately adjusted to reflect
the economic conditions and product mix at the reporting date. Roll rates and loss rates are regularly
benchmarked against actual loss experience.
The IBNR allowance covers credit losses inherent in portfolios of loans and advances, and held- tomaturity investment securities with similar credit risk characteristics when there is objective evidence
to suggest that they contain impaired items but the individual impaired items cannot yet be identified.
In assessing the need for collective loss allowance, management considers factors such as credit
quality, portfolio size, concentrations and economic factors. To estimate the required allowance,
assumptions are made to define how inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required
input parameters, based on historical experience and current economic conditions. The accuracy of
the allowance depends on the model assumptions and parameters used in determining the collective
allowance.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review
This note presents information about the bank’s exposure to financial risks and the bank’s management of
capital.
For information on the bank’s financial risk management framework, see note 35
Credit risk:
i. Analysis of credit quality
ii. Collateral held and other credit enhancements, and their financial effect
iii. Concentrations of credit risk
iv. Impaired loans and advances
Liquidity risk
Market risk
Capital management
(a)

Page
24
28
31
33
34
39
46

Credit risk
For the definition of credit risk and information on how credit risk is managed by the bank, see note
35(b)
(i)

Analysis of credit quality
The tables below set out information about the credit quality of financial assets and the
allowance for impairment/loss held by the bank against those assets.

28

5.

Total net carrying amount

Total gross amount
Allowance for impairment
Other fair value adjustment
Deferred facility fees

At amortised cost
Grade 1-3: Low-fair risk
Grade 6: Substandard
Grade 7: Doubtful
Grade 8: Loss

Maximum exposure to
credit risk
Carrying amount
Amount committed/
guaranteed

In thousand of Leones

Note

Credit quality analysis (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Financial risk review (continued)

92,005,741

334,489,527
345,179,688

Investment securities
31 December
31 December
2016
2015
8,081,295

5,883,459

Lending commitments and
Financial guarantees
31 December
31 December
2016
2015

29

64,622,145
62,925,191
11,064,124
16,517,941
2,295,287
25,006,386
113,554,611
146,823,463
___________________________________________________________________________________________ __
191,536,167
251,272,981
334,489,527
345,179,688
8,081,295
5,883,459
(113,425,161)
(159,267,240)
(138,344)
(858,966)
__________________________________________________________________________________________ ___
77,113,696
92,005,741
334,489,527
345,179,688
8,081,295
5,883,459
==============================================================================================

__________________________________________________________________________________________ ___

77,113,696

Loans and advances to customers
31 December
31 December
2016
2015
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Total allowance for impairment

Allowance impairment
Individual
Collective

Total exposure

Maximum exposure
Lending commitments
Grade 1-3: Low-fair risk
Financial guarantees
Grade 1-3: Low-fair risk

Maximum exposure to credit risk

In thousand of Leones

Credit quality analysis (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)

Note

-

-

-

Investment securities
31 December
31 December
2016
2015

-

-

Lending commitments and
Financial guarantees
31 December
31 December
2016
2015

30

112,168,487
153,978,374
1,256,674
5,288,866
______________________________________________________________________________________________
113,425,161
159,267,240
==============================================================================================

8,801,295
5,883,458
___________________________________________________________________________________________
8,801,295
5,883,458
___________________________________________________________________________________________

-

Loans and advances to customers
31 December
31 December
2016
2015

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel CommercialFinancial
Bank (Sierra
Leone) Limited
Statements
for the year ended 31 December
Financial 2016
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Impaired loans
See accounting policy in note 38(h) (vii)
The bank regards a loan and advance as impaired when there is objective evidence that a loss event has
occurred since initial recognition and the loss event has an impact on future estimated cash flows from
the asset.
A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered
to be impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced
significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.
Loans that are subject to a collective IBNR provision are not considered impaired.
Impaired loans and advances are graded 6 to 8 in the bank’s internal credit risk grading system (see notes
4 and 35(b)).
Loans that are past due but not impaired
Loans that are ‘past due but not impaired’ are those for which contractual interest or principal payments
are past due but the bank believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security
or collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the bank. The amounts disclosed
exclude assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Loans with renegotiated terms and the bank’s forbearance policy
See accounting policy in note 38(h)(vii)
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market
conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration
of the customer. An existing loan may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new
loan at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 38(h)(vii)
The bank renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance activities’) to
maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the bank’s forbearance policy,
loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there
is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the
original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Loans with renegotiated terms and the bank’s forbearance policy (continued)
The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and
amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the forbearance
policy. The Bank’s Audit Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance activities.
For the purposes of disclosures in these financial statements, ‘loans with renegotiated terms’are defined
as loans that have been restructured due to a deterioration in the borrower’s financial position, for which
the bank has made concessions by agreeing to terms and conditions that are more favourable for the
borrower than the Bank had provided initially and that it would not otherwise consider. A loan continues
to be presented as part of loans with renegotiated terms until maturity, earlier repayment or until it is
written off.
Irrespective of whether loans with renegotiated terms have been derecognised or not, they remain
disclosed as impaired until there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate a significant reduction in the risk of
non-payment of future cash flows and there are no other indicators of impairment.
Collateral held and other credit enhancements, and their financial effect
The Bank holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. The
table below sets out the principal types of collateral held against different types of financial assets.
Type of credit exposure

Principal type
of collateral
held for secured
lending

Loans and advances to retail customers
Mortgage lending
Personal loans

Residential property
None

Loans and advances to corporate customers
Financial leases
Other lending to corporate customers
floating charges over
corporate assets

Property and equipment
Commercial property,

Investment debt securities

None

The Bank typically does not hold collateral against investment securities, and no such collateral was held
at 31 December 2016 or 2015.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Loans with renegotiated terms and the bank’s forbearance policy (continued)
Residential mortgage lending
The tables below stratify credit exposures from mortgage loans and advances to retail customers by
ranges of loan-to-value (LTV) ratio. LTV is calculated as the ratio of the gross amount of the loan – or the
amount committed for loan commitments – to the value of the collateral. The gross amounts exclude any
impairment allowance. The valuation of the collateral excludes any adjustments for obtaining and selling
the collateral. The value of the collateral for residential mortgage loans is based on the collateral value at
origination updated based on changes in house price indices.
Loans secured against property
Loans to value (LTV) ratio
Less than 50%
51% to 70%
71% to 90%
91% to 100%
More than 100%
Total
Loans and advances to customers

31 December
2016

31 December
2015

94,680,796
106,531,602
30,169,676
42,573,331
12,399,847
10,908,600
8,601,885
28,700,810
45,683,963
62,558,638
__________________________________
191,536,167
251,272,981
===================================

The general creditworthiness of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit
quality of a loan extended to it (see note 35(b)). However, collateral provides additional security and the
bank generally requests that corporate borrowers provide it. The bank may take collateral in the form of
a first charge over real estate, floating charges over all corporate assets and other liens and guarantees.
Because of the bank’s focus on corporate customers’ creditworthiness, the bank does not routinely
update the valuation of collateral held against all loans to corporate customers. Valuation of collateral is
updated when the credit risk of a loan deteriorates significantly and the loan is monitored more closely.
For impaired loans, the Bank obtains appraisals of collateral because the current value of the collateral is
an input to the impairment measurement. At 31 December 2016, the net carrying amount of impaired
loans and advances to corporate customers amounted to Le 97.73 billion (2015: 34.43 billion) and the
value of identifiable collateral held against those loans and advances amounted to Le 25.89billion (2015:
Le 84.25).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Other types of collateral and credit enhancements
The Bank also holds other types of collateral and credit enhancements such as second charges and
floating charges for which specific values are not generally available.
Assets obtained by taking possession of collateral
Details of financial and non-financial assets obtained by the Bank during the year by taking possession of
collateral held as security against loans and advances as well as calls made on credit enhancements and
held at the year-end are shown below:
Loans and advances to customers
2016
2015

In thousands of Leones
Property
Debt securities
Other

-

27,787,348
________________________________
Total
27,787,348
================================
The Bank’s policy is to pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. The bank does not
generally use the non-cash collateral for its own operations.
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Construction

Manufacturing

Concentration by sectors
Agric, forestry and fishing

Government

Public enterprises

Staff

Concentration by type of customer
Individuals and other private enterprises

Carrying amount

In thousand of Leones

Loans and advances to customers
31 December
31 December
2016
2015

Investment securities
31 December
31 December
2016
2015

Financial guarantees
31 December
2016

92,005,541

334,489,527

345,179,688

8,081,295

-

3,112,750

3,172,384

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23,479,423

32,141,388
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-

18,108,684

7,982,885

-

-

27,260,088

12,017,115

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________
191,536,167
251,272,981
334,489,527
345,179,688
8,081,295
5,883,458

-

-

3,731,656

3,209,916

-

244,428,575

185,153,867

-

5,883,458

________________________________________________________________________________________________________

77,113,696

31 December
2015

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk from loans and advances,
lending commitments, financial guarantees and investment securities is show below:

Concentration of credit

Credit quality analysis (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)
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Mining and quarrying

9,078,292

16,070,694
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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_______________________________________________________________________________________________________
191,536,167
251,272,981
334,489,527
8,081,295
5,883,458

171,002

38,092,297

106,008,214

Services and other
-

18,488,122

14,266,099

Transport, storage and communication

Electricals

116,595,073

3,049,772

Commerce and finance

Concentration of credit (continued)

Credit quality analysis (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Impaired loans and advances
For the definition of ‘impaired financial asset, see note 5(a)
The table below sets out a reconciliation of changes in the carrying amount of impaired loans and
advances to customers.
In thousands of Leones
Impaired loans and advances to
customers at 1 January
Classified as impaired during the year
Amount written off
Recoveries of amounts previously written off
Other movements
Impaired loans and advances to customers
at 31 December

2015

2016

153,978,374
23,277,230
(58,928,346)
(6,158,771)
___________

142,833,668
15,045,856
1,165,417
(571,541)
(4,495,026)
__________

112,168,487
=========

153,978,374
========

For details of impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, see note 20.
Set out below is an analysis of the gross and net (of allowance for impairment) amounts of individually
impaired loans and advances and of the carrying amounts of impaired available-for-sale investment debt
securities by risk grade.
Held to maturity
Loans to customers
Investment
Debt security
In thousands of Leones

Gross

Net

Gross

Net

31 December 2016
Grade 6: Substandard
Grade 7: Doubtful
Grade 8: Loss
Total

11,064,124
1,759,032
2,295,287
113,554,611
12,986,503
__________________________
126,914,022
14,745,535
===========================
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Impaired loans and advances and investment debt securities (continued)
Loans to customers
In thousands of Leones

Gross

Net

Held to maturity
Investment
Debt security
Gross

Net

31 December 2015
Grade 6: Substandard
Grade 7: Doubtful
Grade 8: Loss
Total

16,517,941
5,091,573
25,006,386
3,262,506
146,823,463 26,015,337
_____________ __________
188,347,790 34,369,416
==================== ==

__________________
================

(b) Liquidity risk
For the definition of liquidity risk and information on how liquidity risk is managed
note 35(c).

by the bank, see

Exposure to liquidity risk
The key measure used by the bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to deposits
from customers. For this purpose, ‘net liquid assets’ includes cash and cash equivalents and
investment-grade debt securities for which there is an active and liquid market less any deposits from
banks, debt securities issued, other borrowings and commitments maturing within the next month.
Details of the reported bank ratio of net liquid assets to deposits from customers at the reporting date
and during the reporting period were as follows:

At 31 December
Average for the period
Maximum for the period
Minimum for the period

38

2016
%

2015
%

27
39
15

35.77
44.92
21.36

5.

Cash and bank balances
with banks
Cash on hand
Loans and advances to
customers

Non-derivative assets

Financial asset by type

Deposit from banks
Deposits from customers
Unrecognized loan commitment

Non-derivative liabilities

Financial liability by type

31 December 2016

In thousands of Leones

20

19
19

24
25

Note

706,789,598

Gross nominal
inflow/(outflow)

692,776,348

Less than
1 month

-

1-3 months

14,013,251

3 months
to 1 year

-

1-5 years

-

More than
5 years

231,910,832
66,001,278

231,910,832
66,001,278

-

-

-

-

39

77,113,696
77,113,696
77,113,696
_________________________________________________________________________________________________
375,025,806
375,025,806
297,912,110
77,113,696
================================================================================================

231,910,832
66,001,278

_________________________________________________________________________________________________
706,789,599
706,789,598
692,776,348
14,013,251
==================================================================================================

706,789,599

Carrying
amount

The table below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the banks financial liabilities and financial assets

Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial risk review (continued)
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5.

Cash and bank balances
with banks
Investment securities
Loans and advances to
customers

Non-derivative assets

Financial asset by type

Deposit from banks
Deposits from customers
Unrecognized loan commitment

Non-derivative liabilities

Financial liability by type

31 December 2015

In thousands of Leones

20

19
21

24
25

Note

Gross nominal
inflow/(outflow)

Less than
1 month
1-3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1-5 years

More than
5 years

212,480,322
345,179,688

212,480,322
-

-

345,179,688

-

40

92,005,741
92,005,741
92,005,741
________________________________________________________________________________________________
649,665,741
649,665,741
212,480,322
- 345,179,688
92,005,741
================================================================================================

212,480,322
345,179,688

649,411,709
649,411,709
632,503,111
16,908,598
_________________________________________________________________________________________________
649,411,709
649,411,709
632,503,111
16,908,598
=================================================================================================

Carrying
amount

Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial risk review (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
The amounts in the table above have been compiled as follows:
Type of financial instrument

Basis on which amounts are complied

Non-derivatives financial liabilities and
financial assets

Undiscounted cash flows, which financial assets include
estimated interest payments

The bank’s expected cash flows on some financial assets and financial liabilities vary significantly from
the contractual cash flows. For example, demand deposits from customers are expected to remain
stable or increase and unrecognised loan commitments are not all expected to be drawn down
immediately.
As part of the management of liquidity risk arising from financial liabilities, the bank holds liquid assets
comprising cash and cash equivalents, and debt securities issued by sovereigns, which can be readily
sold to meet liquidity requirements. In addition, the bank maintains agreed lines of credit with other
banks and holds unencumbered assets eligible for use as collateral with central banks (these amounts
are referred to as the ‘bank’s liquidity reserves’).
The table below sets out the carrying amounts of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities
expected to be recovered or settled more than 12 months after the reporting date.
In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

77,113,696
========

92,005,741
========

706,789,599
=========

649,411,709
=========

Financial assets
Loans and advances to customers
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
The table below sets out the components of the Bank’s liquidity reserve
Liquidity reserve

In thousands of Leones
Balances with central banks
Cash and balances in hand
Cash and balances with
other banks
Total liquidity reserve

2016
Carrying
amount

2016
Fair
value

2015
Carrying
amount

2015
Fair
value

54,236,020
66,001,278

54,236,020
66,001,278

44,623,509
48,420,803

44,623,509
48,733,988

177,674,812 119,436,010
___________ ___________
297,912,110 212,480,322

119,436,010
___________
212,480,322

177,674,812
___________
297,912,110
=========

=========

=========

=========

The table below set out the availability of the Bank’s financial assets to support future funding.
2016
In thousands of Leones
Cash and cash
equivalents
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Other financial assets
Non-financial assets
Total assets
2015
In thousands of Leones
Cash and cash
equivalents
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Other financial assets
Non-financial assets
Total assets

Encumbered
Unencumbered
Pledge as
Available as
Collateral
Other
collateral

Other

Total

692,500
297,912,110
298,604,610
77,113,696
77,113,696
334,489,527
334,489,527
___________________________________________________________
692,500
709,515,333
710,207,833
===========================================================
Encumbered
Pledge as
Collateral
Other

Unencumbered
Available as
collateral
Other

Total

212,480,322
212,480,322
92,005,741
92,005,741
345,179,688
345,179,688
___________________________________________________________
649,665,751
649,665,751
===========================================================
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Financial assets pledged as collateral
The total financial assets that had been pledged as collateral for liabilities at 31 December 2016 is
shown in the preceding table. Financial assets are pledged as collateral as part of sales and
repurchases, securities borrowing and securitisation transactions under terms that are usual and
customary for such activities.
(c) Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign
exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing)
will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.
Management of market risks
The Bank’s separate its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading
portfolios mainly are held by the treasury unit, and include positions arising from market making and
proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair
value basis.
Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Oversight Committee. ALCO is responsible for the
development of detailed risk management polices (subject to review and approval by the Oversight
Committee and for the day-to-day review of their implementation).
Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios
The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Bank’s trading
portfolios are limits placed on open positions. Specified limits have been set for open positions which
is the expected maximum exposure the Bank is to be exposed to.
The Bank uses open position limits for specific foreign exchange risks. The overall structure of the
limits is subject to review and approval by the Oversight Committee. Open position is measured at
least daily and more regularly for days of active trade. Regular reports of utilisation of open limits are
submitted to the Oversight/Management Committee.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(c) Market risks (continued)
Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the
future cash flows or fair values of financial instrument because of a change in market interest rate.
Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having preapproved limits for repricing bands. The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits
and is assisted by Market Risk in its day-to-day monitoring activities.
The table below sets out the allocation of assets and liabilities subject to market risk between trading
and non-trading portfolios:
31 December 2016
In thousands of Leones

Note

Market risk measures
Carrying
Trading
amount
portfolios

Non-trading
portfolios

Assets subject to market risk
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to
customers

19

297,912,110

-

297,912,110

20

77,113,696

-

77,113,696

Investment securities

21

334,489,527

-

334,489,527

-

706,789,599

Market risk measures
Carrying
Trading
amount
portfolios

Non-trading
portfolios

Liabilities subject to
market risk
Deposits

24, 25

31 December 2015
In thousands of Leones

Note

706,789,599

Assets subject to market risk
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to
customers
Investment securities

19

212,480,322

-

212.480,322

20
21

92,005,741
345,179,688

-

92,005,741
345,179,688

Liabilities subject to
market risk
Deposits

24, 25

649,411,709

44

-

649,411,709

Effects of derivatives held for risk
management

Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities

31 December 2016

In thousands of Leones

(c) Market risks (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)

297,912,110
77,113,696
334,489,527

Carrying
amount

297,912,110
-

Less than
3 months

-

3-6 months

334,489,527

6-12 months

77,113,696
-

1-5 years

-

-

More than
5 years

45

___________________________________________________________________________________________
2,725,734
(394,864,238)
320,476,276
77,113,696
===========================================================================================

25
706,789,599
692,776,348
14,013,251
24
___________________________________________________________________________________________
706,789,599
692,776,348
14,013,251
___________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________
709,515,333
297,912,110
334,489,527
77,113,696
___________________________________________________________________________________________

19
20
21

Note
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(c)
3-6 months

6-12 months

1-5 years

More than
5 years

Effects of derivatives held for risk
management

46

25
649,411,709
632,503,111
16,908,598
24
___________________________________________________________________________________________
649,411,709
632,503,111
16,908,598
____________________________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________________________________
254,042
(420,022,789)
345,179,688
75,097,143
=============================================================== =============================

Less than
3 months

Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks

Carrying
amount

19
212,480,322
212,480,322
20
92,005,741
92,005,741
345,179,688
21
345,179,688
___________________________________________________________________________________________
649,665,751
212,480,322
345,179,688
92,005,741
__________________________________________________________________________________________

Note

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities

31 December 2015

In thousands of Leones

Market risks (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(c)

Market risks (continued)
The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the
sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest rate
scenarios.
Standard scenerios that are considered on a monthly basis include a 2% basis point (bp) parallel fall or
rise in market interest rates.
Overall non-trading interest rate risk positions are managed by Global Markets, which uses investment
securities, advances to customer’s deposits and derivative instruments to manage the overall position
arising from the Bank’s non-trading activities.
Exposure to other market risk – non-trading portfolios
Credit spread risk not relating to changes in the obligor/issuer’s Credit Standing on debt securities held
by treasury and equity price risk is subject to regular monitoring by credit risk, but is not currently
significant in relation to the overall results and financial position of the Bank.
Sensitivity of projected net interest income (Interest rate sensitivity analysis)
200 bp (2%)
Increase
2016

200bp (2%)
Decrease
2016

1,082,107
(87,790)
________
994,317
======

(1,082,107)
87,790
________
(994,317)
=======

2015

2015

552,115
(73,548)
________
478,567
======

(552,115)
73,548
________
(478,567)
======

In thousands of Leones
Interest income impact
Interest expense impact
Net impact
In thousands of Leones
Interest income impact
Interest expense impact
Net impact

The expected impact on net interest income have been based on a +/- two percent swing in interest
rates that may occur during the ensuing year. The computation considered interest income on cash
and short term funds, investment securities and loans and advances; and interest expense all of which
are deemed susceptible to interest rate change.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risks (continued)
Sensitivity of reported equity to interest rate movement

In thousands of Leones

200 bp (2%)
Increase
2016

200bp (2%)
Decrease
2016

696,022
======

(696,022)
=======

200 bp (2%)
Increase
2015

200bp (2%)
Decrease
2015

334,997
=======

(334,997)
========

31 December 2016
Net (after tax) interest impact on retained earnings

In thousands of Leones

31 December 2015
Net (after tax) interest impact on retained earnings
Concentrations of assets, liabilities and off financial position items
In thousands of
Leones
Cash and balances with
the Banks
Treasury bills and other
eligible bills
Loans and advances to
customers
Property, plant and
equipment
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customers
Deposit from banks
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Net on-financial
position

Le

Euro

USD

79,459,797 11,171,342

GBP

189,401,728

Others

17,879,243

Total
297,912,110

334,489,527

-

-

-

-

334,489,527

77,113,696

-

-

-

-

77,113,696

29,572,361

-

-

-

-

29,572,361

6,532,572

-

692,500

-

-

7,225,072

-

746,312,766

527,167,953 11,171,342
497,182,920

11,977,804

34,021,581

-

531,204,501 11,977,804
(4,036,548)

190,094,228

17,879,243

180,240,187

17,388,688

180,240,187

(806,462)
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9,854,041

17,388,688
490,555

-

706,789,599
-

-

34,021,581

-

740,811,180

-

5,501,586
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risks (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
Concentration of Leone equivalent of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities.
2016
In thousands of Leones
Cash and balances with
the Bank
Loans and advances to
customers
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customer
Other liabilities
Deposit from banks
Total liabilities
Net on financial
position
2015
In thousands of Leones
Cash and balances with
the Bank
Loans and advances to
customers
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Deposit from banks
Total liabilities
Net on financial position

Euro

US$

GBP

Others

Total

11,171,342

189,401,728

17,879,243

-

218,452,313

-

-

-

-

-

692,500
692,500
___________________________________________________________________
11,171,342
190,094,228
17,879,243
219,144,813
___________________________________________________________________
11,977,804
180,240,187
17,388,688
209,606,679
___________________________________________________________________
11,977,804
180,240,187
17,388,688
209,606,679
__________________________________________________________________
(806,462)
9,854,041
490,555
9,538,134
__________________________________________________________________
Euro

US$

GBP

Others

Total

6,445,266

120,028,932

14,213,037

-

140,687,235

200,200
55,904
256,104
___________________________________________________________________
6,645,466
120,084,836
14,213,037
140,943,339
___________________________________________________________________
5,678,030

119,759,349

14,191,857

-

139,629,080

___________________________________________________________________
5,678,030
119,759,349
14,191,857
139,629,080
__________________________________________________________________
967,436
325,487
21,180
1,314,259
__________________________________________________________________
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5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(d) Capital management
(i)

Regulatory capital

The Bank’s regulator, Bank of Sierra Leone sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as
a whole.
In implementing current capital requirements, Bank of Sierra Leone requires the Bank to maintain
a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets.
The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:


Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, retained earnings and other regulatory
adjustments relating to items that are included in equity but are treated differently for capital
adequacy purposes;



Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, collective impairment
allowances and the element of the fair value reserve relating to unrealised gains on equity
instruments classified as available-for-sale, asset revaluation reserves and high bond (debt
equity’s capital instruments).
Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The amount of innovative Tier 1
securities cannot exceed 15 percent of total Tier 1 capital; qualifying Tier 2 capital cannot exceed
Tier 1 capital; and qualifying term subordinated loan capital may not exceed 50 percent of Tier 1
capital. There also are restrictions on the amount of collective impairment allowances that may
be included as part of Tier 2 capital. Other deductions from capital include the carrying amounts
of investments in the capital of Banks and certain other regulatory items.
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5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(d) Capital management (continued)
(i)

Regulatory capital
Banking operations are categorized as either trading book or non-trading book, and risk-weighted
assets are determined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels
of risk attached to assets and exposures not recognised in the statement of financial position.
The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.
The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Bank
recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible
with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.
The Bank has not complied with all external imposed capital requirements throughout the year.
There have been no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the period.

(ii)

Capital adequacy ratio
In accordance with Section 20 (4) of the Banking Act of Sierra Leone, the Bank is to maintain a
capital adequacy ratio measured as a percentage of the capital base of the Bank to its risk
weighted assets in line with regulations or directions, which the Central Bank may from time to
time prescribe.
In thousands of Leones
1.

Tier 1 capital
Issued capital
Retained profit and reserves
Share premium
Less equity instruments

2.

Tier 2 capital

Total capital base
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2016

2015

38,118,869
(107,676,065)
49,090,909
____________
(20,466,287)
(800,000)
____________
(21,266,287)
----------------------

38,118,869
(132,314,852)
49,090,909
___________
(45,105,076)
(800,000)
___________
(45,905,076)
----------------------

___________
___________
(21,266,287)
===========

__________
__________
(45,905,076)
==========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(d) Capital management (continued)
(ii)

Capital adequacy ratio (continued)
Risk weighted asset base

2016

Weighted
amount

2015
Weighted
amount

Amount

Weighting
%

177,389,335

20

35,477,867

28,137,445

77,113,696
7,225,072
29,572,361
____________
291,300,464
____________
Off balance sheet accounts

100
100
100

77,113,696
7,225,072
29,572,361
___________
149,388,996
___________

92,005,741
3,064,528
30,138,902
___________
153,346,616
___________

Weighted
amount

2015
Weighted
amount

2,483,832

Foreign cash and
Nostro balances
Advances (non
cash guaranteed)
Other assets
Fixed assets

2016

Amount

Weighting
%

8,081,295

50

4,040,648

___________
8,081,295
___________
299,381,759
===========

50

___________
4,040,648
___________
153,429,644
===========

457,898
___________
2,941,730
___________
156,288,346
=========

Capital adequacy ratio

(13.86%)
======

(29.40%)
======

Core capital ratio

(13.86%)
======

(29.40%)
======

Performance bonds
acceptances (cash
securities)
Confirmed
documentary
letters of credit

Total

The Bank’s capital adequacy and core capital ratios are below the statutory minimum of 15% and
7.5% respectively as required by current prudential guidelines for commercial banks
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(d) Capital management (continued)
(ii)

Capital adequacy ratio (continued)
Capital allocation
Management uses regulatory capital ratios to monitor its capital base. The Banking Supervision
Document (BSD 5) is used for this purpose. The allocation of capital between specific operations
and activities is, to a large extent, driven by optimisation of the return achieved on the capital
allocated. The amount of capital allocated to each operation or activity is based primarily on the
regulatory capital, but in some cases the regulatory requirements do not fully reflect the varying
degree of risk associated with different activities. In such cases, the capital requirements may be
flexed to reflect differing risk profiles, subject to the overall level of capital to support a particular
operation or activity not falling below the minimum required for regulatory purposes. The
process of allocating capital to specific operations and activities is undertaken independently of
those responsible for the operation by Bank Risk and Bank Credit, and is subject to review by the
Bank Credit Committee or the Bank Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO), as
appropriate.
Although maximisation of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in
determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to particular operations or activities, it is not
the sole basis used for decision making. Account also is taken of synergies with other operations
and activities, the availability of management and other resources, and the fit of the activity with
the Bank’s longer term strategic objectives. The Bank’s policies in respect of capital management
and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Oversight Committee.

6.

Fair value of financial instruments
See accounting policy in note 38(h)
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the Bank determines
fair values using other valuation techniques.
For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less
objective, and requires varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty
of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
6.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(a)

Valuation models
The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements.
•

Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instruments.

•

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly
observable from market data.

•

Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the
valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable
inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences
between the instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with
similar instruments for which market observable prices exist Black-Scholes and polynomial option
pricing models and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques
include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premia used in estimating
discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index
prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price
that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and
more simple financial instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps that use only observable
market data and require little management judgement and estimation. Observable prices or model
inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded
derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of
observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and
estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. Availability of
observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to
changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
6.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(b)

Valuation framework
The Bank has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This
framework includes a Product Control function, which is independent of front office management
and reports to the Director of Finance, and which has overall responsibility for independently
verifying the results of trading and investment operations and all significant fair value
measurements. Specific controls include:
• verification of observable pricing;
 re-performance of model valuations
 a review and approval process for new models and changes to models involving both Product
Control and Bank Market Risk;
 quarterly calibration and back-testing of models against observed market transactions;
 analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation movements; and
 review of significant unobservable inputs, valuation adjustments and significant changes to the
fair value measurement of Level 3 instruments compared with the previous month, by a
committee of senior Product Control and Bank Market Risk personnel.

(c)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value – fair value hierarchy
The following table analyses financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them by
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorized.

31 December 2016
Assets

In thousands of Leones
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to
Customers
Investment securities

Liabilities
Deposits from customers
31 December 2015

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Fair
values

-

297,912,110

-

297,912,110

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to
Customers
Investment securities
Liabilities
Deposits from customers

297,912,110

77,113,696
77,113,696
77,113,696
- 334,489,427
334,489,427
334,489,527
___________________________________________________________
- 633,401,537
77,113,696
709,515,333
709,515,333
- 706,789,599
706,789,599
706,789,599
___________________________________________________________

Assets
In thousands of Leones

Total
Carrying
amount

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total fair
values

-

212,480,322

-

212,480,322

Total
carrying
amount
212,480,322

92,005,741
92,005,741
92,005,741
- 345,179,688
345,179,688
345,179,688
___________________________________________________________
- 557,660,010
92,005,741
649,665,751
649,665,751
- 649,411,709
649,411,709
649,411,709
___________________________________________________________
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6.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(c)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value – fair value hierarchy
Where available, the fair value of loans and advances is based on observable market transactions.
Where observable market transactions are not available, fair value is estimated using valuation
models, such as discounted cash flow techniques. Input into the valuation techniques includes
expected lifetime credit losses, interest rates, prepayment rates and primary origination or
secondary market spreads. For collateral-dependent impaired loans, the fair value is measured based
on the value of the underlying collateral.
To improve the accuracy of the valuation estimate for retail and smaller commercial loans,
homogeneous loans are grouped into portfolios with similar characteristics such as vintage, LTV
ratios, the quality of collateral, product and borrower type, prepayment and delinquency rates, and
default probability.
The fair value of deposits from banks and customers is estimated using discounted cash flow
techniques, applying the rates that are offered for deposits of similar maturities and terms. The fair
value of deposits payable on demand is the amount payable at the reporting date.

7.

Operating segments
Business segmentation
The Bank operates three main business segments:
1)

Retail Banking

- Incorporating private banking services, private customer
current
accounts, savings, deposits, investments savings products, custody,
consumer loans and other financial products

2)

Corporate Banking

- Incorporating direct debt facilities, current accounts, deposits,
overdrafts, loans and other credit facilities, foreign currency and
other financial products; and

3)

Money Transfer

- Incorporating money transfers between jurisdictions.

Transactions between the business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions.
Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments, resulting in funding cost transfers disclosed in
cooperating income. Interest charged for these funds is based on the Bank’s cost of capital. There are no
other material items of income or expense between the business segments.
Segment assets and liabilities comprise operating assets and liabilities, being the majority of the balances
in the statement of financial position, but exclude items such as taxation and borrowings.
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7.

Operating segments (continued)
Business segments (continued)
Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments have been reflected in the performance of each
business. Revenue sharing agreements are used to allocate external customers revenues to a business
segment on a reasonable basis.

Net interest income
Net interest income
In thousands of Leones

Interest income
Interest expense

23,928,374

3,677,399

27,605,773

49,715,854

4,389,500

Net interest income

54,105,354

8.
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8.

Net interest income (continued)

See accounting policy in note 38(c)

In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

1,625,703
11,909,920
40,569,731
__________
54,105,354
___________

625,399
8,132,533
18,847,841
__________
27,605,773
__________

4,389,500
__________
4,389,500
__________

3,677,399
__________
3,677,399
__________

49,715,854
==========

23,928,374
========

(a) Interest income
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment Securities
Total interest income
(b) Interest expense
Deposits from customers
Total interest expense
Net interest income

The Le 40.6 billion (2015: Le18.7 billion) of interest on investment securities for the year ended 31
December relate to interests earned on Government Securities.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
9.

Fee and commission income

See accounting policy in note 38(d)
In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

738,494
3,854,374
8,112,053
__________
12,704,921
__________

840,938
3,890,717
8,779,396
__________
13,511,051
__________

Fees and commission paid

__________
__________

__________
__________

Net fees and commission income

12,704,921
==========

13,511,051
========

Credit related fees and commission
Trade finance and other fees
Commission on turnover
Total fee and commission income
Fees and commission expense

Credit related fees and commission relate to establishment fees earned on loans and advances other than
interest income.
Trade finance and other fees relate to income on import and export finance transactions, issue of letters of
credit, guarantees and other similar transactions.
Commission on turnover relates to fees earned on activities of the Bank relating to outward and inward
remittance service charges on current accounts, and other earnings on similar commission related
transactions.

10. Net trading income

See accounting policy in note 38(d)

In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

Foreign exchange gains

20,642,795
==========

33,719,826
========

The foreign exchange net trading income includes gains and losses from spot transactions and translated
foreign currency assets and liabilities.

11. Other operating income
In thousands of Leones
Rent received
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2016

2015

62,680
_______
62,680
======

51,327
_______
51,327
=====
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
12. Personnel expenses

See accounting policy in note 38(r)
In thousands of Leones

Salaries and allowances
Compulsory social security obligations
Expenses related to post employment
Service cost
Interest cost
Other employee cost

(a)

Other employee benefits

2015

Restated
2015

30,207,547
1,230,316

23,338,061
1,083,531

1,661,585
1,739,717
1,493,987
__________
36,333,152
=========

2,683,430
2,409,634
__________
29,514,656
========

The Bank maintains a post-employment defined benefit plan in accordance with statutory requirements,
which entitles an employee to receive a lump sum payment when leaving the employment of the bank,
whether due to resignation, retirement or death. The lump sum payment is determined by the final basic
salary and number of years of service provided. These defined benefit plans expose the Bank to actuarial
risks such as interest rate risk.
(i)

Movement in net defined benefit liability
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the
net defined benefit liability and its component.
In thousands of Leones
Liability at 1 January
Expense recognised in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income
Current service cost
Interest on obligation
Past service cost

Included in other comprehensive income
Actuarial loss

Other
Benefits paid by the plan
Liability for defined benefit obligation
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2016

2015

14,291,584
_________

12,986,914
__________

1,661,585
1,739,717
1,493,987
_________
4,895,289
_________

1,252,914
1,367,301
_________
2,620,215
_________

665,594
_________
665,594
_________

__________
__________

(2,396,218)
___________
17,456,249
=========

(1,315,545)
__________
14,291,584
========
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12. Personnel expenses (continued)
(a)

Other employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Movement in plan assets
In thousands of Leones
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning
of the reporting period
Contribution paid into the plan
Benefits paid by the plan
Actuarial (losses)/gains
Expected return on plan assets
Fair value of plan assets

13. Operating expenses
In thousands of Leones
13.1 Depreciation
13.2 Other operating expenses
In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

________
========

________
========

2016

2015

2,276,047
========

2,233,957
=======

2016

2015

Other operating expenses
300,000
250,000
1,264,743
577,413
13,413,103
11,471,971
713,771
531,329
1,992,138
2,065,137
6,013,970
4,230,065
__________
___________
Total operating expenses
23,697,725
19,125,915
==========
=========
Included in the above costs is non-executive directors’ remuneration of Le 90.38 million (2015: Le 3.28
million).
Audit fees
Legal and professional fees
Property and computer costs
Communications
Travel
Others

14. Net impairment loss on loans and advances
In thousands of Leones
This comprises:
New provisions
Provision released
Recovery of amounts previously written off

2016

2015

19,401,576

16,397,970
(571,541)
___________
15,826,429
========

(156,538)
__________
19,245,038
=========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
14. Net impairment loss on loans and advances (continued)
14.1. Advances written off

These relate to various long outstanding overdraft balances that could not be recovered by the Bank as at
31 December as follows:
Overdraft written off
In thousands of Leones
Long outstanding overdraft balances
Balance at year end

15.

2016

2015

_______
=======

1,165,417
_______
1,165,417
=======

Earnings per share
Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank
by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, excluding the average number of
ordinary shares purchased by the Bank and held as treasury shares.
Restated
In thousands of Leones
2016
2015
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank
No. of shares in issue 1 January
Effect of shares issued during the year
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue (in thousands)
Basic earnings per share (expressed in Leones
per share)

1,507,028
=========
38,118,869
__________

1,530,650
========
38,118,869
__________

38,118,869
========

38,118,869
========

0.04
====

0.04
====

Diluted
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Bank had no category of
dilutive potential ordinary shares as at 31 December 2016; hence diluted and basic earnings per share are
the same.

16. Dividends
The directors do not recommend a dividend this year. (2015: Le nil per share).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
17. Taxation

See accounting policy in note (38(f)

Income tax expense
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
In thousands of Leone
(a)

2016

2015

________
-

832,281
________
832,281

Current tax expense:
Current year at 30% (2015:30%)
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary
differences

981,273

Deferred tax charge
Unrecognized deferred tax asset
Total income tax expense
(b)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
In thousands of Leones
Profit before income tax
Income tax using the
Corporation tax rate
Reconciliation of opening position
Tax impact of permanent difference:
Tax exempt income
Tax incentives
(Deferred tax asset not recognised)/
deferred tax charge
Total income tax expense in
the income statement
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67,260

-

________
67,260
======

_________
1,813,554
=======

2016

Restated
2015

1,574,288
=======

3,344,204
=======

472,287

1,003,261

(18,804)
(25,643)

(15,398)
(25,527)

(360,580)
________

851,218
_________

67,260
======

1,813,554
=======
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
17. Income tax expense (continued)
(c)

Deferred tax account
In thousands of Leones
Balance brought forward
Charge for the year
Actuarial gain tax
Balance at end of year

(d)

2016

2015

6,516,224
67,260
(199,678)
__________
6,383,806
========

5,534,951
981,273
_________
6,516,224
=======

2016

2015

(1,108,634)

(470,915)
832,281
(1,470,000)
__________
(1,108,634)
========

Current tax assets/liabilities
In thousands of Leones
Balance at 1 January
Charge for the year
Income tax paid
Tax adjustment

(1,000,021)
__________
(2,108,655)
==========

Balance at end of year
(e)

Deferred tax asset and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
In thousands of Leones
Property, plant and
equipment
Employee benefit
Actuarial gain tax
Allowance on loan
Losses
Exchange gains/
(loss) unrealized
Tax loss
Unrecognized
deferred tax asset
Net tax (asset)/
liabilities

Asset

2016
Liabilities

Net

Restated
2015
Asset Liabilities

Net

(5,785,489)
-

5,813,040
548,616

5,813,040
(5,785,489)
548,616

(5,035,768)
-

5,745,780
748,294

5,745,780
(5,035,768)
748,294

(2,895,369)

-

(2,895,369)

(4,105,027)

-

(4,105,027)

22,150
22,150
- (29,952,059)

(29,851,702)

(29,952,059)

22,150
22,150
- (29,851,702)

38,632,917
- 38,632,917
38,992,497
- 38,992,497
____________________________________________________________________

6,383,806
6,383,806
- 6,516,224
6,516,224
=========================================================================
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
17.

Income tax expense (continued)
(e)

Deferred tax asset and liabilities (continued)
Movement in temporary differences during the year
2016
In thousands of Leones
Property, plant and
equipment
Employee benefit
Allowance on loan
Losses
Foreign exchange loss
Tax loss carry forward
Actuarial gains
Derecognised deferred
tax asset

2015
In thousand of Leones
Property, plant and
equipment
Employee benefit
Allowance on loan
losses
Foreign exchange loss
Tax loss carry forward
Actuarial gains
Derecognised deferred
tax asset

(f)

Opening
balance

Recognised
in profit and

5,745,780
(5,035,768)

67,260
(749,721)

(4,105,027)
22,150
(29,852,702)
748,294

1,209,658
(99,357)
-

Recognised
in equity

Closing
balance

-

5,813,040
(5,785,489)

-

- (2,895,369)
22,150
- (29,952,059)
(199,678)
548,616

38,993,497
(360,580)
- 38,632,917
________________________________________________
6,516,224
67,260
(199,678)
6,383,806
=================================================
Opening
balance

Restated
Recognised Recognised
in profit and
in equity

Closing
balance

5,650,971
(4,644,367)

94,809
(391,401)

-

5,745,780
(5,035,768)

(3,699,393)
22,150
(30,684,983)
748,294

(405,634)
832,281
-

- (4,105,027)
22,150
- (29,852,702)
748,294

38,142,279
851,218
- 38,993,497
________________________________________________
5,534,951
981,273
6,516,224
=================================================
Recognised deferred tax assets
Derecognition of deferred tax assets of Le 360.58million (2015: Recognition Le981.3 million) is based
on management’s profit forecasts (which are based on the available evidence, including historical
levels of profitability), which indicates that it is probable that the Bank will have future taxable
profits against which these assets can be utilised.
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18.

Deposits from customers

Deposit from banks

-

-

-

334,489,527

-

-

Held to
maturity

-

77,113,696

297,912,110

Loans and
receivables

-

-

-

Other
Available
for sales

-

-

-

Total
amortised
cost

334,489,527

77,113,696

297,912,110

Total
carrying
value

334,489,527

77,113,696

297,912,110

Fair
value
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706,789,599 706,789,599
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ ___
- 334,489,527
75,025,806
2,725,734
2,725,734
=================================================================================================

__________________________________________________________________________________________________
- 334,489,527
75,025,806
709,515,333
709,515,333
__________________________________________________________________________________________________
-

-

-

Loans and advances to
customers
Measured at amortised cost

Investment securities
Measured at fair value

-

Cash and cash equivalent

31 December 2016

In thousands of Leones

Trading

Designated
at fair
value

The table below provides reconciliation between line items in the financial position categories of financial instruments:

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
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18.

-

Loans and advances to
Customers
Measured at amortised cost
-

-

Total
amortised
cost

-

-

92,005,741

212,480,322

Total
carrying
value

92,005,741

212,480,322

Fair
value

Deposit from banks
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- 649,411,709
649,411,709 649,411,709
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ ___
649,411,709
649,411,709 649,411,709
==========================================================================================

92,005,741

212,480,322

Other
Available
for sales

Deposits from customers

-

-

Loans and
receivables

345,179,688
345,179,688 345,179,688
__________________________________________________________________________________________________
345,179,688
304,486,063
649,665,751 649,665,751
__________________________________________________________________________________________________
-

-

-

Held to
maturity

Measured at fair value

Investment securities

-

Cash and cash equivalent

31 December 2015

In thousands of Leones

Trading

Designated
at fair
Value

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
19.

Cash and cash equivalents

See accounting policy in note 38(i)
In thousands of Leones
Cash in hand
Balance with the Central Bank
Balances with other Banks (Nostros)
Items in clearing from other Banks
Cash and cash equivalents included in the
statement of cash flows

2016

2015

66,001,278
54,236,020
177,389,335
285,477
____________

48,420,803
44,623,509
119,122,825
313,185
___________

297,912,110
===========

212,480,322
=========

Balances with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

20.

Loans and advances to customers

See accounting policy in note 38(j)

a.

Loans and advances to customers at amortized costs
In thousands of Leone
Loans and advances to customers at
amortized costs

b.

Analysis by type of customer
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2016

2015

77,113,696
___________
77,113,696
==========

92,005,741
___________
92,005,741
========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20.

Loans and advances to customers (continued)
b.

Analysis by type of customer (continued)
In thousands of Leone
Individuals and other private enterprises
Staff
Gross loans and advances
Less: allowances for impairment
Fair value adjustment on staff loan
Deferred facility income
Net loans and advances

c.

Analysis by sector
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2016

2015

188,326,251
3,209,916
___________
191,536,167

247,569,314
3,703,667
____________
251,272,981

(113,425,161)
(138,344)
(858,966)
____________
77,113,696
=========

(159,267,240)
____________
92,005,741
=========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20.

Loans and advances to customers (continued)
c.

Analysis by sector (continued)
In thousands of Leones
Agriculture, forestry and fishing
Manufacturing
Construction
Commerce and finance
Transport, storage and communication
Service
Electricity
Mining and quarrying
Less: allowance for impairment
Fair value adjustment on staff loan
Deferred facility income
Net loans and advances

d.

Type of advance
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2016

2015

12,017,115
7,982,885
32,141,388
3,049,772
14,266,099
106,008,214
16,070,694
____________
191,536,167
(113,425,161)
(138,344)
(858,966)
____________
77,113,696
=========

27,260,088
18,108,684
23,479,423
116,595,073
18,488,122
38,092,298
171,001
9,078,292
____________
251,272,981
(159,267,240)
____________
92,005,741
=========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20. Loans and advances to customers (continued)
d. Type of advance (continued)
In thousands of Leones
Loans
Overdrafts
Write off of long outstanding overdraft
Less: allowances for impairment
Fair value adjustment on staff loan
Deferred facility income
Net loans and advances

2016

2015

87,105,195
104,430,972
____________
191,536,167
(113,425,161)
(138,344)
(858,966)
____________
77,113,696
== =========

127,110,670
124,162,311
___________
251,272,981
(1,165,417)
(158,101,823)
___________
92,005,741
=========

e. Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Retail
customer:

Gross
amount

2016
Carrying
amount

Gross
amount

Impairment
allowance

21,979,202
- 3,209,916

-

-

-

3,703,667

-

3,703,667

247,569,314

(159,267,240)

88,302,074

78,111,006 251,272,981

(159,267,240)

92,005,741

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

251,272,981

(159,267,240)

92,005,741

Impairment
allowance

2015
Carrying
amount

In thousands
of Leones
Personal loans 49,489,491 (27,510,289)
Staff loans
3,209,916
Corporate
Customer:
Short and long
term loan
lending
138,836,760

(85,914,872) 52,921,888

______________________________________________________________

Deferred
facility
income
Fair value
adjustment
on staff loan
Unamortized
fees

191,536,167
-

113,425,161

(858,966)

-

-

-

-

-

(138,344)

______________________________________________________________
191,536,167 (113,425,161) 77,113,696

==============================================================
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20. Loans and advances to customers (continued)
f.

Allowances for impairment
In thousands of Leones
Specific allowance for impairment
Balance at 1 January
Loan recoveries
Impairment losses for the year:
Charge for the year
Write-offs
Others
Balance at 31 December

2016

2015

153,978,374
-

142,833,668
(571,541)

23,277,230
(58,928,346)
(6,158,771)

15,045,856
1,165,417
(4,495,026)

_____________

_____________

_____________

_____________

2016

2015

5,288,866

3,936,752

(4,032,192)
____________
1,256,674
========
113,425,161
========

1,352,114

112,168,487

153,978,374

General allowances for impairment
In thousands of Leones
Balance at 1 January
Impairment losses for the year:
(Reversal)/charge for the year
Balance at 31 December
Grand total
g.

_____________

5,288,866
========
159,267,240
========

Allowances for impairment
In thousands of Leones
Movement in allowance for impairment
Balance at 1 January
Impairment losses for the year:
Provision for loan impairment
Write-offs
Loan recoveries
Others
Balance at 31 December

2016

2015

159,267,240

146,770,420

19,245,038
(58,928,346)
(6,158,771)
------------------113,425,161

16,397,970
1,165,417
(571,541)
(4,495,026)

_____________
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_____________

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra
Leone)Statements
Limited
Financial
for the year ended
31 December
2016
Financial
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20. Loans and advances to customers (continued)
h.

Loan and advance analysis (BSL)
In thousands of Leones
Gross Loans and advance
Less:
Deferred facility income
Fair value adjustment on staff loan
Write off during the year
Balance at 31 December

2016

2015

191,536,167

251,272,981

(858,966)
(138,344)
(71,131,968)
___________
119,406,889

(73,411,702)
_____________

177,861,279

_____________

_____________

2016

2015

113,425,161
(71,131,968)
___________
42,293,193
___________
77,113,696
___________

159,267,240
(73,411,702)
___________
85,855,538
___________
92,005,741
___________

Allowances for impairment
In thousands of Leones
Balance at 31 December
Less write off during the year
Balance at 31 December
Net Loans and advances
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
21. Investment securities
See accounting policy in note 38(k)
In thousands of Leones
(a) Held to maturity investment securities
Other eligible bills (treasury bearer bonds)
Less fair value change on available
for sale assets recognised in equity

2016

2015

333,689,527
___________
333,689,527
___________
333,689,527
===========

344,379,688
___________
344,379,688

2016

2015

333,689,527
___________
333,689,527
===========

344,379,688
___________
344,379,688
=========

2016

2015

___________
344,379,688
==========

Held to maturity investment securities
In thousands of Leones
Government treasury bills

Available for sale investment securities
In thousands of Leones
Government treasury bills

_______
__________
=======
======
For the purpose of the cash flows statement investment securities with a maturity period greater than three
months from the reporting date have been treated as part of investing activities, whilst investment securities
with maturity period of three months or less from the reporting date have been treated as cash and cash
equivalents in the statement of cash flows.
Treasury bills are debt securities issued by the Government of Sierra Leone through the Bank of Sierra Leone
for a term of three months, six months or one year. All bills are subject to variable interest rate risk.
(b) Ordinary shares
First discount house Limited
Capital Discount house

Grand total
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2016

2015

450,000
350,000
________
800,000
========

450,000
350,000
________
800,000
======

334,489,527
=========

345,179,688
=========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
22. Property and equipment

See accounting policy in note 38(l)

In thousands of Leones
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2015
Additions
Balance at 31 December 2015
Balance at 1 January 2016
Additions
Write off
Balance at 31 December 2016
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses
Balance at 1 January 2015
Depreciation for the year
Balance at 31 December 2015
Balance at 1 January 2016
Depreciation for the year
Write off
Balance at 31 December 2016
Carrying amounts

Office
premises

Plant
machinery,
vehicles and
office equipment

Total

32,337,445
28,624,198
60,961,643
213,300
1,701,813
1,915,113
__________________________________________________
32,550,745
30,326,011
62,876,756
====================================================
32,550,745
30,326,011
62,876,756
1,709,506
1,709,506
(26,390,317)
(26,390,317)
___________________________________________________
32,550,745
5,645,200
38,195,945
====================================================

5,050,172
25,453,725
30,503,897
959,350
1,274,607
2,233,957
_________________________________________________
6,009,522
26,728,332
32,737,854
==================================================
6,009,522
26,728,332
32,737,854
863,322
1,412,725
2,276,047
(26,390,317)
(26,390,317)
__________________________________________________
6,872,844
1,750,740
8,623,584
==================================================

Balance at 1 January 2015

27,287,273
3,170,473
30,457,746
=========================================
Balance at 1 31 December 2015
26,541,223
3,597,679
30,138,902
=========================================
Balance at 1 January 2016
26,541,223
3,597,679
30,138,902
=========================================
Balance at 31December 2016
25,677,901
3,894,460
29,572,361
=========================================
There are no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of plant and equipment during
the year (2015: nil).
Write off represents equipment fully depreciated which expired in 2012 now taken off the books.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
23. Other assets
In thousands of Leones

2016
1,814,120
4,010,498
1,400,454
_________
7,225,072
=======

Bills receivable
Office accounts
Accrued expenses and other receivables

24. Deposits from banks
In thousands of Leones
Other deposits from banks

25. Deposits from customers

See accounting policy in note 38(o)
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2015
256,104
2,791,970
16,454
__________
3,064,528
========

2016

2015

=======

=======
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
25. Deposits from customers (continued)
In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

Retail customers:
Current accounts
Savings accounts
Time deposits
Customer’s foreign currency funds held

167,476,718
189,831,350
315,692,951
303,042,681
14,013,251
16,908,598
209,606,679
139,629,080
___________
___________
706,789,599
649,411,709
===========
==========
At 31 December 2016 Le 14.01 billion (2015: Le 16.9 billion) of deposits from customers are
expected to be settled more than 12 months after the reporting date.

26. Other liabilities
In thousands of Leones
Sundry creditors
Accrued interest
Unpaid dividend
Defined benefit plan

2016

2015

13,005,748
830,443
2,729,141
17,456,249
__________
34,021,581
=========

10,430,252
413,582
2,729,141
14,291,584
__________
27,864,559
= ========

2016

2015

17,456,249
_________
17,456,249
__________

14,291,584
_________
14,291,584
__________

17,456,249
__________

14,291,584
__________

Defined benefit obligation
See accounting policy in note 38(r)
In thousands of Leones
Present value of unfunded obligation
Present value of funded obligation
Total present value of obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of net obligation
Unrecognised actuarial losses
Recognised liability for defined
benefit obligation
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
26. Other liabilities (continued)
Defined benefit obligation (continued)
In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

__________
17,456,249

__________
14,291,584

14,291,584
665,594
(2,396,218)
3,401,302
1,493,987
__________
17,456,249
=========

12,986,914
(1,315,545)
2,620,215
__________
14,291,584
========

31 December
2016

31 December
2015

20%
19%
18%

11%
11%
8%

Plan assets consist of the following:
Equity securities
Government bonds
Property occupied by the Bank
Bank’s own ordinary shares
Liability for defined benefit obligation
Movement in the present value of
defined benefit obligation
Liability at beginning of the period
Actuarial loss
Benefit paid by the plan
Current service cost and interest
Past service cost
Liability for defined benefit obligation
Key valuation assumptions
Summary of economic assumption
Basis item
Discount rate
Salary inflation
Inflation

The above assumption depict the experience of the actuary of the likely future experience of the
Bank.
Discount rate
The economic assumptions have been set with reference to Sierra Leone market interest rate at the
valuation date. Based on research of the actuary, Sierra Leone does not appear to have a deep market and
liquid market in corporate bonds, therefore the Government bond yields apply, and furthermore, there
does not seem to be treasury bonds with duration longer than one year in Sierra Leone.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
26. Other liabilities (continued)

Key valuation assumptions (continued)
Summary of economic assumption (continued)
Salary inflation
A large increase in (the discount rate considered in isolation would reduce the liability materially and
consequently the basis as a whole needs to be considered and in particular the relationship between the
discount rate and the inflation rate used for salary growth. While market inflation has not increased at the
same levels as the discount rate, the actuary believes it is appropriate to relate the increase in inflation to
the increase in the discount rate. The actuary has however acknowledge that as the discount rate rises, the
gap between the two can be expected to increase, so therefore allowing for that difference to increase
from 1% to 2%. The inflation rate is therefore set at 18%.
Demographic assumption
The rates of mortality assumed for employee are the rates published in the A67/70 tables, published jointly
by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries in the United Kingdom.
Retiring age
The actuary has assumed that all staff members retire at the age of 60 and therefore no allowance has
been made for early retirement and the Bank is monitoring experience in this area to ensure consistency of
the assumption.
Sensitivity analysis
The results of the valuation are sensitive to the assumption chosen. The table below gives an indication of
the sensitivity of the results to changes in the main valuation assumptions:
Accrued liability
at 31 December
2016
Le’000
18,521,264

Base case
Base case
Discount rate

Salary increase

Mortality experience

+1%

16,720,089

-1%

20,614,224

+1%

20,700,481

-1%

16,621,683

Age rated up by 1 year
Age rated down by 1 year

18,527,849
18,515,316
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
26. Other liabilities (continued)
Key valuation assumptions (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)
Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it
does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumption shown.

27. Share capital

See accounting policy in note 38(s)
In thousands of Leones
Authorised share capital

Ordinary shares of Le 1.00 each
Balance at 1 January
Increase during the year
Balance at 31 December
Issued share capital
Ordinary shares of Le 1 each
Balance at 1 January
New shares issued
Balance at 31 December

2016
No. of shares
Proceeds
In thousands
Le’000

2015
No. of shares
In thousands

Proceeds
Le’000

60,000,000
__________
60,000,000
========

60,000,000
__________
60,000,000
========

60,000,000
__________
60,000,000
========

60,000,000
__________
60,000,000
========

38,118,869
__________
38,118,869
=========

38,118,869
__________
38,118,869
=========

38,118,869
__________
38,118,869
=========

38,118,869
__________
38,118,869
========

The shareholding structure of the Bank at the reporting date was as follows:
In thousands of Leones

Government of Sierra Leone
Other corporate and private
Individuals

No. of shares
In thousands

2016

2015

%

No. of shares
In thousands

24,786,078

65

24,786,078

65

13,332,791
___________
38,118,869
==========

35
____
100
===

13,332,791
__________
38,118,869
========

35
_____
100
====

%

All ordinary shares rank equally with regards to the Bank’s residual assets. The holders of ordinary shares
are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Bank.
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28. Share premium

See accounting policy in note 38(s)
In thousands of Leone
Balance at 1 January and 31 December

2016

2015

49,090,909
=========

49,090,909
========

The above arose out of the issue of 10,909,090,909 new shares in 2014to the majority shareholders
at a price of Le 5.50 per share with nominal value of Le 1.00 per share. The excess of Le 4.50 per
share for this 10,909,090,909 shares resulted to the above share premium account which can thus
be used for issue of new shares in future.

29. Dividend
No dividend was declared by the Bank for 2016 (2015: Nil).

30. Reserves and retained earnings
In thousands of Leones
Capital reserve at 1 January and 31 December
Statutory reserves 30(b)
Other reserves 30(d) (ii)
Statutory loan loss reserves 30(d) (i)
Total reserve as at 31 December
(a) Capital reserves

2016

2015

17,556,582
19,776,880
1,280,102
4,136,140
__________
42,749,704
==========

17,556,582
19,023,366
1,746,018
27,733,817
__________
66,059,783
=========

The capital reserves represent surpluses arising from the revaluation of the freehold buildings
of the Bank.
(b) Statutory reserves
In accordance with Section 24 of the Banking Act of Sierra Leone the Bank is to maintain a
statutory reserve account into which transfers from the net profit of the Bank’s should be
made. A transfer of Le 753.5 million was made this year as the Bank’s reserve funds is less than
fifty percent of its paid up capital.
In thousands of Leones
Balance at 1 January
Transfer from net profits
Balance at 31 December
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2016

2015

19,023,366
753,514
__________
19,776,880
==========

18,258,041
765,325
__________
19,023,366
==========
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30. Reserves and retained earnings (continued)
(c) Fair value reserve
In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

Treasury bills provision

_________
=========

_________
=========

Balance at 31 December

This reserve relates to gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset recognised directly in equity,
until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(d) Other reserves
(i)

Statutory loan loss reserve
In thousands of Leones
Balance 1 January
Transfer (to)/from retained earnings
Note(30(e)

2016

2015

27,733,817

-

(23,597,677)
__________
4,136,140
==========

27,733,817
__________
27,733,817
==========

The statutory loan loss reserves is the excess of impairment losses computed under the prudential
guidelines over the impairment losses computed under International Financial Reporting
Standards, appropriated from retained earnings.
(ii) Others
In thousands of Leones
At 1 January
Actuarial loss
Taxation thereof
At 31 December
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1,746,018
(665,594)
199,678
_________
1,280,102
=========

1,746,018
_________
1,746,018
=======
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30. Reserves and retained earnings (continued)
(e) Movements in retained earnings were as follows:
In thousands of Leones

2016

At 1 January
Net profit for the year

(153,084,238)
1,507,028
___________
(151,577,210)
(753,514)

(126,115,746)
1,530,650
____________
(124,585,096)
(765,325)

23,597,677
____________
(128,733,047)
============

(27,733,817)
____________
(153,084,238)
=========

Net profit for the year as restated
Dividends
Transfer to statutory reserves
Allowances for statutory loan
losses Note 30(d)(i)
At 31 December

31. Contingencies and commitments

2015

The Bank entered into various commitments in the normal course of banking business, which are not
reflected in the statement of financial position.
In thousands of Leones
Customs and other guarantees
Letters of credits

32. Capital commitment

2016

2015

8,081,295
_________
8,081,295
=========

4,967,663
915,795
__________
5,883,458
========

Commitment for capital expenditure at 31 December 2016 amounted to nil (2015: nil.).

33. Related party disclosures
Related parties transactions
A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business.
These include loans, deposits and foreign currency transactions. The volume of related party transactions,
outstanding balances at the end of the year and related expense and income for the year are as follows:
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33. Related party disclosures (continued)
Related parties transactions (continued)
In thousands of Leones

2016

2015

743,175
863,000
(414,132)
_________
1,192,043
=========

148,068
853,175
(258,068)
________
743,175
======

2,009,839
90,375
_________
2,100,214
=========
The Bank operates a profit sharing scheme for its employees.

1,536,340
145,325
_________
1,681,665
=======

Loans and overdrafts to Management and Directors
Outstanding at 1 January
New loans given
Repaid during the year

Director Remuneration
Executive directors remuneration
Non-executive directors fees

34. Subsequent events
Events subsequent to the balance sheet date are reflected only to the extent that they relate directly to the
financial statements and their effect is material. The Bank is subject to further regulatory considerations
as required by the Banking Act and Banking Regulations.

35.

Financial risk management

(a)

Introduction and overview
The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:





credit risk
liquidity risk
market risks
operational risks.

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Bank’s management of capital.

35.

Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Introduction and overview (continued)
Risk management framework
The Oversight Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s
framework.
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(a)

Introduction and overview (continued)
Risk management framework
The Oversight Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the risk management policies and
procedures, reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Bank, the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Bank’s risk management systems and controls and also
consider the implications of changes proposed to regulations and legislation that are material to the Bank’s
risk appetite and management of risk. The Oversight Committee is assisted in these functions by the Head
of Compliance. The Head of Compliance undertakes both regular and ad-hoc review of risk management
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Oversight Committee.
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the Bank’s compliance with financial accounting policies
and pronouncements, keep under review the appropriateness of the accounting policies and internal
controls systems, consider external auditor’s report and also reviewing the resources, scope, authority and
operations of the Country Audit function. The Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by the Head
of Audit. The Head of Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of audit management controls
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

(b)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and advances to
customers. For risk management reporting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of
credit risk exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, and sector risk).
Settlement risk
The bank’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlemet of transaction and trade. Settlement risk
is the risk of loss due to the failure of a company to honour its obligation to deliver cash securities or other
assets as contractually agreed.

(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Management of credit risk
The Oversight Committee, is responsible for oversight of the Bank’s credit risk, including:


Formulating credit policies covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and
reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory
requirements.



Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. All facilities
require the prior approval of the Bank’s Executive Committee. Larger facilities require approval by the
Oversight Committee as appropriate.



Reviewing and assessing credit risk the Bank’s Executive Committee assesses all credit
exposures, prior to facilities being committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities
are subject to the same review process.
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35.

Financial risk management (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Management of credit risk


Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties and industries (for loans and advances).



Developing and maintaining the Bank’s risk gradings in order to categorise exposures according to the
degree of risk of financial loss faced and to focus management on the attendant risks. The risk grading
system is used in determining where impairment provisions maybe required against specific credit
exposures. The current risk grading framework consists of five grades reflecting varying degrees of risk
of default and the availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation. The responsibility for setting
risk grades lies with the final approving executive/committee as appropriate. Risk grades are subject to
regular reviews by the Credit Policy Committee/Early Alert Committee.



Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits, including those for selected industries, and product
types. Regular reports are provided to the Critised Assets Committee on the credit quality of
loan/advances portfolios and appropriate corrective action is taken.



Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to promote best practice throughout the Bank in the
management of credit risk.
The Bank is required to implement credit policies and procedures, with credit approved authorities
delegated from the Oversight Committee.

(c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial assets.
Management of liquidity risk
The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank’s reputation. The key elements of the Bank’s liquidity
strategy are as follows:
•

Maintaining a diversified funding base consisting of customer deposits (both retail and corporate)
and wholesale market deposits and maintaining contingency facilities.

•

Carrying a portfolio of highly liquid assets, diversified by currency and maturity.

•

Monitoring liquidity ratios, maturity mismatches, behavioural characteristics of the Bank’s financial
assets and financial liabilities, and the extent to which the Bank’s assets are encumbered and so not
available as potential collateral for obtaining funding.

•

Carrying out stress testing of the Bank’s liquidity position.
Management receives information from other business units regarding the liquidity profile of their
financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from projected future
business. Management then maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of
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35. Financial risk management (continued)
(c)

Liquidity risk
short-term liquid investment securities, loans and advances to customers, to ensure that sufficient
liquidity is maintained within the Bank as a whole. The liquidity requirements of the Bank are met
through short-term investment to cover any short-term fluctuations and longer term funding to
address any structural liquidity requirements.
When the Bank is subject to a liquidity limit imposed by its local regulator, the Bank is responsible for
managing its overall liquidity within the regulatory limit in co-ordination with management.
Management monitors compliance of all operating activities with local regulatory limits on a daily
basis.
The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a
variety of scenarios covering both normal and more severe market conditions. All liquidity policies
and procedures are subject to review and approval by ALCO. Daily reports cover the liquidity position
of the Bank. A summary report, including any exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted
regularly to ALCO.

(d)

Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign exchange
rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing) will affect the
Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimizing the return on risk.
Management of market risks
The Bank’s separate its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading
portfolios mainly are held by the treasury unit, and include positions arising from market making and
proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair value
basis.
Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Oversight Committee. ALCO is responsible for the
development of detailed risk management polices (subject to review and approval by the Oversight
Committee and for the day-to-day review of their implementation).
Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios
The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Bank’s trading portfolios
are limits placed on open positions. Specified limits have been set for open positions which is the expected
maximum exposure the Bank is to be exposed to.
The Bank uses open position limits for specific foreign exchange risks. The overall structure of the limits is
subject to review and approval by the Oversight Committee. Open position is measured at least daily and
more regularly for days of active trade. Regular reports of utilisation of open limits are submitted to the
Oversight/Management Committee.
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35. Financial risk management (continued)
(d)

Market risks
Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the
future cash flows or fair values of financial instrument because of a change in market interest rate. Interest
rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having pre-approved limits for
repricing bands. The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits and is assisted by
Market Risk in its day-to-day monitoring activities.

(e)

Operational risks
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the
Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit,
market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations.
The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that
restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk
is assigned to senior management within the Bank. This responsibility is supported through the Bank’s
Operational Risk and Assurance Methodology Framework (ORMAF) in the following areas:











Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of
transactions;
Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
Documentation of controls and procedures;
Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and
procedures to address the risk identified;
Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;
Development of contingency plans;
Training and professional development;
Ethical and business standards;
Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

Compliance with Bank standards is supported by a programme of independent periodic reviews
undertaken by the Head of Compliance. The results of internal audit reviews are discussed with the
management of the Bank with summaries submitted to the senior management of the Bank.

36.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

37.

Changes in accounting policies
There were no changes in accounting policies in 2016.
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38. Significant accounting policies
The Bank has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these
financial statements.

Set out below is an index of the significant accounting policies, the details of which are available on the
pages that follow.
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)
(l)
(m)
(n)
(o)
(p)
(q)
(r)
(s)
(t)
(u)

Basis of preparation
Foreign currency
Interest
Fees and commission
Net trading income
Leases
Income tax
Financial assets and financial liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Impairment of non-financial assets
Deposits
Provisions
Financial guarantees
Employees benefits
Share capital and reserves
Earnings per share
Segment reporting

85
85
87
87
87
88
89
95
96
96
97
99
99
100
101
101
102
103
103
104

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and the requirements of the
Banking Act, and the Banking Regulations of Sierra Leone.
(b) Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Bank at
the spot exchange rate at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into the functional currency at the spot
exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference
between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective
interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the
spot exchange rate at the end of the year.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value
are retranslated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date that the fair value
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38. Significant accounting policies
(c)

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
was determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for
differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments or a financial liability
designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge, which are recognised directly in equity.
(c)

Interest
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss for all interest-bearing instruments
measured on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
The recognition of interest ceases when the payment of interest on principal is in doubt. Interest is
included in income thereafter, only when it is received.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, (or where appropriate, a shorter
period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument but not future credit losses. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes
all transaction costs, fees and interest paid or received that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to acquisition
or issue of a financial asset or liability.
Interest income and expenses presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI include:
o

Interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated on an
effective interest basis.

o

Interest on available-for-sale investment securities on an effective interest basis.

o

Fair value changes

Interest income and expenses in all trading assets and liabilities are considered to be incidental to the
Bank’s trading operations and are presented together with all other changes in the fair value of
trading assets and liabilities in net trading income.

(d)

Interest (continued)
Fair value changes on the other derivative held for risk management purposes and other financial
assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are presented in net income from
other financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive
income.
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38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d)

Fees and commissions
Fees and commissions income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a
financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.
Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees,
sales commission, placement fees and syndication fees, are recognised as the related services are
performed. When a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, the
related loan commitment fees are recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.
Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are
expensed as the services are received.

(e)

Net trading income
Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and liabilities and includes all
realised fair value changes, interest, and foreign exchange differences.

(f)

Leases
(I) Lease payments - Leases
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance
expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each
period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.
Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the
remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.
(ii)

Lease assets – Lessee
Assets held by the Bank under leases that transfer to the Bank all of the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased asset is initially measured at an amount
equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payment.
Subsequent to initial recognition the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy applicable to that asset.
Asset held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognized in the
Bank’s statement of financial position.
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38.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(iii)

Lease assets – lessor
If the Bank is the lessor in a lease payment that transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the asset to the lessee, then the arrangement is classified as a finance
lease and a receivable equal to the net investment in the lease is recognized and presented
within loans and advances.

(f) Income tax
(i)

Tax expense
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.

(ii) Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivables in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or
received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes if any. It is measured using the rates
enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.
(g) Income tax (continued)
(iii)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of
goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that it not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be utilized. Future taxable profits are determined based on business plans
of the Bank and the reversal of temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary
differences when they reverse, based on the laws and rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against current tax assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on
different
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38.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g)

Income tax (continued)
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis of
their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in
which the Bank expects at the reporting date to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities. For this purpose the carrying amount of investment property measured at fair
value is presumed to be recovered through sale and the Bank has not rebutted this presumption.
Unrecognised deferred assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be
used.

38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g)

Income tax (continued)
(iii) Deferred tax (continued)
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends by the Bank are recognised
at the same time as the liability to pay the related dividend is recognised. These amounts are
generally recognized in profit or loss because they generally relate to income arising from
transactions that were not originally recognized in profit or loss.
(iv) Tax exposures
In determining the amount of asset and deferred tax, the Bank takes into account the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events.
New information may become available that causes the bank to charge its judgement regarding
the adequacy of existing tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in
the period that such a determination is made.

(h) Financial assets and financial liabilities
(i)

Recognition
The Bank initially recognised loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and
subordinated liabilities on the date at which they are originated. Regular way purchases and
sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date at which the Bank commits to purchase
or sell the asset. All other financial assets and liabilities (including assets and liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss) are initially recognised on the trade date, which is the date
that the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue.
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38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Income tax (continued)
(ii) Classification
Financial assets
The Bank classifies its financial assets in one of the following categories:





loans and receivables,
held to maturity;
available-for-sale; or
at fair value through profit or loss and within the category as
- held for trading; or
- designated at fair value through profit or loss.

See (h), (i), (j) and (k)
(h) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(ii) Classification (continued)
Financial liabilities
The Bank classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost or fair value through
profit or loss.
(iii) Derecognition
Financial assets
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in such
transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank
is recognised as a separate asset or liability. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the
asset transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset
obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest in such transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created by
the Bank is recognized as a separate asset or liability.
The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of
financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained,
then the transferred assets are not derecognized. Transfers of assets with retention of all or
substantially all risks and rewards include for example securities lending and repurchase
transactions.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(i) Derecognition
Financial assets
When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total rate of return swap on the
transferred assets, the transaction is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to
sales and repurchase transactions became the Bank retains all or substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of such assets.
(iii) Derecognition (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to
which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
In certain transactions the Bank retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for
a fee. The transferred asset is derecognized if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or
liability is recognised for the servicing contract, depending on whether the servicing fee is more
than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing.
The Bank securitises, various consumer and commercial financial assets, which generally results
in the sale of these assets to special-purpose entities, which is turn issue securities to investors.
Interests in the securitized financial assets may be retained in the form of senior or subordinated
tranches, interest-only strips or other residual interests (“retained interest”). Retained interests
are primarily recorded in available-for-sale investment securities and carried at fair value. Gains
or losses on securitization depend in part on the carrying amount of the transferred financial
assets, allocated between the financial assets derecognized and the retained interests based on
their relative fair values at the date of the transfer. Gains or losses on securitization are recorded
in other operating income.
Financial liabilities
The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled or expire.
(iv) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when and only when the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and it
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs, or for gains
and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(v) Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial
amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
(vi) Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in
its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair
value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or
liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an
ongoing basis.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would
take into account in pricing a transaction.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
transaction price, i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. The Bank determines
that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor
based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair
value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized
in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the
valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk
that are managed by the Bank on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk are
measured on the basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long position (or paid to
transfer a net short position) for a particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-level adjustments are
allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each
of the individual instruments in the portfolio.
The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted
from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid. The Bank recognises
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(vi) Fair value measurement measurement (continued)
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during
which the change has occurred.
‘Fair value’ is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date.
When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis.
If a market for a financial instrument is not active, then the Bank establishes fair value using a
valuation technique. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs,
relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Bank, incorporates all factors that market
participants would consider in setting a price and is consistent with accepted economic
methodologies for pricing financial instruments.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the
transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. However, in some
cases the initial estimate of fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition may be
different from its transaction price. If this estimated fair value is evidenced by comparison with
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument (without modification or
repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from
observable markets, then the difference is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of the
instrument.
In other cases, the fair value at initial recognition is considered to be the transaction price and the
difference is not recognised in profit or loss immediately but is recognised over the life of the
instrument on an appropriate basis or when the instrument is redeemed, transferred or sold, or
the fair value becomes observable.
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
Where the Bank has positions with offsetting risks, mid-market prices are used to measure the
offsetting risk positions and a bid or ask price adjustment is applied only to the net open position
as appropriate.
The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted
from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(vii) Identification and measurement of impairment
At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is (are) impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s), and that the loss event has an impact on the
future cash flows of the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:
-

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer
default or delinquency by a borrower,
the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not
consider otherwise,
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy,
the disappearance of an active market for a security,
observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status
of borrowers or issuers in the Bank, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in
the Bank.

In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair
value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.
The Bank considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held-to-maturity
investment securities at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant loans
and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities are assessed for specific impairment.
All individually significant loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities found
not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been
incurred but not yet identified. Loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities
that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together
loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar risk characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment the Bank uses statistical modeling of historical trends of the
probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for the
probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that
the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical modeling. Default
rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against
actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.
Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between
the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against
loans and advances. Interest on impaired assets continues to be recognised through the
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(vii) Identification and measurement of impairment (Continued)
unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to
decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring the
cumulative loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive
income to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal
repayment and amortization, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are
reflected as a component of interest income.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases
and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal
recognised in profit or loss.
However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity
security is recognised in other comprehensive income.
The Bank writes off certain loans and advances and investment securities when they are
determined to be uncollectible.
(viii) Designation at fair value through profit or loss
The Bank has designated financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the
following circumstances:
o

The assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis.

o

The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise.

Note 17 sets out the amount of each class of financial asset or liability that are measured at amortised
costs and or classified as available for sale.
A description of the basis for each designation is set out in the note for the relevant asset or
liability class.
(i)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with the
central bank and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than three months or less
from the reporting date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are
used by the Bank in the management of its short-term commitments.
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(j)

Loans and advances
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and that the Bank does not intend to sell immediately or in the near
term.
Loans and advances to banks are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and advances to customers
include:




those classified as loans and receivables
those designated as at fair value through profit or loss; and
finance lease receivables

Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method. When the Bank
chooses to designate the loans and advances as measured at fair value through profit or loss as
described in the accounting policy, they are measured at fair value with face value changes recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
When the Bank is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the asset to the lessee, the arrangement is classified as a finance
lease and a receivable equal to the net investment in the lease is recognised and presented within
loans and advances.
When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the
asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (“reverse repo” or “stock
borrowing”), the arrangement is accounted for as a loan or advance, and the underlying asset is not
recognised in the Bank’s financial statements.
(k) Investment securities
Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus in case of investment securities not at
fair value through profit or loss, incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently accounted for
depending on their classification as either held to maturity, fair value through profit or loss, or
available for sale.
(i)

Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investment are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and which
are not designated as at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale.
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less any impairment losses. A sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of heldto-maturity investments would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments
as available for sale, and would prevent the Bank from classifying investment securities as held
to maturity for the current and the following two financial years.
However, sales and reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not trigger a
reclassification.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(j)

Investment securities (continued)
(i)

(ii)

Held-to-maturity
o

Sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of
interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value;

o

Sales or reclassifications after the Bank has collected substantially all of the asset’s original
principal; and

o

Sale or reclassifications that are attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the
Bank’s control that would not have been reasonably anticipated.

Fair value through profit or loss
The Bank does not hold any securities designated at fair value, with fair value changes
recognised immediately in profit or loss as at 31 December 2016.

(iii)

Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated as available
for sale or are not classified as another category of financial assets. Unquoted equity securities
whose fair value cannot reliably be measured are carried at cost. All other available-for-sale
investments are measured at fair value after initial recognition.
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Foreign
exchange gains or losses on available-for-sale debt security investments are recognised in profit
or loss.
Other fair value changes other than impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the investment is sold or impaired, whereupon the cumulative gains and losses
previously recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
A non-derivative financial asset may be reclassified from the available-for-sale category to the
loans and receivables category if it would otherwise have met the definition of loans and
receivables and if the Bank has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the
foreseeable future or until maturity.

(l)

Property and equipment
(i)

Recognition and measurement
Items of property and equipment are measured at costs less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as
part of that equipment.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property and equipment (continued)
(i)

Recognition and measurement (continued)
If significant parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, then they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of the property and equipment.
Any gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is recognized within other income in
profit or loss.
Land and buildings comprise mainly branches and offices. All property, plant and equipment
are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and
the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located.

(ii)

Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate
asset as appropriate only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

(iii)

Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their costs less their residual values and is generally recognized in profit or
loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful lives
unless it is reasonably certain that the Bank will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.
The estimated useful lives of significant items of property and equipment are as follows:
Freehold building
Leasehold property with 50 years or more to run
Leasehold property with less than 50 years to run
Expenditure on rented property
Adaptation costs
Computers
Vehicles
Other equipment

2% per annum
2% per annum
Over remaining life
Over 10 years
10% per annum
Over 3 years
Over 5 years
Over 5 years

Depreciation methods useful lives and residual values are revalued at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property and equipment (continued)
(iii)

Depreciation
The assets ‘residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.
Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.
These are included in profit or loss.

(m)

Intangible assets
Computer software
Software acquired by the Bank is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.
Expenditure on internally developed software is recognised as an asset when the Bank is able to
demonstrate its intention and ability to complete the development and use the software in a
manner that will generate future economic benefits and can reliably measure the costs to
complete the development.
The capitalized costs of internally developed software include all costs directly attributable to
developing the software and capitalized borrowing costs and are amortised over its useful life.
Internally developed software is stated at capitalized cost less accumulated amortization and
impairment.
Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is
expensed as incurred.
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life
of the software from the date that it is available for use since this most closely reflects the
expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The
estimated useful life of software is three to five years.
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end
and adjusted if appropriate.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m)

Intangible assets (continued)
At each reporting date the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than investment property and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For
goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use,
the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

(n)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating
unit” or “CGU”). Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at
which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
reporting purposes.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.
The Bank’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a
corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which
the corporate asset belongs.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group
of units) on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets (continued)
(o)

Deposits
Deposits are the Bank’s sources of debt funding.
When the Bank sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase
the asset (or a similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (“repo” or “stock lending”), the
arrangement is accounted for as a deposit, and the underlying asset continues to be recognised in
the Bank’s financial statements.
Deposits and debts securities issued are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct
transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except where the Bank chooses to carry the liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p)

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event the Bank has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
(i)

Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Bank has approved a detailed and formal
restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced
publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for.

(ii) Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by
the Bank from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under
the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost
of terminating the contact and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a
provision is established, the Bank recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated
with that contract.
(q)

Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised
initially at their fair value, and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of the financial
guarantee. The financial guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised
amount and the present value of any expected payment when a payment under the guarantee has
become probable. Financial guarantees are included within other liabilities.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(r)

Employee benefit
(i)

Short term benefits
Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related services provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus or
profit sharing plans if the Bank has a present legal and constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be
reliably estimated.
(ii) Defined contribution plans
The Bank pays contributions to the National Social Security and Insurance Trust on a
mandatory basis. The Bank has no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense in profit and loss
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
(iii) Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution
plan. The Bank’s net obligation in respect of its defined benefit plan is calculated by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present
value. Any unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are
deducted.
The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method.
The Bank recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans and all
expenses related to defined benefit plans in employee benefit expense in OCI.
(iv) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Bank before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Bank recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to
present value.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s)

Share capital and reserves
(i)

Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted
from the initial measurement of the equity instruments.

(ii)

Share premium
Share premium is measured as the excess of the issue price over the per value of the
ordinary shares.

(iii)

Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in equity in the period in which they are paid to
the Bank’s shareholders. Dividends for the period that are declared after the financial
position date are dealt with in the subsequent events note.

(iv)

Statutory reserves
Statutory reserves are based on the requirements of section 24 of the Banking Act of Sierra
Leone. Transfers into statutory reserves are made in accordance with the relationship
between the Bank’s reserve fund and its paid up capital, which determines the proportion of
profits for the period that should be transferred.

(v)

Statutory loan loss reserves
This is a reserve created to set aside the excess between amounts recognized as impairment
loss on loans and advances based on provisions made for bad and doubtful loans and
advances calculated in accordance with IFRS and the Central Bank’s prudential guidelines.

(vi)

Other reserves
Other reserves represent net actuarial gains or losses on the defined benefit obligation of
the Bank.

(t)

Earnings per share
The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is
determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, which comprise share options granted to employees.

(u)

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Bank that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions
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38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u)

Segment reporting (continued)
with any of the Bank’s other components, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the
Management Committee (being the chief operating decision maker) to make decisions about
resources allocated to each segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available.

39.

Standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2016 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted the
following new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements.
Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)
The amendments require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flow and non-cash
changes.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early
adoption permitted.
Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (Amendments to IAS 12)
The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments
measured at fair value.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early
adoption permitted.
The Bank is assessing the potential impact on its financial statements resulting from the amendments. So
far, the Bank does not expect any significant impact.
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.
IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted.
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments'
In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted.
The Bank currently plans to apply IFRS 9 initially on 1 January 2018.
The actual impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the Bank’s financial statements in 2018 is not known and cannot
be reliably estimated because it will be dependent on the financial instruments that the Bank holds and
economic conditions at that time as well as accounting elections and judgments that it will make in the
future. The new standard will require the Bank to revise its accounting processes and internal controls
related to reporting financial instruments and these changes are not yet complete.
(i)

IFRS 9 Implementation strategy
The Bank’s IFRS 9 implementation process will be governed by a Steering Committee whose
members will include representatives from risk finance, operations and IT functions. The Steering
Committee will meet regularly to challenge key assumptions, approve decision and monitor the
progress of the implementation work in the Bank, including evaluation of whether the project has
sufficient resources.

ii.

Classification - Financial assets
IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the
business model in which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics.
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL).The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and
receivables and available for sale.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL.


The asset is held within a business model whose objectives is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows, and selling financial asset; and



The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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39. Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
ii.

Classification - Financial assets (continued)
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the bank may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. The election is made on an investmentby-investment basis.
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
A financial asset is classified into one of these categories on initial recognition. However for
financial assets held at initial application, the business model assessment is based on facts and
circumstances at that date. Also, IFRS 9 provides new elective designation at FVTPL or FVOCI to be
made on the date of initial application and permits or requires revocation of previous FVTPL
elections at the date of initial application depending on the facts and circumstances at that date.
Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of
the standard are never bifurcated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed
for classification.
Business model assessment
The bank will make an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset
is held at a portfolio level, because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management. The information that will be considered includes:
 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the durations of the financial assets to the
duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the4 sale of
the assets;
 How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the bank’s management;
 The risk that affects the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those risks are managed;

110

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra
Leone)Statements
Limited
Financial
for the year ended
31 December
2016
Financial
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
ii.

Classification - Financial assets (continued)
Business model assessment (continued)
 How managers of the business are compensated e.g whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
 The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales actively will not be
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the bank’s stated objective
for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realized.
Financial assets that are held for trading or that are managed and whose performance is evaluated
or a fair value basis will be measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual
cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
For the purpose of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the
credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g liquidity risk and administrative costs as well as profit
margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
bank will consider the contractual terms of the instrument. This will include assessing whether the
financial assets contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.
In making the assessment, the bank will consider:





contingents events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
leverage features
payment and extension terms
terms that limits the bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements); and
 features that modify consideration for the time value of money – e.g. periodic reset of interest
rates.
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
ii.

Classification - Financial assets (continued)
Preliminary impact assessment
Based on a preliminary high-level assessment of possible changes for the classification and
measurement of financial assets held as at 31 December 2016, the bank’s current expectation is
that:
 trading assets and derivatives assets held for risk management that are classified as held-fortrading and measured at FVTPL, under IAS 39 would also be measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9
 loans and advances to banks and to customers that the classified on loans and receivables and
measured at amortised cost under IAS 39 would in general also be measured at mortised cost
under IFRS 9.
 Held to maturity investment securities measured at amortised cost under IAS 39, would in
general also be measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9.
 debt securities that are classified as available for sale under IAS 39 may under IFRS 9 be
measured at amortised cost FVOCI or FVTPL, depending on the particular circumstances
 investment securities designated as an FVTPL under IAS 39 would in general continue to be so
designated under IFRS 9; and
 equity securities classified as available-for-sale under IAS 39 would generally be measured at
FVTPL under IFRS 9.
The classification and measurement assessment as at 31 December 2016 may not necessarily
represent the impact on the bank’s financial statements as at 1 January 2018 because IFRS 9
requires the business model assessment to be undertaken based on the fact and circumstances
that exist at the date of initial application, which will be 1 January 2018 for the bank. Furthermore
the financial assets held on initial application will not be the same as those held at 31 December
2016 and how they are managed may not be the same.
Moreover, the bank’s preliminary assessment has not included a detailed review of the contractual
terms of all financial assets which is ongoing and how it has not yet finalized its policies and
methods for analyzing certain prepayment features and variable interest rate features.

iii.

Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred loss' model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking 'expected credit loss'
(ECL) model. This will require considerable judgement over how changes in economic factors affect
ECLs, which will be determined on a probability-weighted basis.
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39.
iii.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
The new impairment model will apply to the following financial instruments that are not measured
at FVTPL:





financial assets that are debt instruments;
lease receivables;
financial guarantee contracts issued; and
loan commitment issued

No impairment loss will be recognized on equity investments.
Under IFRs 9, the bank will recognise loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss (ECL) except in the following cases where the amount recognized will be 12 month ECL.
 debt investments securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
 other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased
significantly since their initial recognition.
The assessment of whether credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly will be one of
the critical judgments in implementing the impairment model of IFRS 9. It is described below:
Loss allowances for lease receivables will always be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
12 months ECL are the portion of ECL, that results from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.
Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses and will be measured as follows:
 financial assets that are not credit impaired at the reporting date. The present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e the differences between the cash flows due to the bank in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the bank expects to receive);
 financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;
 undrawn loan commitments: the present value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the bank if the commitment is draw down and the cash flows that the bank
expects to receive; and
 financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts
that the bank expects to recover.
Financial assets that are credit-impaired are defined by IFRs 9 in a similar way to financial assets
that are impaired under IAS 39.
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)
Definition of default
Under IFRS 9, the bank will consider an assets to be in default when:
 the borrower is unlikely to pay his credit obligation to the bank in full, without recourse by the
bank to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
 the borrower is past due more than 90 days in any material credit obligation to the bank.
Overdraft are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or
been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.
This definition is largely consistent with the definition that is expected to be used for regulatory
purpose from 1 January 2018.
In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank will consider indications that are:
 qualitative e.g. breaches of covenant
 quantitative e.g. – overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to
the Bank; and
 based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significant may
vary other time to reflect changes in circumstances.
Significant income in credit
Under IFRS 9, when determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Bank will consider reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort including both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical experience and expect
credit assessment and including forward looking information.
The Bank is currently formulating its detailed methodologies for assessing increases in credit risk
under IFRS 9.
The Bank expects that identifying whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an
exposure will entail comparing:
 the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) at the reporting date; with
 the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial
recognition of the exposure.
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)
Credit risk grades
The Bank will allocate each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is
determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experiences credit judgment and the
Bank expects to use these grades for the purpose of identifying significant increases in credit risk
under IFRS 9. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are
indicative of risk of default. These factors may vary depending on the nature of the exposure and
the type of borrower.
Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases
exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates for example, the differences in risk of default between
credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference between credit risk grades 2 and 3.
Each exposure will be allocated to a credit risk grades at initial recognition based on available
information about the borrower. Exposure will be subject to ongoing monitoring which may result
to an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade.
Credit risk grades are expected to be a primary input into the determination of the term structure
of PD for exposures. The Bank intends to collect performance and default information about its
credit risk exposures analysed by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading.
For some portfolios information purchased from external credit reference risk agencies may also be
used.
The Bank is designing and testing statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate
estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a
result of the package of time.
This analysis is expected to include the identification and calibration of relationship between
changes in default rates and changes in key macro-economic factors as well as in-depth analysis of
the impact of certain other factors (e.g. forbearance experience) on the risk of default. For most
exposures key macro-economic indicators are likely to include GDP growth bench mark interest
rates and unemployment.
For exposures to specific industries the analysis may extend to relevant commodity and for real
estate prices.
The bank intends to formulate a ‘base case’ view of the future directions of relevant economic
valuables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios based on advice
from the bank market risk committee and economic experts and consideration of a variety of
external actual and forecast information. The bank plants to use these forecasts to adopt its
estimate of PDs.
Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Generating the term structure of PD
The criteria for determining whether credit risks has increased significantly varies by portfolio and
will include, quantitative changes in PDs and qualitative factors, including a back stop based on
delinquency.
The Bank expects that it will deem the credit risk of a particular exposure to have increase
significantly since initial recognition if, based on the Bank’s quantitative modelling the remaining
lifetime. PD is determined to have increased by more than a predetermined percentage or range.
In certain instances using its expert credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical
experience, the Bank may determine that an exposure ….. undergo a significant increase in credit
risk based on particular quantitative indications that it considers are indicative of this and whose
effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. As a
backstop and as required by IFRS 9, the Bank will presumptively consider that a significant increase
in credit risk occurs no later than when an asset is more than 30 days, past due. The Bank expose
to determine days past due by counting the number of 30 days. Since the earliest elapsed due date
in respect of which full payments has not been received.
The Bank intends to monitor the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in
credit risk by regular review to confirm that:




the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is
in default;
the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due; and
there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12 months PD
(stage 1) and lifetime PD (stage 2).

Inputs into measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are likely to be the term structure of the following
variables:




probability of default (PD);
loss given default (LGD);
exposure at default (EAD)

In general the Bank expects to derive those parameters from internally developed statistical
models and other historical data. They will be adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as
described above.
PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which the Bank expects to calculate based on
statistical rating models, and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various categories of
counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are expected to be based on internally
compiled data comprising both qualitative and quantitative factors. Where it is available market
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly (continued)
data may also be used to derive the PD for large corporate counterparties. If a counterparty or
exposure migrates between rating classes, then this will lead to a change in the estimate of the
associated PD. PDs will be estimated considering the contractual measures of exposures and
estimated prepayment rates.
LGD use the magnitude of the likely loss if there is default. The Bank plans to estimate LGD
parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. It
expects the LGD models to consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty
industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. For loans secured
by retail property, LTV ratios are likely to be a key parameter in determining LGD. The bank
expects to calibrate LGD estimates for different economic scenarios and for real estate lending, to
reflect possible changes in property prices. They will be calculated on a discounted cash flow basis
using the effective interest rate as the discounting favor. The LGD may differ from the amounts
used for regulatory purposes. The principal differences relate to removal of conservative
regulatory add-ons and downturn calibration assumptions, inclusion of forward-looking
information and use to multiple economic scenarios and the discount rate used.
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank expects to derive the
EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount
allowed under the contract including amortization. The EAD of a financial asset will be the gross
carrying amount at default. For lending commitments and financial guarantees the EAD will
consider the amount drawn as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn or repaid under
the contract, which will be estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking
forecasters. For some financial assets, the bank expects to determine EAD by modelling the range
of possible exposure outcome at various point in time using scenario and statistical techniques.
The EAD may differ from that used for regulatory purposes. The principal differences relate to:
only irrecoverable undrawn commitments being included for accounting purposes, removal of
conservative bias adjustments and down calibration assumptions and adjustments to remove any
excess over the contractual maximum amount.
As described above the subject to using a maximum of a 12 months PD for financial assets for
which credit risk has not significantly increased, the Bank will measure ECL considering the risk of
default over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s extension option) over
which it is exposed to credit risk, even if for risk management purposes, the Bank considers longer
period. The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the bank has the right to
require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.
For retail overdrafts and credit facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment
component the bank will measure ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if
the Bank’s contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel undrawn commitment does not
limit the Bank’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. These facilities do not
have a fixed term or repayment structure and are managed on a collective basis. The Bank can
cancel them with immediate effect but that contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-today management, but only when the Bank becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the
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Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Inputs into measurement of ECL (continued)
facility level. This longer period will be estimated taking into account the credit risk management
actions that the Bank expects to take and that serve to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in
limits cancellation of the facility and/or turning the outstanding balance into cash with fixed
repayment terms.
Forward-looking information
Under IFRS 9, the Bank will incorporate forward-looking information into both its assessment of
whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and
the measurement of ECL. Based on advice from the Bank market risk committee and economic
expects, the consideration of a variety of external actual and forecast information, the Bank
intends to formulate a ‘base case’ view of the future duration of relevant economic variables as
well as representative range of other possible forecast scenarios and considering the relevant
probabilities of each outcome. External information may include economic data and forecast
published by governmental bodies and monetary authorities in Sierra Leone where the bank
operates, supranational organisation such as OECD and the International Monetary Fund, and
selected private-sector and academic forecasters.
The base case is expected to represent a most likely outcome and be aligned with information and
by the bank for other purposes, such as strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios
would represent more optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes. The Bank plans also to
periodically carry out stress testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate the determination of these
other representation scenarios.
The Bank is in the process of identifying and documenting key drives of credit risk and credit losses
for each portfolio of financial instrument and , using an analysis of historical data estimating
relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses.
The most significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements from the implementation of IFRS 9 is
expected to result from the new impairment requirements. Management is not yet able to provide
quantitative information about the expected impact, since the bank is in the process of building
and testing models, assembling data and calibrating impairment stage transfer criteria. The impact
is also dependent on finalisng the classification assessment and the circumstances at 1 January
2018.
However, management expects loss allowances under IFRS 9 to be larger than under IFRS 39.

iv.

Classification – financial liabilities
IFRS 9 largely retain the existing requirements of IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities.

118

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra
Leone)Statements
Limited
Financial
for the year ended
31 December
2016
Financial
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Forward-looking information (continued)
However under IAS 39 all fair values changes of liabilities designated as at FVTPL are recognized in
profit or loss, whereas under IFRS 9 these fair value changes will generally be presented as follows:



the amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the
liability is presented in OCI; and
the remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or loss.

The Bank has designated debt securities issued at FVTPL when it holds related derivatives at FVTPL
and description therefore eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise. The amount of the changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk of
these liabilities that were recognized in profit or loss in 2016 when IAS 39 is disclosed in the notes.
On the adoption of IFRS 9, our current expectation is that such changes in fair value will be
recognized in OCI although the amount recognized in OCI each year will be variable. The
cumulative amount recognized in OCI will be nil if the designated liabilities are repaid at maturity
v.

Hedge accounting
When initially applying IFRS 9, the Bank may choose as its accounting policy to continue to apply the
hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 instead of the requirements in IFRS 9. The Bank's current
plan is that it will elect to continue to apply IAS 39. However the bank will provide the expanded
disclosures on hedge accounting introduced by IFRS 9 amendments of IFRS 7 because the
accounting policy election does not provide an exemption from these new disclosure requirements.

vi

Disclosures
IFRS 9 will require extensive new disclosures, in particular about hedge accounting, credit risk and
expected credit losses. The Bank's preliminary assessment included an analysis to identify data gaps
against current processes and the Bank plans to implement the system and controls changes that it
believes will be necessary to capture the required data.

vii

Impact on capital planning
The principal impact on the Bank’s regulatory capital of the implementation IFRS 9 will arise from
the new impairment requirements. Under current regulatory requirement impairment provisions
will be dealt with differently depending on whether a particular portfolio is on the IFRS or
standardized approach.
IRB approach: The capital requirement is calculated based on the gross exposure. Any shortfall
between eligible accounting provisions and regulatory expected losses is deducted from capital
reserves and any excess is added back to Tier 2 (up to a certain limit). Our preliminary assessment
indicates that under the current regulatory requirement, the implementation of IFRS 9 for the IRB
portfolios will result in a reduction in CETI reflecting expected higher impairment losses under the
standard with total capital remaining at a similar level. Approximately 80% of the Bank’s loans and
advances to customers are subject to the IRB approach.
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Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)


Standardised approach: The capital requirement is calculated based on the gross exposures
net of specific provision (i.e net exposures). IFRS 9 is expected to increase the loss allowances
associated with individual assets and therefore the resulting net exposure and so the capital
requirement will fall. However this reduction in capital requirement would be overweighed by
the one-for-one deduction of the increased IFRS 9 loss allowance from capital resources. Only
provisions against losses presently unidentified on an individual basis are allowed to be added
back to tier 2 capital (up to a certain limit). Our preliminary assessment indicates that under
the current regulatory requirements the implementation of IFRS 9 for the standardized
portfolios will result in a reduction in CETI and total capital. Approximately 20% of the Bank’s
loans and advances to customers are subject to the standardized approach.
The Bank’s regulator is currently consulting on possible transition provision relating to the
implementation of IFRS 9 under which some of the capital input of IFRS 9 would be phased in
over a three-to-five year period. The bank’s regulator is also considering the proposals
included in the Basel Committee’s recently issued disclosure paper which addresses the future
long term regulatory capital treatment.

viii.

Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will generally be applied
retrospectively except as described below:
 The bank plans to take advantage of this exemption allowing it not to restate comparative
information for the prior periods with respect to classification and measurement (including
impairment) changes. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities resulting from the adopting of IFRS 9 generally will be recognised in retained earnings
and reserves as at 1 January 2018.
 The following assessments have to be made on the bases of the facts and circumstances that
exist at the date of initial applications:

ix.



The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.



The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and
financial liabilities amortised at FVPTL.



The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading is at
FVOCI.

Timeline for implementing IFRS 9
The Bank expects that it will be in a position to provide quantitative information on the impact of
the transition to IFRS 9 on its financial position and performance in its 2017 interim financial
statements. This will include the impact on its CETI and any regulatory ratios.
The quantitative information is expected to be based on the portfolios and the information as at 31
March 2017. Business portfolios and economic conditions will continue to evolve and therefore
such quantitative information compiled ahead of the transaction date will not be an estimate of the
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
future transition impart but rather an indicative application of the ECL methodology to portfolios
existing at 31 March 2017 and forecasts on that date.
New standards or amendments for 2016 and forthcoming requirements
Since December 2015, a number of standards amendments to an interpretation of standards have been
issued. This note lists these new standards, amendments to or interpretations of standards in issue at 31
December 2016, which were not yet effective for periods beginning on 1 January 2015 and therefore may
need to be considered for the first time when preparing IFRS financial statements for an annual period
beginning on 1 January 2016.
The note contains two tables as follows:


New currently effective requirements: This table list the recent changes in IFRS that are required to be
adopted in annual periods beginning on 1 January 2016.



Forthcoming requirements: This table lists the recent changes to IFRS that are available for early
adoption in annual periods beginning on 1 January 2016, although they are not mandatory until a
later period.

The table also include a cross reference to further guidance as applicable. All of the effective dates in the
table refer to the beginning of an annual accounting period.
New currently effective requirements.
Effective date

New standards or amendments
IFRS 14 Regulatory deferred accounts
Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations (Amendments to
IFRS 11)
Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation
(amendments to IAS 16 or IAS 38)

1 January 2016

Agriculture: Bearer plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41.
Equity method in separate financial statements (Amendments to IAS 27)
Annual improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 – cycle various studies.
Investment entities: Applying the consolidation exception (Amendments to
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)
Disclosure initiative (Amendments to IAS 1

1January 2017

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (Amendments to IAS
12)
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Effective date

New standards or amendments
Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014 – 2016 cycle (Amendments to IFRS 12
Disclosure of Interest in other entities
IFRS 15 Revenue from contract with customers
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
Classification of measurement of share-based payment transactions
(Amendments to IFRS 2)

1 January 2018

Applying IFRS 9 financial instrument, with IFRS 4 Insurance contract
(Amendments to IFRS 4)
Transfer of investment property (Amendments to IAS 40)
Annual improvements to IFRS 2014-2016 cycle (Amendments to IFRS 1 first
time adoption of IFRS and IAS 28 investment in Associates and Joint
Ventures)
IFRS 16 leases
IFRS 22 Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 2017
INTRODUCTION:
The year 2017 witnessed significant growth in terms of deposit
as well as impressive performance in the Bank’s business after
it reported loss of Le99Bn in 2013.
Dr. Walton Gilpin was appointed Managing Director in July
2017 and with his wealth of knowledge and experience in
banking and other areas, the Bank made unbelievable strides
in terms of efficient operations and overall performance.
In our effort to effectively create a platform for all eligible
members of the public to access a wide range of financial services, the Bank developed a range of new
products. Also, strategies were adopted to make Rokel Bank great again, which resulted in the review of
systems and processes to ensure this objective is achieved.
One of the more substantial changes the Bank has had to contend with this year was the enhanced
supervision by the Central Bank. The Bank introduced a number of strategies to achieve the yearly target
of the Bank and these strategies will continue to bear fruits for the Bank for years to come.
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
In the year under review, the Bank recorded a net profit before income tax of Le62.7Bn; the first time
the bank is reporting the highest profit in its eighteen (18) years’ history which represents an increase of
3.883% compared to the previous year’s figure of Le1.6Bn. The vast increase in profit reflect our marketing
effort in growing our deposit base thereby leading to more interest income from investment in government
securities.
Net trading income of Le19Bn decreases by 2Bn when compared to 21Bn in 2016 representing the
significant drop in trading activities due to scarcity in foreign currencies during 2017.
Net impairment loss on Financial assets of Le2Bn reduced by Le17bn from previous year figures due to the
fact that most of the huge non performing loans were fully provided for in 2016 coupled with the fact that
substantial amounts were recovered from these non performing loans in 2017.
The Bank recorded a 10% growth in the size of its balance sheet significantly in deposit. Investment
securities grew by Le171Bn (51%) as a result of the moratorium on loans and overdrafts. Our deposit
increased by 63Bn (9%) due to aggressive marketing and efficient operations.
ECONOMY:
Sierra Leone’s economic growth dropped to 4.3% in 2017 from 6.3% in 2016.
Inflationary pressures eased owing to relative stability of the exchange rate and the tight monetary policy
stance of the Bank of Sierra Leone.
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Fiscal outturn deteriorated in 2017 due to short fall in revenue mobilization and spending overruns in all
the major expenditure categories.
Domestic financing remained high exceeding the 2% limit on which the government’s fiscal program is
anchored.
The current account of the balance of payment remains under pressure as the trade deficit widened,
reflecting weak export growth and increased imports of food items, machinery and petroleum products.
HUMAN RESOURCE
The Bank’s most valued assets are its members of Staff, training and development of these staff have been
part and parcel of the Bank’s strategy. This is evident with our in-house fully equipped training centre.
Also, for the period under review, a good number of our staff attended local courses, about fifty (50)
attended courses within Africa and (4) four attended courses in Europe, Asia, Australia and USA.
On roll as at 31st December 2017, the total number of staff was (303) three hundred and three. (10) ten
new members joined the Bank including the Managing Director, whilst (11) members of staff severed
relationship with the Bank for various reasons including the former Managing Director Mr. Okrafor-Smart
and two others retired in active service including one Management Staff, Mr. Sylvanus W. Conteh.
OPERATIONS:
The Bank’s Universal Banking System (UNIVBANK) keeps providing the basis for our Branches’ operations
across the twelve branches, though arrangements were in place to upgrade this system to fully provide the
modern banking facilities the Bank deserves to match with the existing competition within the banking
industry.
In our bid to boost deposits and also to participate fully in the financial inclusion, our Marketing Department
was revamped with marketers recruited, backed with the development of various ranges of new products
such as Kekeh Account, My Treasury Account, Kombra Account etc.
The overall performance of the Bank for the year ended 2017 in terms of efficient operations and profit
is commendable.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:
I want to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to our shareholders. I appreciate your trust and
confidence and we are pleased to work hard each day to increase the value of your investments in the
Bank.
I want to thank our esteemed customers for continuing to lend Rokel Commercial Bank your utmost trust
and confidence.
Let me also take this opportunity to thank each one of our Members of Staff for their commitment and
hard work throughout the year. Your tenacity and drive in forging the Bank’s path toward success are
immeasurable.
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As always, I am deeply grateful to our regulatory and supervisory Authorities (the Bank of Sierra Leone and
the National Commission for Privatisation) for their ongoing support and guidance that have improved the
growth of the Bank.
I also want to acknowledge the Oversight Committee Members and Company Secretary who had been
invaluable in providing unparalleled leadership, expertise and insight in guiding the Bank to greater
heights. I am pleased with the show of commitment exhibited by you all in helping us steer the affairs of
the Bank to date.
It is also my sad duty to inform you all about the death of one of our Oversight Committee Members –
Mr. Samuel Jabbie (representative of the Bank of Sierra Leone) who contributed and served the Bank in
different ways. May His Soul Rest In Peace.

………………………………………......................

Abu Bakarr Jalloh
CHAIRMAN, OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE
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Report of the Directors
The Directors hereby submit their report to the shareholders together with the audited Financial Statements for
the year ended 31 December 2017.
Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Bank’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements,
comprising the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017 and the statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the
Financial Statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act
of Sierra Leone, the Banking Act of Sierra Leone and the Banking Regulations of Sierra Leone, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The Directors’ responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of
risk management.
The Directors have made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason
to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.
Share Capital
Details of the Bank’s share capital are shown in note 27 to the financial statements.
Profit for the year
The profit for the year after taxation was Le 52.32 billion (2016: profit of Le1.51 billion).
Dividends
No dividend is being proposed this year: (2016: Nil).
Capital Adequacy
The Bank is required to maintain a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 15% of total adjusted assets. As at 31
December 2017 the capital adequacy of the Bank was 23.77% (2016: (29.4%). Details of the computation are
shown in note 5(d) to these financial statements.
Directors
The names of the present Directors are detailed on page 1.
Under the terms of Article 29 of the Articles of Association, directors normally retire by rotation and being eligible
offer themselves for re-election. The re-election of the directors or the appointment of new directors will be
determined by the National Commission for Privatisation in accordance with Section 13 of the National
Commission for Privatisation Act, 2002. Currently the bank is under the supervision of the central bank, the
central bank in -conjunction with the ministry of finance and economic development appoints the members of
the oversight committee which is acting as the board of directors of the bank.
Principal Activities
The Bank is engaged in retail, corporate and commercial banking services in Sierra Leone and operates with
twelve branches in addition to its Head Office. The 2017 Committees comprise the following:
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Report of the Directors (continued)

The Oversight Committee

The Oversight Committee comprises representatives from the Ministry of Finance and Economic Development
(Chairman), Bank of Sierra Leone, National Commission for Privatisation, Minority Shareholders of the Bank and
the Managing Director. The oversight committee assumes the function of the Board of Directors of the Bank and
also oversee the activities of the Caretaker Management Team, and reviews all reports of the caretaker
management team with the view to approving, endorsing, amending or rejecting the said reports.
The Committee should also conduct a special investigation on the issues that led to the capital impairment of the
bank and is responsible to take necessary action to promote effective corporate governance of the bank. The
Committee meets every two weeks.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises the Members of the Oversight Committee with the exception of the Managing
Director and the Legal Adviser/Company Secretary takes the Minutes of the Committee. The Committee is
responsible to oversee the Bank’s activities in relation to financial reporting, internal control system, risk
management system and internal and external audit functions. Its role also includes provision of advice and
recommendations to the Oversight Committee.
Executive Committee
The Executive Committee (ExCo) comprises the Managing Director, Deputy Managing Director, Director Risk
Management, Director of Finance, Legal Adviser/Company Secretary, Business Center Manager, Head - Wholesale
Banking, Head - Business Development & Corporate Affairs, Head of Compliance and Head of Operations. The
Committee meets on a weekly basis to discuss general issues affecting the bank.
IT Steering Committee
The IT steering Committee comprises the Director of Finance (chairman), IT Manager, Business Centre Manager,
Head of Internal Audit and Director of Finance. The Committee is responsible for reviewing, implementing,
monitoring and evaluating the bank’s IT system (UNIVBANK) and the E-Banking (VISA) that the bank uses in its
operations.
Disciplinary Committee
This Committee comprises the Head of Business Development and Corporate Affairs, Legal Adviser and Human
Resource Manager. The committee is chaired by the Legal Adviser/Company Secretary and the committee is
responsible for the enforcement of discipline within the bank by reviewing matters relating to fraud,
insubordination, negligence, and absenteeism, breach of the terms and conditions of service, professional and
other misconducts by staff.

Assets and Liability Committee
The Assets and Liabilities Committee comprise the Director of Finance (Chairman), the Managing Director, the
Deputy Managing Director, the Risk Management Director, the Head of Finance and Treasury, the Head of
Wholesale Banking, the Head of Business Development, and the Manager Business Centre Siaka Stevens Street.
The Committee meets monthly to monitor the Bank’s Assets and Liabilities and it assist management in ensuring
that the bank is in compliance with its Policy and all other regulatory requirements.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
Special Debt Recovery Committee

The committee comprises the Managing Director, Director of Finance, Director Risk Management, Legal
Adviser/Company Secretary. This was a Committee set up upon the directives of the National Commission for
Privatisation. The objectives of the Committee is to ensure the Bank maintains advances within the limit of Le 300
billion as required by the Banking Regulatory Body, (Bank of Sierra Leone) and also to monitor the process of debt
recovery/collection.
The bank has set up a new Committee, the (Disposal of recovered properties committee) to complement the
work of special Debt Recovery Committee in 2017. The Committee is tasked to maintain a list of properties
available for sale, advertise the properties available for sale, establish a procedure to make the Committee the
official reference point, negotiate every sale of properties concerned, prepare monthly report of activities of the
Committee and any other activities as directed by the Oversight Committee.
Auditors
The auditors Messrs KPMG were appointed by the Auditor-General on 2 March 2017 to conduct the audit of the
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The Auditor-General will appoint auditors for the Bank for the ensuing year.
Approval of the Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of the Bank as indicated above were approved by the Oversight Committee on the 22nd
June 2018 and are signed on their behalf by:

………………..………..…….……
Chairman

…….……………….………………
Managing Director

…………………………….….……
Director

……………….…….………………
Director
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Independent Auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including significant accounting policies, and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Bank as at 31 December 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Companies Act
of Sierra Leone, the Banking Act of Sierra Leone and the Banking Regulations of Sierra Leone.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Sierra Leone, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
Impairment of loans and advances to customers
See Notes 20 and 38(h)(vii) to the financial statements
The Key audit matter
Impairment of loans and advances to customers is a
key audit matter due to the significance of the
balances, and complexity and subjectivity over
estimating timing and the amount of impairment. The
risk is that the amount of impairment may be
misstated.

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our procedures in this area included

The estimations of the impaired loss allowance on an
individual basis requires management to make
judgments to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment and to make assumptions
about the financial conditions of the business and
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Updated our understanding of key controls
over the loan origination approval,
monitoring and recovery processes.



Assessed and tested the design,
implementation and operating electiveness of
these controls;



Assessed and tested the design,
implementation and operating electiveness of
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expected future cash flows.

controls over the bank’s loan impairment, i.e.
process regarding management’s review
process over impairment calculations including
the quality of underlying data and systems;

Impairment allowances represent management’s best
estimate of the losses incurred within the Loans and
advances portfolio as at the reporting date.
Loans and advances for which there is objective
evidence that an impairment event has occurred are
assessed individually for impairment i.e. (Specific
impairment).



For loan loss provisions calculated on an
individual basis, we tested the assumptions
underlying the main triggers for specific
impairment assessment, the process for
estimating impairment loss including forecasts
of future cash flows, valuation of underlying
collateral, estimated period to realization and
estimates of recovery on default, through
inquiry of credit personnel’s, inspecting
correspondence and independent valuation
reports.



We independently reperformed the
calculation, and compare the estimates to
external evidence when is available.



Examined a sample of loans and advances
which had not been identified by management
as potentially impaired and test for
impairment.



For loan loss provisions calculated on a
collective basis, we tested the reasonableness
of the underlying assumptions in relation to
industry norms.



For collective impairment, we tested the
appropriateness of the methodology applied
by reference to the Bank and market
experience for the assumptions made such as
the emergence period, the loss given default
and the probability of default.



We also assessed whether the data used in the
models is complete and accurate through
testing a sample of relevant data fields and
their aggregate amounts against data in the
source systems;

Specific impairment is calculated on an individual basis
for impaired loans.
Management uses judgement to determine when an
impairment event has occurred, to make assumptions
about the financial conditions of the counterparty and
to estimate the expected future cash flows related to
that loan. Other key judgment for Specific impairment
provisions are the recoverable value of any underlying
collateral and estimated time to realize the amount.
If there is no evidence that an impairment exists on an
individual basis, loans are assessed collectively for
impairment. Collective impairment allowances are
calculated on portfolio of loans of similar nature using
models which approximate the
impact of current economic and credit conditions on
the loans together with performing significant
exposures (exposures with no indication of
impairment). The two key judgments in the collective
provisioning assessment are the likelihood of default
and the emergence period and it is the latter which is
the most important judgment as there is limited
historic data on which to accurately assess it and the
most sensitive to adjustment.
The risk that the impairment provisions on loans and
advances may not be adequate to cover the default
risk in the loan portfolio has been identified as
significant and considered in our audit approach
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Independent Auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report
as required by the Companies Act of Sierra Leone, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other
information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard
Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Companies Act of Sierra
Leone, the Banking Act of Sierra Leone and the Banking Regulations of Sierra Leone, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial
reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting.
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Independent Auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)


a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Bank’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Directors.



Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, then we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the business activities
within the Bank to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Bank’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

133

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel CommercialFinancial
Bank (Sierra
Leone) Limited
Statements
for the year ended 31 December
Financial2017
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Independent Auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of section 29(6) of the Banking Act of Sierra Leone we report that:


The accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Bank and its results for the year under
review;



We were able to obtain all the information and explanation required for the efficient performance of our
duties; and



The Bank did not comply with the relevant provisions of the Banking Act of Sierra Leone, in relation to the
following matters:



single obligor limit;
aggregate exposure limit

In relation to the single obligor limit the Bank consistently breached this condition for all significant customers
and as a result of the accumulated loss position of the Bank, substantially all the lending portfolio were above the
single obligor limit prescribed by the Banking Act.
As at 31 December 2017 the Bank’s non-performing loans to total loans ratio of 36 % exceeded the tolerable ratio
of 10% by 26%.
Aggregate exposure breached throughout the period under review.
Due to the above violations of the Banking Act, the Bank is subject to further regulatory considerations as
required by the Banking Act and Banking Regulations
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this Independent auditor’s report is
Derrick L. Kawaley.

Chartered Accountants

Freetown

Date:
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Financial highlights

Profit before tax
(Thousands of Leones)

141,432,228

Revenue
(Thousands of Leones)

8 3,126,250

2017

Net in come

1,574,28 8

62,700,910

2016

Profi t before tax
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Financial highlights (continued)
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Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December

In thousands of Leones

Note

2017

2016

19
20
21
17
22
23

248,911,816
82,051,200
505,527,608
31,054,435
9,409,495
____________
876,954,554
=========

297,912,110
77,113,696
334,489,527
2,108,655
29,572,361
7,225,072
____________
748,421,421
=========

24
25
17
26
17

770,081,493
5,835,290
42,183,632
7,063,971
___________
825,164,386
___________

706,789,599
6,383,806
34,021,581
___________
747,194,986
___________

27
28
30
30(e)

38,118,869
49,090,909
49,937,762
(85,357,372)
____________

38,118,869
49,090,909
42,749,704
(128,733,047)
____________

51,790,168
___________
876,954,554
=========

1,226,435
____________
748,421,421
=========

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
Current tax assets
Property and equipment
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Deposits from banks
Deposits from customers
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Current tax liability
Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Retained (loss)/earnings
Total equity attributable to
equity holders of the Bank
Total liabilities and equity

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

2018

Chairman
Managing Director
Director
Director

The notes on pages 143 to 238 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December
In thousands of Leones

Note

Interest income
Interest expense

8
8

Net interest income
Fee and commission income

9

Fee and commission income
Net trading income
Other operating income

Revenue
Net impairment loss on financial assets
Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Other operating expenses
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

10
11

14
12
13.1
13.2
17(a)

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income,
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement of defined benefit liability
Related tax
Net amount transferred to profit or loss
Other comprehensive loss for the
year, net of income tax
Total comprehensive profit for the year

2017

2016

111,249,602
(5,033,924)
__________
106,215,678
16,137,426
__________
16,137,426
__________
18,968,379
110,745
__________
141,432,228
__________

54,105,354
(4,389,500)
__________
49,715,854
12,704,921
__________
12,704,921
__________
20,642,795
62,680
__________
83,126,250
__________

(2,228,932)
(45,001,990)
(2,453,269)
(29,047,127)
___________
62,700,910
(10,381,530)
___________
52,319,380
========

(19,245,038)
(36,333,152)
(2,276,047)
(23,697,725)
____________

1,574,288

(67,260)
____________

1,507,028

=========

(2,508,067)
752,420
__________

(665,594)
199,678
__________

(1,755,647)
___________
50,563,733
========

(465,916)
__________
1,041,112
========

The notes on pages 143 to 238 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (continued)
In thousands of Leones

Note

2017

2016

52,319,380
__________
52,319,380
========

1,507,028

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Bank
Profit for the year

_________

1,507,028

========

Total comprehensive profit
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Bank
Total comprehensive income for the year
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (Leones)

15

Diluted earnings per share (Leones)

15

50,563,733
__________
50,563,733
========

1,041,112
_________
1,041,112
=======

1.37
======
1.37
======

0.04
====
0.04
=====

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on

...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..
...............................................……………..

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

2018

Chairman
Managing Director
Director
Director

The notes on pages 143 to 238 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Attributable to equity holders of the Bank
Statutory
Share
Capital
Statutory
loan loss
premium
reserve
reserve
reserve
Other
reserve

Total
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

Balance at 1 January 2017
38,118,869 49,090,909 17,556,582
19,776,880
4,136,140
1,280,102 42,749,704 (128,733,047) 1,226,435
Total comprehensive income for the year
Net profit for the year
52,319,380 52,319,380
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
(defined benefit’s obligations)
Actuarial loss
- (1,755,647) (1,755,647)
- (1,755,647)
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total other comprehensive income for the year
- (1,755,647) (1,755,647)
- (1,755,647)
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Other transfer
Allowances for losses on loans and advances
(4,136,140)
- (4,136,140)
4,136,140
Transfer to statutory reserve
13,079,845
- 13,079,845 (13,079,845)
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total transfers
13,079,845
(4,136,140)
8,943,705
(8,943,705)
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total comprehensive loss and other transfers
7,188,058
==================================================================================================================
Transactions with owners of the bank, recorded
directly in equity
Contribution by and distributions to owners
Issue of new shares
Dividend to shareholders
Share premium on issue of new shares
Other movement
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Total contribution by and distribution to owners
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Balance at 31 December 2017
38,118,869
49,090,909 17,556,582
32,856,725
(475,545) 49,937,762 (85,357,372) 51,790,168
===========================================================================================================
The notes on pages 143 to 238 are an integral part of these financial statements

Share
Capital

In thousands of Leones

Statement of changes in equity
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Balance at 31 December 2016

Total contribution by and distribution to owners

Transactions with owners of the bank, recorded
directly in equity
Contribution by and distributions to owners
Issue of new shares
Dividend to shareholders
Share premium on issue of new shares
Other movement

Total comprehensive loss and other transfers

Total transfers

Other transfer
Allowances for losses on loans and advances
Transfer to statutory reserve

Total other comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 1 January 2016
Total comprehensive income for the year
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
(defined benefit’s obligations)
Actuarial loss

In thousands of Leones
Capital
reserve

-

-

49,090,909 17,556,582

Share
premium

-

19,023,366

Statutory
reserve

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank

-

27,733,817

Statutory
loan loss
reserve

-

1,746,018

Other
reserve

Restated
Retained
earnings

-

1,507,028

66,059,783 (153,084,238)

Total
reserve

1,507,028

185,323

Total
equity

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________
38,118,869
49,090,909 17,556,582
19,776,880
4,136,140
1,280,102 42,749,704 (128,733,047) 1,226,435
============================================================================================================
The notes on pages 143 to 238 are an integral part of these financial statements

-

- (23,597,677)
- (23,597,677)
23,597,677
753,514
753,514
(753,514)
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
753,514
(23,567,677)
- (22,844,163)
22,844,163
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
24,351,191
==========================================================================================================

(465,916)
(465,916)
(465,916)
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________
(465,916)
(465,916)
(465,916)
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

-

38,118,869

Share
Capital

Statement of changes in equity (Restated)
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December
In thousands of Leones

Note

2017

2016

62,700,910

1,574,288

13.1

2,453,269

2,276,047

14

2,228,932
216,909
(106,215,678)
(2,508,067)

19,245,038

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss)/ before tax
Adjustment for:
Depreciation
Net impairment losses on
financial assets
Asset written off
Net interest income
Actuarial Loss

8

Changes in:

__________

__________

(7,166,436)
(2,184,423)
63,291,894
8,162,051
___________
20,979,361
111,249,602
(5,033,924)
(1,005,000)
__________
126,190,039
__________

(4,352,993)
(4,160,544)
57,377,890
6,157,022
___________
27,735,300
54,105,354
(4,389,500)
(1,000,021)
___________
76,451,133
___________

(4,152,252)
(171,038,081)
____________
(175,190,333)
____________

(1,709,506)
10,690,161
____________
8,980,655
____________

___________
========

__________
========

(49,000,294)

85,431,788

297,912,110
___________
248,911,816
=========

212,480,322
___________
297,912,110
=========

(41,123,725)

Operating assets and liabilities
Overdrafts written off
Loans and advances to customers
Other assets
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities
8a
8b
17d

Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Disposal/(acquisition) of investment securities

22

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of shares
Share premium on new shares
Dividend paid
Net cash flow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

19

(49,715,854)
(665,594)
(27,286,075)

The notes on pages 143 to 238 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Reporting entity
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited (the Bank) is a Bank domiciled in Sierra Leone. The address
of the Bank’s registered office is 25/27 Siaka Stevens Street Freetown. The financial statements of the Bank
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 comprise the Head Office and its branches. The Bank is
primarily involved in retail, consumer banking, financial services and wholesale banking services.

2.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements of Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They were authorised for issue by the Bank’s oversight committee on
________________ 2018.
Details of the bank’s accounting policies, including changes during the year, are included in notes 37 and
38.

3.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Leones, which is the Bank’s functional currency. Except as
otherwise indicated the financial information presented in Leones has been rounded to the nearest
thousand.

4.

Use of judgements and estimates
In preparing these financial statements the directors have made judgements estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of the bank’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual reports may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
estimates are recognized prospectively.

Revisions to accounting

(a) Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is set out below.
(i)

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Bank
makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the
decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include
observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of
borrowers in a Bank, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the Bank.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
4.

Use of judgements and estimates (continued)
(a) Judgements (continued)
(i)

Impairment losses on loans and advances (continued)
Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when
scheduling its future cash flows.
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual
loss experience.

(ii)

Held to maturity investments
The Bank classifies non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity as held to maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. The
investments are therefore measured at amortised cost.

(b) Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment in the year ending 31 December 2017 is set out below in relation to the
impairment of financial instruments and in the following notes:
 Note 6

- determination of fair value of financial statements with significant unobservable
inputs;

 Note 17(f)

- recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable
profit against which carry forward tax losses can be used;

 Note 31

- recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions
about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources.

 Note 38 (h) (vii) - Identification and measurement of impairment
Impairment of financial instruments
Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on the basis described in note
38(h)(vii).
The individual component of the total allowance for impairment applies to financial assets evaluated
individually for impairment and is based on management’s best estimate of the present value of the
cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes
judgements about a debtor’s financial situation and the net realisable value of any underlying
collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its merits, and the workout strategy and estimate of cash
flows considered recoverable are independently approved by the Credit Risk function.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
4.

Use of judgements and estimates (continued)
(b) Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Impairment of financial instruments
A collective component of the total allowance is established for groups of homogeneous loans that
are not considered individually significant and groups of assets that are individually significant but
that were not found to be individually impaired (loss 'incurred but not reported' or IBNR).
The collective allowance for groups of homogeneous loans is established using a formula approach
based on historical loss rate experience. Management applies judgement to ensure that the estimate
of loss arrived at on the basis of historical information is appropriately adjusted to reflect the
economic conditions and product mix at the reporting date. Loss rates are regularly benchmarked
against actual loss experience.
The IBNR allowance covers credit losses inherent in portfolios of loans and advances with similar
credit risk characteristics when there is objective evidence to suggest that they contain impaired
items but the individual impaired items cannot yet be identified.
In assessing the need for collective loss allowance, management considers factors such as credit
quality, portfolio size, concentrations and economic factors. To estimate the required allowance,
assumptions are made to define how inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required
input parameters, based on historical experience and current economic conditions. The accuracy of
the allowance depends on the model assumptions and parameters used in determining the collective
allowance.

5.

Financial risk review
This note presents information about the bank’s exposure to financial risks and the bank’s management of
capital.
For information on the bank’s financial risk management framework, see note 35
Credit risk:
i. Analysis of credit quality
ii. Collateral held and other credit enhancements, and their financial effect
iii. Concentrations of credit risk
iv. Impaired loans and advances
Liquidity risk
Market risk
Capital management
(a)

Page
145
149
152
153
154
159
167

Credit risk
For the definition of credit risk and information on how credit risk is managed by the bank, see note
35(b)
(i)

Analysis of credit quality
The tables below set out information about the credit quality of financial assets and the
allowance for impairment/loss held by the bank against those assets.
22
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5.

146

Total net carrying amount

Allowance for impairment
Other fair value adjustment
Deferred facility fees

Total gross amount

Grade 8: Loss

Grade 7: Doubtful

Grade 6: Substandard

At amortised cost
Grade 1-3: Low-fair risk

Maximum exposure to
credit risk
Carrying amount
Amount committed/
Guaranteed

In thousand of Leones

Note

Credit quality analysis (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Financial risk review (continued)

77,113,696

505,527,608
334,489,527

Investment securities
31 December
31 December
2017
2016
6,124,827

2,295,287
113,554,611

120,137
38,214,118

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

23

(43,204,358)
(113,425,161)
(140,344)
(138,344)
(716,968)
(858,966)
___________________________________________________________________________________________ ___
82,051,200
77,113,696
505,527,608
334,489,527
6,124,827
8,081,295
=============================================================================================

__________________________________________________________________________________________ __
126,112,870
191,536,167
505,527,608
334,489,527
6,124,827
8,081,295

11,064,124

64,622,145

5,582,471

82,196,144

-

8,081,295

Lending commitments and
Financial guarantees
31 December
31 December
2017
2016

_________________________________________________________________________________________

82,051,200

Loans and advances to customers
31 December
31 December
2017
2016

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Total allowance for impairment

Allowance impairment
Individual
Collective

Total exposure

Financial guarantees
Grade 1-3: Low-fair risk

Maximum exposure
Lending commitments
Grade 1-3: Low-fair risk

Maximum exposure to credit risk

In thousand of Leones

Credit quality analysis (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)

Note

-

-

-

Investment securities
31 December
31 December
2017
2016

-

-

Lending commitments and
Financial guarantees
31 December
31 December
2017
2016

24

39,681,728
112,168,487
3,522,630
1,256,674
______________________________________________________________________________________________
43,204,358
113,425,161
===============================================================================================

6,124,827
8,801,295
______________________________________________________________________________________________
6,124,827
8,801,295
______________________________________________________________________________________________

-

Loans and advances to customers
31 December
31 December
2017
2016
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Impaired loans
See accounting policy in note 38(h) (vii)
The bank regards a loan and advance as impaired when there is objective evidence that a loss event has
occurred since initial recognition and the loss event has an impact on future estimated cash flows from the
asset.
A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered
to be impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced
significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.
Loans that are subject to a collective IBNR provision are not considered impaired.
Impaired loans and advances are graded 6 to 8 in the bank’s internal credit risk grading system (see notes
4 and 35(b)).
Loans that are past due but not impaired
Loans that are ‘past due but not impaired’ are those for which contractual interest or principal payments
are past due but the bank believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security
or collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the bank. The amounts disclosed
exclude assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Loans with renegotiated terms and the bank’s forbearance policy
See accounting policy in note 38(h)(vii)
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market
conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration
of the customer. An existing loan may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new
loan at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 38(h)(vii)
The bank renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance activities’)
to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the bank’s forbearance
policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if
there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under
the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Loans with renegotiated terms and the bank’s forbearance policy (continued)
The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and
amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the forbearance
policy. The Bank’s Audit Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance activities.
For the purposes of disclosures in these financial statements, ‘loans with renegotiated terms’are defined
as loans that have been restructured due to a deterioration in the borrower’s financial position, for which
the bank has made concessions by agreeing to terms and conditions that are more favourable for the
borrower than the Bank had provided initially and that it would not otherwise consider. A loan continues
to be presented as part of loans with renegotiated terms until maturity, earlier repayment or until it is
written off.
Irrespective of whether loans with renegotiated terms have been derecognised or not, they remain
disclosed as impaired until there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate a significant reduction in the risk
of non-payment of future cash flows and there are no other indicators of impairment.
Collateral held and other credit enhancements, and their financial effect
The Bank holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of its credit exposures. The
table below sets out the principal types of collateral held against different types of financial assets.
Type of credit exposure

Principal type
of collateral
held for secured
lending

Loans and advances to retail customers
Mortgage lending
Personal loans

Residential property
None

Loans and advances to corporate customers
Financial leases
Other lending to corporate customers
floating charges over
corporate assets

Property and equipment
Commercial property,

Investment debt securities

None

The Bank typically does not hold collateral against investment securities, and no such collateral was held
neither at 31 December 2017 nor 2016.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Loans with renegotiated terms and the bank’s forbearance policy (continued)
Residential mortgage lending
The tables below stratify credit exposures from mortgage loans and advances to retail customers by
ranges of loan-to-value (LTV) ratio. LTV is calculated as the ratio of the gross amount of the loan – or the
amount committed for loan commitments – to the value of the collateral. The gross amounts exclude any
impairment allowance. The valuation of the collateral excludes any adjustments for obtaining and selling
the collateral. The value of the collateral for residential mortgage loans is based on the collateral value at
origination updated based on changes in house price indices.
Loans secured against property
Loans to value (LTV) ratio
Less than 50%
51% to 70%
71% to 90%
91% to 100%
More than 100%
Total
Loans and advances to customers

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

37,781,872
94,680,796
10,497,319
30,169,676
5,939,824
12,399,847
6,432,965
8,601,885
65,460,890
45,683,963
___________________________________
126,112,870
191,536,167
===================================

The general creditworthiness of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit
quality of a loan extended to it (see note 35(b)). However, collateral provides additional security and the
bank generally requests that corporate borrowers provide it. The bank may take collateral in the form of
a first charge over real estate, floating charges over all corporate assets and other liens and guarantees.
For impaired loans, the Bank obtains appraisals of collateral because the current value of the collateral is
an input to the impairment measurement. At 31 December 2017, the net carrying amount of impaired
loans and advances to corporate customers amounted to Le 4.23 billion (2016: 14.75 billion) and the
value of identifiable collateral held against those loans and advances amounted to Le 4.08 billion (2016:
Le 12.67).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Other types of collateral and credit enhancements
The Bank also holds other types of collateral and credit enhancements such as second charges and
floating charges for which specific values are not generally available.
Assets obtained by taking possession of collateral
Details of financial and non-financial assets obtained by the Bank during the year by taking possession of
collateral held as security against loans and advances as well as calls made on credit enhancements and
held at the year-end are shown below:
Loans and advances to customers
2017
2016

In thousands of Leones
Property
Debt securities
Other

________________________________
================================

Total

The Bank’s policy is to pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. The bank does not
generally use the non-cash collateral for its own operations.
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Concentration by sectors
Agric, forestry and fishing
Manufacturing
Construction
Commerce and finance
Transport, storage and communication
Services and other
Electricals
Mining and quarrying

Government

Public enterprises

Staff

Loans and advances to customers
31 December
31 December
2017
2016

Investment securities
31 December
31 December
2017
2016

Financial guarantees
31 December
2017

77,113,696

505,527,608
334,489,527

6,124,827

3,172,384

12,118,978
-

-

-

505,527,608

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,982,885

-

-

-

-

12,294,133
32,141,388
2,200,541
3,049,772
14,266,099
108,147,412
106,008,214
568,970
16,070,694
______________________________________________________________________________________________________ ___
126,112,870
191,536,167
505,527,608
334,489,527
6,124,827
8,081,295

12,017,115

-

2,901,814

-

____________________________________________________________________________________________________
___
126,112,870
191,536,167
505,527,608
334,489,527
6,124,827
8,081,295

-

3,209,916

3,455,475
-

185,153,867

110,538,417

_____

8,081,295

___________________________________________________________________________________________________

82,051,200

31 December
2016

========================================================================================================

Concentration by type of customer
Individuals and other private enterprises

Carrying amount

In thousand of Leones

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk from loans and advances, lending commitments, financial
guarantees and investment securities is show below:

Concentration of credit

Credit quality analysis (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Impaired loans and advances
For the definition of ‘impaired financial asset, see note 5(a)
The table below sets out a reconciliation of changes in the carrying amount of impaired loans and
advances to customers.
In thousands of Leones

2017

2016
Impaired loans and advances to
customers at 1 January
Classified as impaired during the year
Amount written off
Recoveries of amounts previously written off
Other movements
Impaired loans and advances to customers
at 31 December

112,168,487
2,464,404
(66,035,429)
(2,501,428)
(6,414,306)
___________

153,978,374
23,277,230
(58,928,346)
(6,158,771)
___________

39,681,728
=========

112,168,487
=========

For details of impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers, see note 20.
Set out below is an analysis of the gross and net (of allowance for impairment) amounts of individually
impaired loans and advances and of the carrying amounts of impaired available-for-sale investment debt
securities by risk grade.

In thousands of Leones

Held to maturity
investment
Loans to customers
Debt security
Gross
Net Gross
Net

31 December 2017
Grade 6: Substandard
Grade 7: Doubtful
Grade 8: Loss
Total

5,582,471
901,153
120,137
54,295
38,214,118
3,279,550
___________________________________________________
43,916,726
4,234,998
============================== ====================
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis (continued)
Impaired loans and advances and investment debt securities (continued)

Loans to customers
In thousands of Leones

Gross

Net

Gross

Held to maturity
Investment
Debt security
Net

31 December 2016
Grade 6: Substandard
Grade 7: Doubtful
Grade 8: Loss
Total

11,064,124
1,759,032
2,295,287
113,554,611 12,986,503
_________________________________________________
126,914,022 14,745,535
==================================================

(b) Liquidity risk
For the definition of liquidity risk and information on how liquidity risk is managed
note 35(c).

by the bank, see

Exposure to liquidity risk
The key measure used by the bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to deposits
from customers. For this purpose, ‘net liquid assets’ includes cash and cash equivalents and
investment-grade debt securities for which there is an active and liquid market less any deposits from
banks, debt securities issued, other borrowings and commitments maturing within the next month.
Details of the reported bank ratio of net liquid assets to deposits from customers at the reporting date
and during the reporting period were as follows:

At 31 December
Average for the period
Maximum for the period
Minimum for the period
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2017
%

2016
%

13

27

20
7

39
15

5.

155

Cash and bank balances
with banks
Cash on hand
Loans and advances to
customers

Non-derivative assets

Financial asset by type

Deposit from banks
Deposits from customers
Unrecognized loan commitment

Non-derivative liabilities

Financial liability by type

31 December 2017

In thousands of Leones

20

19
19

24
25

Note

Gross nominal
inflow/(outflow)

Less than
1 month
1-3 months

3 months
to 1 year

1-5 years

More than
5 years

215,254,509
33,657,307

215,254,509
33,657,307

-

-

-

-

32

82,051,200
82,051,200
3,624,545
5,230,916
54,729,630
6,001,001 12,465,108
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
330,963,016
330,963,016
252,536,361
5,230,916
54,729,630
6,001,001 12,465,108
=================================================================================================

215,254,509
33,657,307

770,081,493
770,081,493
392,952,924
365,994,302
11,134,267
________________________________________________________________________________________________
770,081,493
770,081,493
392,952,924
365,994,302
11,134,267
================================================================================================

Carrying
amount

The table below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the banks financial liabilities and financial assets

Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
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Cash and bank balances
with banks
Cash on hand
Loans and advances to
customers

Non-derivative assets

Financial asset by type

Deposit from banks
Deposits from customers
Unrecognized loan commitment

Non-derivative liabilities

Financial liability by type

31 December 2016

In thousands of Leones

20

19
19

24
25

Gross nominal
inflow/(outflow)

Less than
1 month
1-3 months

3 months
to 1 year
1-5 years

More than
5 years

231,910,832
66,001,278

231,910,832
66,001,278

231,910,832
66,001,278

-

-

-

-

706,789,599
706,789,598
692,776,348
14,013,251
________________________________________________________________________________________________
706,789,599
706,789,598
692,776,348
14,013,251
================================================================================================

Carrying
amount

33

77,113,696
77,113,696
77,113,696
_________________________________________________________________________________________________
375,025,806
375,025,806
297,912,110
77,113,696
=================================================================================================

Note

Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
The amounts in the table above have been compiled as follows:
Type of financial instrument

Basis on which amounts are complied

Non-derivatives financial liabilities and
financial assets

Undiscounted cash flows, which include
financial assets estimated interest payments

The bank’s expected cash flows on some financial assets and financial liabilities vary significantly from
the contractual cash flows. For example, demand deposits from customers are expected to remain
stable or increase and unrecognised loan commitments are not all expected to be drawn down
immediately.
As part of the management of liquidity risk arising from financial liabilities, the bank holds liquid assets
comprising cash and cash equivalents, and debt securities issued by sovereigns, which can be readily
sold to meet liquidity requirements. In addition, the bank maintains agreed lines of credit with other
banks and holds unencumbered assets eligible for use as collateral with central banks (these amounts
are referred to as the ‘bank’s liquidity reserves’).
The table below sets out the carrying amounts of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities
expected to be recovered or settled more than 12 months after the reporting date.
In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

82,051,200
========

77,113,696
========

770,081,493
=========

706,789,599
=========

Financial assets
Loans and advances to customers
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers

34
157

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel CommercuakFinancial
Bank (Sierra
Leone) Limited
Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
The table below sets out the components of the Bank’s liquidity reserve
Liquidity reserve
2017
Carrying
amount

2017
Fair
value

2016
Carrying
amount

2016
Fair
value

Balances with central banks

47,553,967

47,553,967

54,236,020

54,236,020

Cash and balances in hand
Cash and balances with
other banks

33,657,307

33,657,307

66,001,278

66,001,278

167,700,542 177,674,812
___________ ___________
248,911,816 297,912,110

177,674,812
___________
297,912,110

In thousands of Leones

Total liquidity reserve

167,700,542
___________
248,911,816
=========

=========

=========

=========

The table below set out the availability of the Bank’s financial assets to support future funding.
2017
In thousands of Leones
Cash and cash
equivalents
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Other financial assets
Non-financial assets
Total assets
2016
In thousands of Leones
Cash and cash
equivalents
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Other financial assets
Non-financial assets
Total assets

Encumbered
Pledge as
Collateral
Other

Unencumbered
Available as
collateral

Other

Total

248,911,816
248,911,816
82,051,200
82,051,200
505,527,608
505,527,608
740,000
740,000
__________________________________________________________
740,000
836,490,624
837,230,624
==========================================================
Encumbered
Unencumbered
Pledge as
Available as
Collateral
Other
collateral
Other
Total
298,604,610
298,604,610
77,113,696
77,113,696
334,489,527
334,489,527
692,500
692,500
__________________________________________________________
692,500
710,515,333
710,207,833
==========================================================
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5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Financial assets pledged as collateral
The total financial assets that had been pledged as collateral for liabilities at 31 December 2017 is
shown in the preceding table. Financial assets are pledged as collateral as part of sales and
repurchases, securities borrowing and securitisation transactions under terms that are usual and
customary for such activities.
(c) Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign
exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing)
will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.
Management of market risks
The Bank’s separate its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading
portfolios mainly are held by the treasury unit, and include positions arising from market making and
proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair
value basis.
Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Oversight Committee. ALCO is responsible for the
development of detailed risk management polices (subject to review and approval by the Oversight
Committee and for the day-to-day review of their implementation).
Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios
The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Bank’s trading
portfolios are limits placed on open positions. Specified limits have been set for open positions which
is the expected maximum exposure the Bank is to be exposed to.
The Bank uses open position limits for specific foreign exchange risks. The overall structure of the
limits is subject to review and approval by the Oversight Committee. Open position is measured at
least daily and more regularly for days of active trade. Regular reports of utilisation of open limits are
submitted to the Oversight/Management Committee.
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5. Financial risk review (continued)
(c) Market risks (continued)
Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the
future cash flows or fair values of financial instrument because of a change in market interest rate.
Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having preapproved limits for repricing bands. The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits
and is assisted by Market Risk in its day-to-day monitoring activities.
The table below sets out the allocation of assets and liabilities subject to market risk between trading
and non-trading portfolios:
31 December 2017
In thousands of Leones

Note

Market risk measures
Carrying
Trading
amount
portfolios

Non-trading
portfolios

Assets subject to market risk
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to
customers
Investment securities

19

248,911,816

-

248,911,816

20
21

82,051,200
505,527,608

-

82,051,200
505,527,608

24, 25

770,081,493

-

770,081,493

Market risk measures
Carrying
Trading
amount
portfolios

Non-trading
portfolios

Liabilities subject to
market risk
Deposits
31 December 2016
In thousands of Leones

Note

Assets subject to market risk
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to
customers

19

297,912,110

-

297,912,110

20

77,113,696

-

77,113,696

Investment securities

21

334,489,527

-

334,489,527

24, 25

706,789,599

-

706,789,599

Liabilities subject to
market risk
Deposits
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Effects of derivatives held for risk
management

Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities

31 December 2017

In thousands of Leones

(c) Market risks (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)

25
24

19
20
21

Note

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

-

-

-

-

-

3-6 months

248,911,816

Less than
3 months

-

504,727,608

-

6-12 months

-

82,051,200

-

1-5 years

-

800,000

-

More than
5 years

38

__________________________________________________________________________________
66,409,131
(510,035,410)
493,593,341
82,051,200
800,000
===================================================================================

770,081,493
758,947,226
11,134,267
__________________________________________________________________________________
770,081,493
758,947,226
11,134,267
__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________
836,490,624
248,911,816
504,727,608
82,051,200
800,000

505,527,608

82,051,200

248,911,816

Carrying
amount
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Effects of derivatives held for risk
management

706,789,599

Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities

31 December 2016

In thousands of Leones

Market risks (continued)

5. Financial risk review (continued)

25
24

19
20
21

Note

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

297,912,110
-

Less than
3 months
-

3-6 months
334,489,527

6-12 months

77,113,696
-

1-5 years

-

-

More than
5 years

39

__________________________________________________________________________________
2,725,734
(394,864,238)
320,476,276
77,113,696
==================================================================================

706,789,599
692,776,348
14,013,251
__________________________________________________________________________________
692,776,348
14,013,251
__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________
709,515,333
297,912,110
334,489,527
77,113,696
__________________________________________________________________________________

297,912,110
77,113,696
334,489,527

Carrying
amount
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk review (continued)
(c)

Market risks (continued)
The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the
sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest rate
scenarios.
Standard scenerios that are considered on a monthly basis include a 2% basis point (bp) parallel fall or
rise in market interest rates.
Overall non-trading interest rate risk positions are managed by Global Markets, which uses investment
securities, advances to customer’s deposits and derivative instruments to manage the overall position
arising from the Bank’s non-trading activities.
Exposure to other market risk – non-trading portfolios
Credit spread risk not relating to changes in the obligor/issuer’s Credit Standing on debt securities held
by treasury and equity price risk is subject to regular monitoring by credit risk, but is not currently
significant in relation to the overall results and financial position of the Bank.
Sensitivity of projected net interest income (Interest rate sensitivity analysis)
200 bp (2%)
Increase
2017

200bp (2%)
Decrease
2017

2,224,992
(100,678)
________
2,124,314
======

(2,224,992)
100,678
________
(2,124,314)
=======

2016

2016

1,082,107
(87,790)
________
994,317
======

(1,082,107)
87,790
________
(994,317)
======

In thousands of Leones
Interest income impact
Interest expense impact
Net impact
In thousands of Leones
Interest income impact
Interest expense impact
Net impact

The expected impact on net interest income have been based on a +/- two percent swing in interest
rates that may occur during the ensuing year. The computation considered interest income on cash
and short term funds, investment securities and loans and advances; and interest expense all of which
are deemed susceptible to interest rate change.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risks (continued)
Sensitivity of reported equity to interest rate movement

In thousands of Leones

200 bp (2%)
Increase
2017

200bp (2%)
Decrease
2017

1487,020
======

(1487,020)
=======

200 bp (2%)
Increase
2016

200bp (2%)
Decrease
2016

696,022

(696,022)

31 December 2017
Net (after tax) interest impact on retained earnings

In thousands of Leones

31 December 2016
Net (after tax) interest impact on retained earnings

======

Concentrations of assets, liabilities and off financial position items
2017
In thousands of
Leones
Cash and balances with
the Banks
Treasury bills and other
eligible bills
Loans and advances to
customers
Property, plant and
equipment

=======

Le

Euro

USD

GBP

Others

Total

76,503,920

10,834,368

141,605,631

19,967,897

-

248,911,816

505,527,608

-

-

-

-

505,527,608

82,051,200

-

-

-

-

82,051,200

31,054,435

-

-

-

-

31,054,435

6,716,910

666,050

2,026,535

-

-

9,409,495

Total assets
Liabilities

701,854,073

11,500,418

143,632,166

19,967,897

-

876,954,554

Due to customers
Deposit from banks

568,541,062

9,944,079

176,751,795

14,844,557

-

770,081,493
-

Other liabilities

42,183,632

-

-

-

-

42,183,632

Total liabilities
Net on-financial
position

610,724,694

9,944,079

176,751,795

14,844,557

-

812,265,125

91,129,379

1,556,339

(33,119,629)

5,123,340

-

64,689,429

Other assets
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risks (continued)

Concentrations of assets, liabilities and off financial position items
2016
In thousands of
Leones
Cash and balances with
the Banks
Treasury bills and other
eligible bills
Loans and advances to
customers
Property, plant and
equipment
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customers
Deposit from banks
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Net on-financial
position

Le

Euro

79,459,797 11,171,342

USD
189,401,728

GBP

Others

17,879,243

Total
297,912,110

334,489,527

-

-

-

-

334,489,527

77,113,696

-

-

-

-

77,113,696

29,572,361

-

-

-

-

29,572,361

6,532,572

-

692,500

-

-

7,225,072

-

746,312,766

527,167,953 11,171,342
497,182,920

11,977,804

34,021,581

-

531,204,501 11,977,804
(4,036,548)

(806,462)

42
165

190,094,228

17,879,243

180,240,187

17,388,688

180,240,187
9,854,041

17,388,688
490,555

-

706,789,599
-

-

34,021,581

-

740,811,180

-

5,501,586
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risks (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
Concentration of Leone equivalent of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities.
2017
In thousands of Leones
Cash and balances with
the Bank
Loans and advances to
customers
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customer
Other liabilities
Deposit from banks
Total liabilities
Net on financial
position

Euro

US$

GBP

Others

Total

10,834,368

141,605,631

19,967,897

-

172,407,896

666,050
2,026,535
2,692,585
___________________________________________________________________
11,500,418
143,632,166
19,967,897
175,100,481
___________________________________________________________________
9,944,079
176,751,795
14,844,557
201,540,431
___________________________________________________________________
9,944,079
176,751,795
14,844,557
201,540,431
__________________________________________________________________
1,556,339
(33,119,629)
5,123,340
- 1,410,783,017
__________________________________________________________________

2016
In thousands of Leones
Cash and balances with
the Bank
Loans and advances to
customers
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customer
Other liabilities
Deposit from banks
Total liabilities
Net on financial
position

Euro

US$

GBP

Others

Total

11,171,342

189,401,728

17,879,243

-

218,452,313

-

-

-

-

-

692,500
692,500
____________________________________________________________________
11,171,342
190,094,228
17,879,243
219,144,813
____________________________________________________________________
11,977,804
180,240,187
17,388,688
209,606,679
____________________________________________________________________
11,977,804
180,240,187
17,388,688
209,606,679
___________________________________________________________________
(806,462)
9,854,041
490,555
9,538,134
____________________________________________________________________
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5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(d) Capital management
(i)

Regulatory capital

The Bank’s regulator, Bank of Sierra Leone sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as
a whole.
In implementing current capital requirements, Bank of Sierra Leone requires the Bank to maintain
a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets.
The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:


Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, retained earnings and other regulatory
adjustments relating to items that are included in equity but are treated differently for capital
adequacy purposes;



Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, collective impairment
allowances and the element of the fair value reserve relating to unrealised gains on equity
instruments classified as available-for-sale, asset revaluation reserves and high bond (debt
equity’s capital instruments).
Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The amount of innovative Tier 1
securities cannot exceed 15 percent of total Tier 1 capital; qualifying Tier 2 capital cannot exceed
Tier 1 capital; and qualifying term subordinated loan capital may not exceed 50 percent of Tier 1
capital. There also are restrictions on the amount of collective impairment allowances that may
be included as part of Tier 2 capital. Other deductions from capital include the carrying amounts
of investments in the capital of Banks and certain other regulatory items.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(d) Capital management (continued)
(i)

Regulatory capital
Banking operations are categorized as either trading book or non-trading book, and risk-weighted
assets are determined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels
of risk attached to assets and exposures not recognised in the statement of financial position.
The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.
The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Bank
recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible
with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.
The Bank has complied with all external imposed capital requirements throughout the year.
There have been no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the period.

(ii)

Capital adequacy ratio
In accordance with Section 20 (4) of the Banking Act of Sierra Leone, the Bank is to maintain a
capital adequacy ratio measured as a percentage of the capital base of the Bank to its risk
weighted assets in line with regulations or directions, which the Central Bank may from time to
time prescribe.
In thousands of Leones
1.

Tier 1 capital
Issued capital
Retained profit and reserves
Share premium
Less equity instruments

2.

Tier 2 capital
Capital reserves (25%)

Total capital base
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2017

2016

38,118,869
(52,976,192)
49,090,909
____________
34,233,586
(800,000)
____________
33,433,586
----------------------

38,118,869
(107,676,065)
49,090,909
___________
(20,466,287)
(800,000)
___________
(21,266,287)
----------------------

4,389,146
___________
4,389,146
___________
37,822,732
========

__________
__________
(21,266,287)
========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
5.

Financial risk review (continued)
(d) Capital management (continued)
(ii)

Capital adequacy ratio (continued)
Risk weighted asset base

2017

Weighted
amount

2016
Weighted
amount

Amount

Weighting
%

167,647,192

20

33,529,438

35,477,867

82,051,200
9,409,495
31,054,435
____________
290,162,322
____________
Off balance sheet accounts

100
100
100

82,051,200
9,409,495
31,054,435
___________
156,044,568
___________

77,113,696
7,225,072
29,572,361
___________
149,388,996
___________

Weighted
amount

2016
Weighted
amount

3,062,414
___________
3,062,414
___________
159,106,982
=========

4,040,648
___________
2,941,730
___________
153,429,644
=========

Capital adequacy ratio

23.77%
======

(13.86%)
======

Core capital ratio

21.01%
======

(13.86%)
======

Foreign cash and
Nostro balances
Advances (non
cash guaranteed)
Other assets
Fixed assets

Performance bonds
acceptances (cash
securities)

Total

2017

Amount

Weighting
%

6,124,827
___________
6,124,827
___________
296,287,149
=========

50

The Bank’s capital adequacy and core capital ratios are above the statutory minimum of 15% and
7.5% respectively as required by current prudential guidelines for commercial banks
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Financial risk review (continued)
(d) Capital management (continued)
(ii)

Capital adequacy ratio (continued)
Capital allocation
Management uses regulatory capital ratios to monitor its capital base. The Banking Supervision
Document (BSD 5) is used for this purpose. The allocation of capital between specific operations
and activities is, to a large extent, driven by optimisation of the return achieved on the capital
allocated. The amount of capital allocated to each operation or activity is based primarily on the
regulatory capital, but in some cases the regulatory requirements do not fully reflect the varying
degree of risk associated with different activities. In such cases, the capital requirements may be
flexed to reflect differing risk profiles, subject to the overall level of capital to support a particular
operation or activity not falling below the minimum required for regulatory purposes. The
process of allocating capital to specific operations and activities is undertaken independently of
those responsible for the operation by Bank Risk and Bank Credit, and is subject to review by the
Bank Credit Committee or the Bank Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO), as
appropriate.
Although maximisation of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in
determining how capital is allocated within the Bank to particular operations or activities, it is not
the sole basis used for decision making. Account also is taken of synergies with other operations
and activities, the availability of management and other resources, and the fit of the activity with
the Bank’s longer term strategic objectives. The Bank’s policies in respect of capital management
and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Oversight Committee.

6.

Fair value of financial instruments
See accounting policy in note 38(h)
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the Bank determines
fair values using other valuation techniques.
For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less
objective, and requires varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty
of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.
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Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(a)

Valuation models
The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements.
•

Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
instruments.

•

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly
observable from market data.

•

Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the
valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable
inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences
between the instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with
similar instruments for which market observable prices exist Black-Scholes and polynomial option
pricing models and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques
include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premia used in estimating
discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index
prices and expected price volatilities and correlations.
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price
that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and
more simple financial instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps that use only observable
market data and require little management judgement and estimation. Observable prices or model
inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded
derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of
observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and
estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. Availability of
observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to
changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.
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6.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(b)

Valuation framework
The Bank has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This
framework includes a Product Control function, which is independent of front office management
and reports to the Director of Finance, and which has overall responsibility for independently
verifying the results of trading and investment operations and all significant fair value
measurements. Specific controls include:
• verification of observable pricing;
 re-performance of model valuations
 a review and approval process for new models and changes to models involving both Product
Control and Bank Market Risk;
 quarterly calibration and back-testing of models against observed market transactions;
 analysis and investigation of significant daily valuation movements; and
 review of significant unobservable inputs, valuation adjustments and significant changes to the
fair value measurement of Level 3 instruments compared with the previous month, by a
committee of senior Product Control and Bank Market Risk personnel.

(c)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value – fair value hierarchy
The following table analyses financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them by
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorized.

31 December 2017
Assets

In thousands of Leones
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to
customers
Investment securities

Liabilities
Deposits from customers
31 December 2016

Level 1
-

Level 2

Level 3

Total
fair
values

248,911,816

-

248,911,816

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to
customers
Investment securities

Liabilities
Deposits from customers

248,911,816

82,051,200
82,051,200
82,051,200
- 505,527,608
505,527,608
505,527,608
_____________________________________________________________

- 754,439,424 82,051,200
836,490,624
836,490,624
___________________________________________________________

Assets
In thousands of Leones

Total
Carrying
amount

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total fair
values

-

297,912,110

-

297,912,110

Total
carrying
amount
297,912,110

77,113,696
77,113,696
77,113,696
- 334,489,427
334,489,427
334,489,527
_____________________________________________________________
- 633,401,537
77,113,696
709,515,333
709,515,333
- 706,789,599
706,789,599
706,789,599
_____________________________________________________________
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6.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(c)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value – fair value hierarchy
Where available, the fair value of loans and advances is based on observable market transactions.
Where observable market transactions are not available, fair value is estimated using valuation
models, such as discounted cash flow techniques. Input into the valuation techniques includes
expected lifetime credit losses, interest rates, prepayment rates and primary origination or
secondary market spreads. For collateral-dependent impaired loans, the fair value is measured based
on the value of the underlying collateral.
To improve the accuracy of the valuation estimate for retail and smaller commercial loans,
homogeneous loans are grouped into portfolios with similar characteristics such as vintage, LTV
ratios, the quality of collateral, product and borrower type, prepayment and delinquency rates, and
default probability.
The fair value of deposits from banks and customers is estimated using discounted cash flow
techniques, applying the rates that are offered for deposits of similar maturities and terms. The fair
value of deposits payable on demand is the amount payable at the reporting date.

7.

Operating segments
Business segmentation
The Bank operates three main business segments:
1)

Retail Banking

- Incorporating private banking services, private customer
current
accounts, savings, deposits, investments savings products, custody,
consumer loans and other financial products

2)

Corporate Banking

- Incorporating direct debt facilities, current accounts, deposits,
overdrafts, loans and other credit facilities, foreign currency and
other financial products; and

3)

Money Transfer

- Incorporating money transfers between jurisdictions.

Transactions between the business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions.
Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments, resulting in funding cost transfers disclosed in operating
income. Interest charged for these funds is based on the Bank’s cost of capital. There are no other
material items of income or expense between the business segments.
Segment assets and liabilities comprise operating assets and liabilities, being the majority of the balances
in the statement of financial position, but exclude items such as taxation and borrowings.
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7.

Operating segments (continued)
Business segments (continued)
Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments have been reflected in the performance of each
business. Revenue sharing agreements are used to allocate external customers revenues to a business
segment on a reasonable basis.

Net interest income
Net interest income
In thousands of Leones

Interest income
Interest expense

2017

2016
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49,715,854

4,389,500

54,105,354

106,215,678

5,033,924

Net interest income

111,249,602

8.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
8.

Net interest income (continued)

See accounting policy in note 38(c)

In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

1,713,162
15,283,162
94,253,278
___________
111,249,602
___________

1,625,703
11,909,920
40,569,731
__________
54,105,354
__________

(5,033,924)
___________
(5,033,924)
___________
106,215,678
==========

(4,389,500)
__________
(4,389,500)
__________
49,715,854
========

(a) Interest income
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances to customers
Investment Securities
Total interest income
(b) Interest expense
Deposits from customers
Total interest expense
Net interest income

The Le 94 billion (2016: Le40 billion) of interest on investment securities for the year ended 31
December relate to interests earned on Government Securities.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
9.

Fee and commission income

See accounting policy in note 38(d)
In thousands of Leones

Credit related fees and commission
Trade finance and other fees
Commission on turnover
Total fee and commission income
Fees and commission expense
Fees and commission paid

Net fees and commission income

2017

2016

1,677,806
5,349,062
9,110,558
__________
16,137,426
__________

738,494
3,854,374
8,112,053
__________
12,704,921
__________

__________
__________

__________
__________

16,137,426
========

12,704,921
========

Credit related fees and commission relate to establishment fees earned on loans and advances other than
interest income.
Trade finance and other fees relate to income on import and export finance transactions, issue of letters of
credit, guarantees and other similar transactions.
Commission on turnover relates to fees earned on activities of the Bank relating to outward and inward
remittance service charges on current accounts, and other earnings on similar commission related
transactions.

10. Net trading income

See accounting policy in note 38(d)

In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

Foreign exchange gains

18,968,379
========

20,642,795
========

The foreign exchange net trading income includes gains and losses from spot transactions and translated
foreign currency assets and liabilities.

11. Other operating income
In thousands of Leones
Rent received
Sale of fixed asset
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2017

2016

77,654
33,091
_______
110,745
======

62,680
_______
62,680
=====
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
12. Personnel expenses

See accounting policy in note 38(r)
In thousands of Leones

Salaries and allowances
Compulsory social security obligations
Expenses related to post employment
Service cost
Interest cost
Other employee cost

(a)

Other employee benefits

2017

Restated
2016

36,866,064
1,592,476

30,207,547
1,230,316

1,883,555
3,612,452
1,047,443
__________
45,001,990
==========

1,661,585
1,739,717
1,493,987
__________
36,333,152
========

The Bank maintains a post-employment defined benefit plan in accordance with statutory requirements,
which entitles an employee to receive a lump sum payment when leaving the employment of the bank,
whether due to resignation, retirement or death. The lump sum payment is determined by the final basic
salary and number of years of service provided. These defined benefit plans expose the Bank to actuarial
risks such as interest rate risk.
(i)

Movement in net defined benefit liability
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the
net defined benefit liability and its component.
In thousands of Leones
Liability at 1 January
Expense recognised in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income
Current service cost
Interest on obligation
Past service cost

Included in other comprehensive income
Actuarial loss

Other
Recovery frolm provident fund
Benefits paid by the plan
Liability for defined benefit obligation
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2017

2016

17,456,249
_________

14,291,584
__________

1,883,555
3,612,452
1,746,484
_________
7,242,491
_________

1,661,585
1,739,717
1,493,987
_________
4,895,289
_________

2,508,067
_________
2,508,067
_________

665,594
__________
665,594
__________

53,894
(957,539)
___________
26,303,162
========

(2,396,218)
__________
17,456,249
========
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12. Personnel expenses (continued)
(a)

Other employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Movement in plan assets
In thousands of Leones
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning
of the reporting period
Contribution paid into the plan
Benefits paid by the plan
Actuarial (losses)/gains
Expected return on plan assets
Fair value of plan assets

13. Operating expenses
In thousands of Leones
13.1 Depreciation
13.2 Other operating expenses
In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

957,539
(957,539)
________
======

2,396,218
(2,396,218)
________
======

2017

2016

2,453,269
=======

2,276,047
=======

2017

2016

Other operating expenses
287,500
300,000
454,509
1,264,743
7,978,886
6,099,806
8,415,421
7,313,297
1,092,742
713,771
3,186,412
1,992,138
7,631,657
6,013,970
__________
___________
Total operating expenses
29,047,127
23,697,725
========
=========
Included in the above costs is non-executive directors’ remuneration of Le 57.31 million (2016: Le
90.38million).
Audit fees
Legal and professional fees
Property Cost
Computer costs
Communications
Travel
Others

14. Net impairment loss on loans and advances
In thousands of Leones
This comprises:
New provisions
Provision released
Recovery of amounts previously written off
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2017

2016

4,730,360
(2,501,428)
__________
2,228,932
========

19,401,576
(156,538)
___________
19,245,038
========
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14. Net impairment loss on loans and advances (continued)
14.1. Advances written off

These relate to various long outstanding overdraft balances that could not be recovered by the Bank as at
31 December as follows:
Overdraft written off
In thousands of Leones
Long outstanding overdraft balances
Balance at year end

15.

2017

2016

_________
=======

_________
=======

Earnings per share
Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank
by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, excluding the average number of
ordinary shares purchased by the Bank and held as treasury shares.
In thousands of Leones
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank
No. of shares in issue 1 January
Effect of shares issued during the year
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue (in thousands)
Basic earnings per share (expressed in Leones
per share)

2017

2016

52,319,380
=======
38,118,869
__________

1,507,028
========
38,118,869
__________

38,118,869
========

38,118,869
========

1.37
====

0.04
====

Diluted
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Bank had no category of
dilutive potential ordinary shares as at 31 December 2017; hence diluted and basic earnings per share are
the same.

16. Dividends
The directors do not recommend a dividend this year. (2016: Le nil per share).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
17. Taxation

See accounting policy in note (38(f)

Income tax expense
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
In thousands of Leone
(a)

2016

10,177,626
________
-

________
-

-

-

203,904

67,260

________
10,381,530
======

_________
67,260
=======

2017

Restated
2016

62,700,910
========

1,574,288
=======

18,810,273

472,287

(23,296)
(58,834)

(18,804)
(25,643)

(8,346,613)
__________

(360,580)
_________

10,381,530
==========

67,260
=======

Current tax expense:
Current year at 30% (2016:30%)
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary
differences
Deferred tax charge
Unrecognized deferred tax asset
Total income tax expense

(b)

2017

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
In thousands of Leones
Profit before income tax
Income tax using the
Corporation tax rate
Reconciliation of opening position
Tax impact of permanent difference:
Tax exempt income
Tax incentives
(Deferred tax asset not recognised)/
deferred tax charge
Total income tax expense in
the income statement
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
17. Income tax expense (continued)
(c)

Deferred tax account
In thousands of Leones
Balance brought forward
Charge for the year
Actuarial gain tax
Balance at end of year

(d)

2016

6,383,806
203,904
(752,420)
__________
5,832,290
========

6,516,224
67,260
(199,678)
_________
6,383,806
=======

2017

2016

(2,108,655)
10,177,626
(1,005,000)
__________
7,063,971
========

(1,108,634)
(1,000,021)
__________
(2,108,655)
========

Current tax assets/liabilities
In thousands of Leones
Balance at 1 January
Charge for the year
Income tax paid
Balance at end of year

(e)

2017

Deferred tax asset and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
In thousands of Leones

Asset

2017
Liabilities

Net

Restated
2016
Asset Liabilities

Net

Property, plant and
6,016,944
6,016,944
- 5,813,040
5,813,040
equipment
Employee benefit
(7,687,143)
- (7,687,143)
(5,785,489)
- (5,785,489)
Actuarial gain tax
(203,804)
(203,804)
548,616
548,616
Allowance on loan
Losses
(2,824,728)
- (2,824,728)
(2,895,369)
- (2,895,369)
Exchange gains/
(loss) unrealized
22,150
22,150
22,150
22,150
Tax loss
(19,774,433)
- (19,774,433) (29,952,059)
- (29,952,059)
Unrecognized
deferred tax asset
30,286,304 30,286,304
38,632,917
- 38,632,917
____________________________________________________________________
Net tax (asset)/
liabilities
(30,490,108)
36,325,398
5,835,290
- 6,383,806
6,383,806
=======================================================================
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
17.

Income tax expense (continued)
(e)

Deferred tax asset and liabilities (continued)
Movement in temporary differences during the year
2017
In thousands of Leones

Opening
balance

Recognised
in profit and

Recognised
in equity

Closing
balance

Property, plant and
equipment
5,813,040
203,904
6,016,944
Employee benefit
(5,785,489)
(1,901,654)
- (7,687,143)
Allowance on loan
(2,895,369)70,641
- (2,824,728)
Losses
Foreign exchange loss
22,150
22,150
Tax loss carry forward
(29,952,059)
10,177,626
- (19,774,433)
Actuarial gains
548,616
(752,420)
(203,804)
Derecognised deferred
tax asset
38,632,917
(8,346,613)
- 30,286,304
___________________________________________________
6,383,806
203,904
(752,420)
5,835,290
====================================================
2016
In thousand of Leones
Property, plant and
equipment
Employee benefit
Allowance on loan
Losses
Foreign exchange loss
Tax loss carry forward
Actuarial gains
Derecognised deferred
tax asset

(f)

Restated
Recognised Recognised
in profit and
in equity

Opening
balance

5,745,780
(5,035,768)

67,260
(749,721)

(4,105,027)
22,150
(29,852,702)
748,294

1,209,658
(99,357)
-

-

-

Closing
balance

5,813,040
(5,785,489)

- (2,895,369)
22,150
- (29,952,059)
(199,678)
548,616

38,993,497
(360,580)
- 38,632,917
__________________________________________________
6,516,224
67,260
(199,678)
6,383,806
==================================================
Recognised deferred tax assets
Derecognition of deferred tax assets of Le8.13 billion (2016: Recognition Le360.51million) is based
on management’s profit forecasts (which are based on the available evidence, including historical
levels of profitability), which indicates that it is probable that the Bank will have future taxable
profits against which these assets can be utilised.
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18.

183

Deposits from customers

Deposit from banks

Investment securities
Measured at amortised cost

-

-

-

Held to
maturity

82,051,200

248,911,816

Loans and
receivables

-

-

Other
Available
for sales

-

-

Total
amortised
cost

82,051,200

248,911,816

Total
carrying
value

82,051,200

248,911,816

Fair
value

60

770,081,493
770,081,493 770,081,493
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ ___
770,081,493
770,081,493 770,081,493
===============================================================================================

- 505,527,608
505,527,608
505,527,608 505,527,608
__________________________________________________________________________________________________
505,527,608
330,963,016
505,527,608
836,490,624 836,490,624
__________________________________________________________________________________________________
-

-

Loans and advances to
customers

Measured at amortised cost

-

Trading

Cash and cash equivalent

31 December 2017

In thousands of Leones

Designated
at fair
value

The table below provides reconciliation between line items in the financial position categories of financial instruments:

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Deposits from customers

Deposit from banks

-

-

-

Held to
maturity

77,113,696

297,912,110

Loans and
receivables

-

-

Other
Available
for sales

-

-

Total
amortised
cost

77,113,696

297,912,110

Total
carrying
value

77,113,696

297,912,110

Fair
value

61

- 706,189,599
706,789,599 706,789,599
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ ___
- 334,489,527
75,025,806
- 706,189,599
2,725,734
2,725,734
============================================================================================

- 334,489,527
334,489,527 334,489,527
__________________________________________________________________________________________________
- 334,489,527
75,025,806
709,515,333 709,515,333
__________________________________________________________________________________________________
-

-

Loans and advances to
customers
Measured at amortised cost

Investment securities
Measured at fair value

-

Cash and cash equivalent

31 December 2016

In thousands of Leones

Trading

Designated
at fair
Value

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited

Rokel Commercuak Bank (Sierra
Leone)Statements
Limited
Financial
for the year ended
31 December
2017
Financial
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
19.

Cash and cash equivalents

See accounting policy in note 38(i)
In thousands of Leones
Cash in hand
Balance with the Central Bank
Balances with other Banks (Nostros)
Items in clearing from other Banks
Cash and cash equivalents included in the
statement of cash flows

2017

2016

33,657,307
47,553,967
167,647,192
53,350
____________

66,001,278
54,236,020
177,389,335
285,477
___________

248,911,816
=========

297,912,110
=========

Balances with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

Loans and advances to customers

See accounting policy in note 38(j)

a.

Loans and advances to customers at amortized costs
In thousands of Leone
Loans and advances to customers at
amortized costs

Analysis by type of customer

2017

2016

82,051,200
___________
82,051,200
==========

77,113,696
___________
77,113,696
==========

Loans and advances by customer

2017

3,209,916

188,326,251

Individuals and
other private
enterprises
Staff
3,455,475

b.

122,657,395

20.

2016
62
185

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel Commercial Bank (SierraFinancial
Leone) Limited
Statements
Financial
for the year ended
31statements
December 2017
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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20.

Loans and advances to customers (continued)
b.

Analysis by type of customer (continued)
In thousands of Leone

2017

122,657,395
188,326,251
3,455,475
3,209,916
___________
____________
126,112,870
191,536,167

Individuals and other private enterprises
Staff
Gross loans and advances

(43,204,358) (113,425,161)
(140,344)
(138,344)
(716,968)
858,966)
___________
____________
82,051,200
77,113,696
============
===========

Less: allowances for impairment
Fair value adjustment on staff loan
Deferred facility income
Net loans and advances
c.

2016

Analysis by sector
2017

2016

Loans and advances by sector 2017
In Thousands Of Leones
2,901,814
0

0

Loans and advances by sector
2016
In Thousands of Leone

2,648,465
12,294,133

16,070,694

12,017,115

7,982,885

0
8,456,287

32,141,388

3,049,772
0
14,266,099

99,812,171

106,008,214

Agriculture, forestry and fishing

Agriculture, forestry and fishing

M anufaturing

M anufacturing
Construction

Construction

Electricity

Comm erce and finance

Com merce and finance
Electricity

Transport, storage and comm unication

63

Services
M ining and quarrying
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20.

Loans and advances to customers (continued)
c.

Analysis by sector (continued)
In thousands of Leones
Agriculture, forestry and fishing
Manufacturing
Construction
Commerce and finance
Transport, storage and communication
Service
Mining and quarrying
Less: allowance for impairment
Fair value adjustment on staff loan
Deferred facility income
Net loans and advances

d.

Type of advance

64
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2017

2016

2,901,814
12,294,133
2,648,465
8,456,287
99,812,171
____________
126,112,870
(43,204,358)
(140,344)
(716,968)
____________
82,051,200
============

12,017,115
7,982,885
32,141,388
3,049,772
14,266,099
106,008,214
16,070,694
____________
191,536,167
(113,425,161)
(138,344)
(858,966)
____________
77,113,696
============
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20. Loans and advances to customers (continued)
d. Type of advance (continued)
In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

48,327,099
77,785,771
____________
126,112,870

87,105,195
104,430,972
___________
191,536,167

(43,204,358)
(140,344)
(716,968)
____________
82,051,200
== =========

(113,425,161)
(138,344)
(858,966)
___________
77,113,696
===========

Carrying
amount

Gross
amount

2016
Impairment
Carrying
allowance
amount

16,400,061
3,515,200

49,489,491
3,209,916

Loans
Overdrafts

Write off of long outstanding overdraft
Less: allowances for impairment
Fair value adjustment on staff loan
Deferred facility income
Net loans and advances
e. Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
Retail
customer:

Gross
amount

Impairment
allowance

26,999,587
3,515,200

(10,599,526)
-

2017

In thousands
of Leones
Personal loans
Staff loans

(27,510,289)
-

21,979,202
3,209,916

Corporate
Customer:
Short and long
term loan
lending

Deferred
facility
income
Fair value
adjustment
on staff loan

95,598,083
(32,604,832)
62,993,251
138,836,760
(85,914,872)
52,921,888
_______________________________________________________________________________
126,112,870

(43,204,358)

82,908,512

191,536,167

(113,425,161)

78,111,006

(716,968)

-

(716,968)

(858,966)

-

(858,966)

(140,344)

-

(140,344)

(138,344)

-

(138,344)

_______________________________________________________________________

125,255,558
(43,204,358)
82,051,200
191,536,167 (113,425,161)
77,113,696
============================================================ ================
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20. Loans and advances to customers (continued)
f.

Allowances for impairment
In thousands of Leones
Specific allowance for impairment
Balance at 1 January
Loan recoveries
Impairment losses for the year:
Charge for the year
Write-offs
Others
Balance at 31 December

2017

2016

112,168,487
(2,501,428)

153,978,374
-

2,464,404
(66,035,429)
(6,414,306)

23,277,230
(58,928,346)
(6,158,771)

_____________

_____________

_____________

_____________

2017

2016

1,256,674

5,288,866

39,681,728

112,168,487

General allowances for impairment
In thousands of Leones
Balance at 1 January
Impairment losses for the year:
Charge/(reversal) for the year

2,265,956

Balance at 31 December

g.

_____________

2017

2016

113,425,161

159,267,240

4,730,360
(66,035,429)
(2,501,428)
(6,414,306)
___________
43,204,358

19,245,038
(58,928,346)
(6,158,771)

3,522,630
==========
43,204,358
==========

Grand total

(4,032,192)

___________

1,256,674
========
113,425,161
=========

Allowances for impairment
In thousands of Leones
Movement in allowance for impairment
Balance at 1 January
Impairment losses for the year:
Provision for loan impairment
Write-offs
Loan recoveries
Others
Balance at 31 December

_____________

66
189

_____________

113,425,161

_____________

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra
Leone)Statements
Limited
Financial
for the year ended
31 December
2017
Financial
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
20. Loans and advances to customers (continued)
h.

Loan and advance analysis (BSL)
In thousands of Leones
Gross Loans and advance
Less:
Deferred facility income
Fair value adjustment on staff loan
Write off during the year
Balance at 31 December

2017

2016

126,112,870

191,536,167

(716,968)
(140,344)
(32,539,169)
__________
92,716,389

(858,966)
(138,344)
(71,131,968)
____________

119,406,889

_____________

_____________

2017

2016

43,204,358
(32,539,169)
___________
10,665,189
___________
82,051,200
___________

113,425,161
(71,131,968)
___________
42,293,193
___________
77,113,696
___________

Allowances for impairment
In thousands of Leones
Balance at 31 December
Less write off during the year
Balance at 31 December
Net Loans and advances
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
21. Investment securities
See accounting policy in note 38(k)
In thousands of Leones
(a) Held to maturity investment securities
Other eligible bills (treasury bearer bonds)
for sale assets recognised in equity

2017

2016

504,727,608
___________
504,727,608
___________
504,727,608
===========

333,689,527
___________
333,689,527
___________
333,689,527
=========

2017

2016

504,727,608
___________
504,727,608
==========

333,689,527
___________
333,689,527
=========

2017

2016

Held to maturity investment securities
In thousands of Leones
Government treasury bills

Available for sale investment securities
In thousands of Leones
Government treasury bills

_______
__________
======
======
For the purpose of the cash flows statement investment securities with a maturity period greater than three
months from the reporting date have been treated as part of investing activities, whilst investment securities
with maturity period of three months or less from the reporting date have been treated as cash and cash
equivalents in the statement of cash flows.
Treasury bills are debt securities issued by the Government of Sierra Leone through the Bank of Sierra Leone
for a term of three months, six months or one year. All bills are subject to variable interest rate risk.
(b) Ordinary shares
First discount house Limited
Capital Discount house

Grand total

68
191

2017

2016

450,000
350,000
________
800,000
======

450,000
350,000
________
800,000
======

505,527,608
=========

334,489,527
=========

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Financial Statements
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
22. Property and equipment

See accounting policy in note 38(l)

In thousands of Leones
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2016
Additions
Write off
Balance at 31 December 2016
Balance at 1 January 2017
Additions
Write off
Balance at 31 December 2017
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses
Balance at 1 January 2016
Depreciation for the year
Write off
Balance at 31 December 2016
Balance at 1 January 2017
Depreciation for the year
Write off
Balance at 31 December 2017
Carrying amounts
Balance at 1 January 2016
Balance at 31December 2016
Balance at 1 January 2017
Balance at 31December 2017

Office
premises

Plant
machinery,
vehicles and
office equipment

Total

32,550,745
30,326,011
62,876,756
1,709,506
1,709,506
(26,390,317)
(26,390,317)
__________________________________________________
32,550,745
5,645,200
38,195,945
==================================================
32,550,745
5,645,200
38,195,945
230,000
3,922,252
4,152,252
(241,010)
(241,010)
__________________________________________________
32,780,745
9,326,442
42,107,187
===================================================

6,009,522
26,728,332
32,737,854
863,322
1,412,725
2,276,047
(26,390,317)
(26,390,317)
________________________________________________
6,872,844
1,750,740
8,623,584
================================================
6,872,844
1,750,740
8,623,584
863,322
1,589,947
2,453,269
(24,101)
(24,101)
_________________________________________________
7,736,166
3,316,586
11,052,752
==================================================
26,541,223
3,597,679
30,138,902
========================================
25,677,901
3,894,460
29,572,361
=========================================
25,677,901
3,894,460
29,572,361
=========================================
25,044,579
6,009,856
31,054,435
=========================================

There are no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of plant and equipment during
the year (2016: nil).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
23. Other assets
In thousands of Leones
Bills receivable
Other receivable and prepayments
Accrued receivables

24. Deposits from banks
In thousands of Leones
Other deposits from banks

25. Deposits from customers

See accounting policy in note 38(o)
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2017

2016

666,050
7,454,532
1,288,913
_________
9,409,495
=========

1,814,120
4,010,498
1,400,454
__________
7,225,072
==========

2017

2016

=======

=======
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
25. Deposits from customers (continued)
In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

Retail customers:
Current accounts
Savings accounts
Time deposits
Customer’s foreign currency funds held

191,412,493
167,476,718
365,994,302
315,692,951
11,134,267
14,013,251
201,540,431
209,606,679
___________
___________
770,081,493
706,789,599
===========
===========
At 31 December 2017 Le 11.13 billion (2015: Le 14.01 billion) of deposits from customers are
expected to be settled more than 12 months after the reporting date.

26. Other liabilities
In thousands of Leones
Sundry creditors
Accrued interest
Unpaid dividend
Defined benefit plan

2017

2016

12,305,794
845,535
2,729,141
26,303,162
__________
42,183,632
==========

13,005,748
830,443
2,729,141
17,456,249
__________
34,021,581
========

2017

2016

26,303,162
__________
26,303,162
__________

17,456,249
__________
17,456,249
__________

26,303,162
__________

17,456,249
__________

Defined benefit obligation
See accounting policy in note 38(r)
In thousands of Leones
Present value of unfunded obligation
Present value of funded obligation
Total present value of obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of net obligation
Unrecognised actuarial losses
Recognised liability for defined
benefit obligation
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
26. Other liabilities (continued)
Defined benefit obligation (continued)
In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

__________
26,303,162

__________
17,456,249

18,521,264
2,508,067
(957,539)
1,883,555
3,612,452
1,746,484
__________
27,314,283
(1,011,121)
-------------------26,303,162
============

16,850,587
665,594
(2,396,218)
1,661,585
1,739,716
1,493,987
__________
18,521,264
(1,065,015)
-----------------17,456,249
===========

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

16%
15%
14%

20%
19%
18%

Plan assets consist of the following:
Equity securities
Government bonds
Property occupied by the Bank
Bank’s own ordinary shares
Liability for defined benefit obligation
Movement in the present value of
defined benefit obligation
Liability at beginning of the period
Actuarial loss
Benefit paid by the plan
Current service cost
Interest cost
Past service cost
Provident Fund Contribution
Liability for defined benefit obligation
Key valuation assumptions
Summary of economic assumption
Basis item
Discount rate
Salary inflation
Inflation

The above assumption depict the experience of the actuary of the likely future experience of the
Bank.
Discount rate
The economic assumptions have been set with reference to Sierra Leone market interest rate at the
valuation date. Based on research of the actuary, Sierra Leone does not appear to have a deep market and
liquid market in corporate bonds, therefore the Government bond yields apply, and furthermore, there
does not seem to be treasury bonds with duration longer than one year in Sierra Leone.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
26. Other liabilities (continued)
Key valuation assumptions (continued)
Summary of economic assumption (continued)
Salary inflation
A large increase in (the discount rate considered in isolation would reduce the liability materially and
consequently the basis as a whole needs to be considered and in particular the relationship between the
discount rate and the inflation rate used for salary growth. While market inflation has not increased at the
same levels as the discount rate, the actuary believes it is appropriate to relate the increase in inflation to
the increase in the discount rate. The actuary has however acknowledge that as the discount rate rises, the
gap between the two can be expected to decrease, so therefore allowing for that difference to decrease
from 1% to 4%. The inflation rate is therefore set at 14%.
Demographic assumption
The rates of mortality assumed for employee are the rates published in the A67/70 tables, published jointly
by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries in the United Kingdom.
Retiring age
The actuary has assumed that all staff members retire at the age of 60 and therefore no allowance has
been made for early retirement and the Bank is monitoring experience in this area to ensure consistency of
the assumption.
Sensitivity analysis
The results of the valuation are sensitive to the assumption chosen. The table below gives an indication of
the sensitivity of the results to changes in the main valuation assumptions:
Accrued liability
at 31 December
2017
Le’000
27,314,284

Base case
Base case
Discount rate

Salary increase

Mortality experience

+1%

24,574,169

-1%

30,391,850

+1%

30,523,702

-1%

24,423,559

Age rated up by 1 year

27,274,222

Age rated down by 1 year

27,254,293
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
26. Other liabilities (continued)

Key valuation assumptions (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)
Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it
does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumption shown.

27. Share capital

See accounting policy in note 38(s)
In thousands of Leones
Authorised share capital

Ordinary shares of Le 1.00 each
Balance at 1 January
Increase during the year
Balance at 31 December
Issued share capital
Ordinary shares of Le 1 each
Balance at 1 January
New shares issued
Balance at 31 December

2017
No. of shares
Proceeds
In thousands
Le’000

2016
No. of shares
In thousands

Proceeds
Le’000

60,000,000
__________
60,000,000
==========

60,000,000
__________
60,000,000
=========

60,000,000
60,000,000
__________ __________
60,000,000
60,000,000
= ========
========

38,118,869
__________
38,118,869
==========

38,118,869
__________
38,118,869
========

38,118,869
__________
38,118,869
=========

38,118,869
__________
38,118,869
=========

The shareholding structure of the Bank at the reporting date was as follows:
In thousands of Leones

Government of Sierra Leone
Other corporate and private
Individuals

No. of shares
In thousands

2017

2016

%

No. of shares
In thousands

24,786,078

65

24,786,078

65

13,332,791
___________
38,118,869
========

35
____
100
===

13,332,791
__________
38,118,869
========

35
_____
100
====

%

All ordinary shares rank equally with regards to the Bank’s residual assets. The holders of ordinary shares
are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Bank.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
28. Share premium

See accounting policy in note 38(s)
In thousands of Leone

2017

2016

49,090,909
=========

49,090,909
========

2017

2016

17,556,582
32,856,725
(475,545)
__________
49,937,762
==========

17,556,582
19,776,880
1,280,102
4,136,140
__________
42,749,704
=========

Balance at 1 January and 31 December

29. Dividend
No dividend was declared by the Bank for 2017 (2016: Nil).

30. Reserves and retained earnings
In thousands of Leones
Capital reserve at 1 January
Statutory reserves 30(b)
Other reserves 30(d) (ii)
Statutory loan loss reserves 30(d) (i)
Total reserve as at 31 December
(a) Capital reserves

The capital reserves represent surpluses arising from the revaluation of the freehold buildings of the
Bank.
(b) Statutory reserves
In accordance with Section 24 of the Banking Act of Sierra Leone the Bank is to maintain a statutory
reserve account into which transfers from the net profit of the Bank’s should be made. A transfer of Le
13.08 billion was made this year as the Bank’s reserve funds is more than fifty percent of its paid up
capital fund, but less than hundred percent of its paid-up capital.
In thousands of Leones
Balance at 1 January
Transfer from net profits
Balance at 31 December
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2017

2016

19,776,880
13,079,845
__________
32,856,725
==========

19,023,366
753,514
__________
19,776,880
========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30. Reserves and retained earnings (continued)
(c) Fair value reserve
In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

Treasury bills provision

_________
=========

_________
=========

Balance at 31 December

This reserve relates to gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset recognised directly in equity,
until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(d) Other reserves
i.

Statutory loan loss reserve
In thousands of Leones
Balance 1 January
Transfer (to)/from retained earnings
Note (30(e)

2017

2016

4,136,140

27,733,817

(4,136,140)
__________
==========

(23,597,677)
__________
4,136,140
=========

The statutory loan loss reserves is the excess of impairment losses computed under the prudential
guidelines over the impairment losses computed under International Financial Reporting
Standards, appropriated from retained earnings.
ii.

Others
In thousands of Leones
At 1 January
Actuarial loss
Taxation thereof
At 31 December
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2017

2016

1,280,102
(2,508,067)
752,420
_________
(475,545)
=========

1,746,018
(665,594)
199,678
_________
1,280,102
=========
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
30. Reserves and retained earnings (continued)
(e) Movements in retained earnings were as follows:
In thousands of Leones

2017

At 1 January
Net profit for the year

(128,733,047)
52,319,380
___________
(76,413,667)
(13,079,845)

(153,084,238)
1,507,028
____________
(151,577,210)
(753,514)

4,136,140
____________
(85,357,372)
============

23,597,677
____________
(128,733,047)
============

Dividends
Transfer to statutory reserves
Allowances for statutory loan
losses Note 30(d)(i)
At 31 December

31. Contingencies and commitments

2016

The Bank entered into various commitments in the normal course of banking business, which are
not reflected in the statement of financial position.
In thousands of Leones
Customs and other guarantees
Letters of credits

32. Capital commitment

2017

2016

6,124,827
_________
6,124,827
=========

8,081,295
__________
8,081,295
==========

Commitment for capital expenditure at 31 December 2017 amounted to nil (2016: nil.).

33. Related party disclosures
Related parties transactions
A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business.
These include loans, deposits and foreign currency transactions. The volume of related party transactions,
outstanding balances at the end of the year and related expense and income for the year are as follows:
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
33. Related party disclosures (continued)
Related parties transactions (continued)
In thousands of Leones

2017

2016

1,192,043
556,000
(310,366)
_________
1,437,677
=========

743,175
863,000
(414,132)
________
1,192,043
========

1,366,588
57,312
_________
1,423,900
=========
The Bank operates a profit sharing scheme for its employees.

2,009,839
90,375
_________
2,100,214
=========

Loans and overdrafts to Management and Directors:
Outstanding at 1 January
New loans given
Repayment during the year

Director Remuneration
Executive directors remuneration
Non-executive directors fees

34. Subsequent events
Events subsequent to the balance sheet date are reflected only to the extent that they relate directly to the
financial statements and their effect is material. The Bank is subject to further regulatory considerations
as required by the Banking Act and Banking Regulations.

35.

Financial risk management

(a)

Introduction and overview
The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:





credit risk
liquidity risk
market risks
operational risks.

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Bank’s management of capital.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
35.

Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Introduction and overview (continued)
Risk management framework
The Oversight Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s
framework.
The Oversight Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the risk management policies and
procedures, reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the
Bank, the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Bank’s risk management systems and controls and also
consider the implications of changes proposed to regulations and legislation that are material to the Bank’s
risk appetite and management of risk. The Oversight Committee is assisted in these functions by the Head
of Compliance. The Head of Compliance undertakes both regular and ad-hoc review of risk management
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Oversight Committee.
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the Bank’s compliance with financial accounting policies
and pronouncements, keep under review the appropriateness of the accounting policies and internal
controls systems, consider external auditor’s report and also reviewing the resources, scope, authority and
operations of the Country Audit function. The Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by the Head
of Audit. The Head of Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of audit management controls
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

(b)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and advances to
customers. For risk management reporting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of
credit risk exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, and sector risk).
Settlement risk
The bank’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlemet of transaction and trade. Settlement risk
is the risk of loss due to the failure of a company to honour its obligation to deliver cash securities or other
assets as contractually agreed.
Management of credit risk
The Oversight Committee, is responsible for oversight of the Bank’s credit risk, including:


Formulating credit policies covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and
reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory
requirements.



Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. All facilities
require the prior approval of the Bank’s Executive Committee. Larger facilities require approval by the
Oversight Committee as appropriate.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
35.

Financial risk management (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)
Management of credit risk


Reviewing and assessing credit risk the Bank’s Executive Committee assesses all credit exposures, prior
to facilities being committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same
review process.



Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties and industries (for loans and advances).



Developing and maintaining the Bank’s risk gradings in order to categorise exposures according to the
degree of risk of financial loss faced and to focus management on the attendant risks. The risk grading
system is used in determining where impairment provisions maybe required against specific credit
exposures. The current risk grading framework consists of five grades reflecting varying degrees of risk
of default and the availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation. The responsibility for setting
risk grades lies with the final approving executive/committee as appropriate. Risk grades are subject to
regular reviews by the Credit Policy Committee/Early Alert Committee.



Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits, including those for selected industries, and product
types. Regular reports are provided to the Critised Assets Committee on the credit quality of
loan/advances portfolios and appropriate corrective action is taken.



Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to promote best practice throughout the Bank in the
management of credit risk.
The Bank is required to implement credit policies and procedures, with credit approved authorities
delegated from the Oversight Committee.

(c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial assets.
Management of liquidity risk
The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank’s reputation. The key
elements of the Bank’s liquidity strategy are as follows:
•

Maintaining a diversified funding base consisting of customer deposits (both retail and
corporate) and wholesale market deposits and maintaining contingency facilities.

•

Carrying a portfolio of highly liquid assets, diversified by currency and maturity.

•

Monitoring liquidity ratios, maturity mismatches, behavioural characteristics of the Bank’s
financial assets and financial liabilities, and the extent to which the Bank’s assets are
encumbered and so not available as potential collateral for obtaining funding.

•

Carrying out stress testing of the Bank’s liquidity position.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
35. Financial risk management (continued)
(c)

Liquidity risk
Management of liquidity risk (continued)
Management receives information from other business units regarding the liquidity profile of their
financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from projected future
business. Management then maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of
short-term liquid investment securities, loans and advances to customers, to ensure that sufficient
liquidity is maintained within the Bank as a whole. The liquidity requirements of the Bank are met
through short-term investment to cover any short-term fluctuations and longer term funding to
address any structural liquidity requirements.
When the Bank is subject to a liquidity limit imposed by its local regulator, the Bank is responsible for
managing its overall liquidity within the regulatory limit in co-ordination with management.
Management monitors compliance of all operating activities with local regulatory limits on a daily
basis.
The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a
variety of scenarios covering both normal and more severe market conditions. All liquidity policies
and procedures are subject to review and approval by ALCO. Daily reports cover the liquidity position
of the Bank. A summary report, including any exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted
regularly to ALCO.

(d)

Market risks
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign exchange
rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing) will affect the
Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimizing the return on risk.
Management of market risks
The Bank’s separate its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading
portfolios mainly are held by the treasury unit, and include positions arising from market making and
proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair value
basis.
Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Oversight Committee. ALCO is responsible for the
development of detailed risk management polices (subject to review and approval by the Oversight
Committee and for the day-to-day review of their implementation).
Exposure to market risks – trading portfolios
The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Bank’s trading portfolios
are limits placed on open positions. Specified limits have been set for open positions which is the expected
maximum exposure the Bank is to be exposed to.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
35. Financial risk management (continued)
(d)

Market risks (continued)
The Bank uses open position limits for specific foreign exchange risks. The overall structure of the limits is
subject to review and approval by the Oversight Committee. Open position is measured at least daily and
more regularly for days of active trade. Regular reports of utilisation of open limits are submitted to the
Oversight/Management Committee.
Exposure to interest rate risk – non-trading portfolios
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the
future cash flows or fair values of financial instrument because of a change in market interest rate. Interest
rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by having pre-approved limits for
repricing bands. The ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits and is assisted by
Market Risk in its day-to-day monitoring activities.

(e)

Operational risks
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the
Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit,
market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Bank’s operations.
The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that
restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk
is assigned to senior management within the Bank. This responsibility is supported through the Bank’s
Operational Risk and Assurance Methodology Framework (ORMAF) in the following areas:











Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of
transactions;
Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
Documentation of controls and procedures;
Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and
procedures to address the risk identified;
Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;
Development of contingency plans;
Training and professional development;
Ethical and business standards;
Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

Compliance with Bank standards is supported by a programme of independent periodic reviews
undertaken by the Head of Compliance. The results of internal audit reviews are discussed with the
management of the Bank with summaries submitted to the senior management of the Bank.

82
205

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra
Leone)Statements
Limited
Financial
for the year ended
31 December
2017
Financial
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

36.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the following material
item.

37.

Item

Measurement basis

Net defined benefit liability

Present value of the
defined benefit
obligation

Changes in accounting policies
There were no changes in accounting policies in 2017.

38. Significant accounting policies
The Bank has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these

financial statements.

Set out below is an index of the significant accounting policies, the details of which are available on the
pages that follow.
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)
(l)
(m)
(n)
(o)
(p)
(q)
(r)
(s)
(t)

Foreign currency
Interest
Fees and commission
Net trading income
Leases
Income tax
Financial assets and financial liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and advances
Investment securities
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Impairment of non-financial assets
Deposits
Provisions
Financial guarantees
Employees benefits
Share capital and reserves
Earnings per share
Segment reporting

206
207
208
208
209
212
217
217
218
219
220
220
221
222
222
222
223
224
224
225

(a) Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the Bank at
the spot exchange rate at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into the functional currency at the spot
exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)

Foreign currency (continued)
Foreign currency transactions (continued)
between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective
interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the
spot exchange rate at the end of the year.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value
are retranslated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for
differences arising on the retranslation of available-for-sale equity instruments or a financial liability
designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge, which are recognised directly in equity.

(b)

Interest
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss for all interest-bearing instruments
measured on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
The recognition of interest ceases when the payment of interest on principal is in doubt. Interest is
included in income thereafter, only when it is received.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, (or where appropriate, a shorter
period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument but not future credit losses. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes
all transaction costs, fees and interest paid or received that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to acquisition
or issue of a financial asset or liability.
Interest income and expenses presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI include:
o

Interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated on an
effective interest basis.

o

Interest on available-for-sale investment securities on an effective interest basis.

o

Fair value changes

Interest income and expenses in all trading assets and liabilities are considered to be incidental to the
Bank’s trading operations and are presented together with all other changes in the fair value of
trading assets and liabilities in net trading income.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)

Interest (continued)
Fair value changes on the other derivative held for risk management purposes and other financial
assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are presented in net income from
other financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive
income.

(c)

Fees and commissions
Fees and commissions income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a
financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.
Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees,
sales commission, placement fees and syndication fees, are recognised as the related services are
performed. When a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, the
related loan commitment fees are recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.
Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are
expensed as the services are received.

(d)

Net trading income
Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and liabilities and includes all
realised fair value changes, interest, and foreign exchange differences.

(e)

Leases
(I) Lease payments - Leases
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance
expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each
period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.
Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the
remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.
(ii)

Lease assets – Lessee
Assets held by the Bank under leases that transfer to the Bank all of the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased asset is initially measured at an amount
equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payment.
Subsequent to initial recognition the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy applicable to that asset.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Leases (continued)
(ii)

Lease assets – Lessee (continued)
Asset held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognized in the
Bank’s statement of financial position.

(iii)

Lease assets – lessor
If the Bank is the lessor in a lease payment that transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the asset to the lessee, then the arrangement is classified as a finance
lease and a receivable equal to the net investment in the lease is recognized and presented
within loans and advances.

(f) Income tax
(i)

Tax expense
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.

(ii) Current tax
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivables in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or
received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes if any. It is measured using the rates
enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.
(iii)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of
goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that it not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be utilized. Future taxable profits are determined based on business plans
of the Bank and the reversal of temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Income tax (continued)
(iii) Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary
differences when they reverse, based on the laws and rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against current tax assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis of
their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in
which the Bank expects at the reporting date to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities. For this purpose the carrying amount of investment property measured at fair
value is presumed to be recovered through sale and the Bank has not rebutted this presumption.
Unrecognised deferred assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be
used.
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends by the Bank are recognised
at the same time as the liability to pay the related dividend is recognised. These amounts are
generally recognized in profit or loss because they generally relate to income arising from
transactions that were not originally recognized in profit or loss.
(iv) Tax exposures
In determining the amount of asset and deferred tax, the Bank takes into account the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment
relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events.
New information may become available that causes the bank to charge its judgement regarding
the adequacy of existing tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in
the period that such a determination is made.
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities
(i)

Recognition
The Bank initially recognised loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and
subordinated liabilities on the date at which they are originated. Regular way purchases and
sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date at which the Bank commits to purchase
or sell the asset. All other financial assets and liabilities (including assets and liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss) are initially recognised on the trade date, which is the date
that the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(i)

Recognition

(ii) Classification
Financial assets
The Bank classifies its financial assets in one of the following categories:





loans and receivables,
held to maturity;
available-for-sale; or
at fair value through profit or loss and within the category as
- held for trading; or
- designated at fair value through profit or loss.

See (h), (i), (j) and (k)
Financial liabilities
The Bank classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost or fair value through
profit or loss.
(ii) Derecognition
Financial assets
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in such
transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank
is recognised as a separate asset or liability. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the
asset transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset
obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest in such transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created by
the Bank is recognized as a separate asset or liability.
The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of
financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained,
then the transferred assets are not derecognized. Transfers of assets with retention of all or
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38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(ii)

Derecognition (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
substantially all risks and rewards include for example securities lending and repurchase
transactions.
When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total rate of return swap on the
transferred assets, the transaction is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to
sales and repurchase transactions became the Bank retains all or substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of such assets.
In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to
which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
In certain transactions the Bank retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for
a fee. The transferred asset is derecognized if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or
liability is recognised for the servicing contract, depending on whether the servicing fee is more
than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing.
The Bank securitises, various consumer and commercial financial assets, which generally results
in the sale of these assets to special-purpose entities, which is turn issue securities to investors.
Interests in the securitized financial assets may be retained in the form of senior or subordinated
tranches, interest-only strips or other residual interests (“retained interest”). Retained interests
are primarily recorded in available-for-sale investment securities and carried at fair value. Gains
or losses on securitization depend in part on the carrying amount of the transferred financial
assets, allocated between the financial assets derecognized and the retained interests based on
their relative fair values at the date of the transfer. Gains or losses on securitization are recorded
in other operating income.
Financial liabilities
The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled or expire.

(iii) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when and only when the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and it
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs, or for gains
and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
(v) Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
liability is measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial
amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
(vi) Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in
its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair
value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or
liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an
ongoing basis.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that
maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would
take into account in pricing a transaction.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
transaction price, i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. The Bank determines
that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor
based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair
value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized
in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the
valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk
that are managed by the Bank on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk are
measured on the basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long position (or paid to
transfer a net short position) for a particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-level adjustments are
allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each
of the individual instruments in the portfolio.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(vi) Fair value measurement (continued)
The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted
from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid. The Bank recognises
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during
which the change has occurred.
‘Fair value’ is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date.
When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an
active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis.
If a market for a financial instrument is not active, then the Bank establishes fair value using a
valuation technique. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs,
relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Bank, incorporates all factors that market
participants would consider in setting a price and is consistent with accepted economic
methodologies for pricing financial instruments.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the
transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. However, in some
cases the initial estimate of fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition may be
different from its transaction price. If this estimated fair value is evidenced by comparison with
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument (without modification or
repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from
observable markets, then the difference is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of the
instrument.
In other cases, the fair value at initial recognition is considered to be the transaction price and the
difference is not recognised in profit or loss immediately but is recognised over the life of the
instrument on an appropriate basis or when the instrument is redeemed, transferred or sold, or
the fair value becomes observable.
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
Where the Bank has positions with offsetting risks, mid-market prices are used to measure the
offsetting risk positions and a bid or ask price adjustment is applied only to the net open position
as appropriate.
The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted
from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(vii) Identification and measurement of impairment
At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is (are) impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s), and that the loss event has an impact on the
future cash flows of the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:
-

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer
default or delinquency by a borrower,
the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not
consider otherwise,
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy,
the disappearance of an active market for a security,
observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status
of borrowers or issuers in the Bank, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in
the Bank.

In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair
value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.
The Bank considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held-to-maturity
investment securities at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant loans
and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities are assessed for specific impairment.
All individually significant loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities found
not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been
incurred but not yet identified. Loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities
that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together
loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar risk characteristics.
In assessing collective impairment the Bank uses statistical modeling of historical trends of the
probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for the
probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that
the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical modeling. Default
rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against
actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.
Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between
the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against
loans and advances. Interest on impaired assets continues to be recognised through the
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(vii) Identification and measurement of impairment (continued)
unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to
decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring the
cumulative loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive
income to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal
repayment and amortization, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are
reflected as a component of interest income.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases
and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal
recognised in profit or loss.
However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity
security is recognised in other comprehensive income.
The Bank writes off certain loans and advances and investment securities when they are
determined to be uncollectible.
(viii) Designation at fair value through profit or loss
The Bank has designated financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the
following circumstances:
o The assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis.
o The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise.
Note 17 sets out the amount of each class of financial asset or liability that are measured at
amortised costs and or classified as available for sale.
A description of the basis for each designation is set out in the note for the relevant asset or
liability class.
(h) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with the
central bank and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than three months or less
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
from the reporting date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are
used by the Bank in the management of its short-term commitments.
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.
(i)

Loans and advances
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and that the Bank does not intend to sell immediately or in the near
term.
Loans and advances to banks are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and advances to customers
include:




those classified as loans and receivables
those designated as at fair value through profit or loss; and
finance lease receivables

Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method. When the Bank
chooses to designate the loans and advances as measured at fair value through profit or loss as
described in the accounting policy, they are measured at fair value with face value changes recognized
immediately in profit or loss.
When the Bank is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the asset to the lessee, the arrangement is classified as a finance
lease and a receivable equal to the net investment in the lease is recognised and presented within
loans and advances.
When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the
asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (“reverse repo” or “stock
borrowing”), the arrangement is accounted for as a loan or advance, and the underlying asset is not
recognised in the Bank’s financial statements.
(j)

Investment securities
Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus in case of investment securities not at
fair value through profit or loss, incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently accounted for
depending on their classification as either held to maturity, fair value through profit or loss, or
available for sale.
(i)

Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investment are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and which
are not designated as at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(j)

Investment securities (continued)
(i)

Held-to-maturity (continued)
Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less any impairment losses. A sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of heldto-maturity investments would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments
as available for sale, and would prevent the Bank from classifying investment securities as held
to maturity for the current and the following two financial years.
However, sales and reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not trigger a
reclassification.

(ii)

o

Sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of
interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value;

o

Sales or reclassifications after the Bank has collected substantially all of the asset’s original
principal; and

o

Sale or reclassifications that are attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the
Bank’s control that would not have been reasonably anticipated.

Fair value through profit or loss
The Bank does not hold any securities designated at fair value, with fair value changes
recognised immediately in profit or loss as at 31 December 2017.

(iii)

Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated as available
for sale or are not classified as another category of financial assets. Unquoted equity securities
whose fair value cannot reliably be measured are carried at cost. All other available-for-sale
investments are measured at fair value after initial recognition.
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Foreign
exchange gains or losses on available-for-sale debt security investments are recognised in profit
or loss.
Other fair value changes other than impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the investment is sold or impaired, whereupon the cumulative gains and losses
previously recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
A non-derivative financial asset may be reclassified from the available-for-sale category to the
loans and receivables category if it would otherwise have met the definition of loans and
receivables and if the Bank has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the
foreseeable future or until maturity.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)

Property and equipment
(i)

Recognition and measurement
Items of property and equipment are measured at costs less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is
capitalized as part of that equipment.
If significant parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, then they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of the property and equipment.
Any gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is recognized within other income in
profit or loss.
Land and buildings comprise mainly branches and offices. All property, plant and equipment
are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use,
and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located.

(ii)

Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate
asset as appropriate only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

(iii)

Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their costs less their residual values and is generally recognized in profit or
loss. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful lives
unless it is reasonably certain that the Bank will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.
The estimated useful lives of significant items of property and equipment are as follows:
Freehold building
Leasehold property with 50 years or more to run
Leasehold property with less than 50 years to run
Expenditure on rented property
Adaptation costs
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)

Property plant and equipment (continued)
(iii)

Depreciation (continued)
Computers
Vehicles
Other equipment

Over 3 years
Over 5 years
Over 5 years

Depreciation methods useful lives and residual values are revalued at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.
The assets ‘residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.
Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.
These are included in profit or loss.
(l)

Intangible assets
Computer software
Software acquired by the Bank is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.
Expenditure on internally developed software is recognised as an asset when the Bank is able to
demonstrate its intention and ability to complete the development and use the software in a
manner that will generate future economic benefits and can reliably measure the costs to complete
the development.
The capitalized costs of internally developed software include all costs directly attributable to
developing the software and capitalized borrowing costs and are amortised over its useful life.
Internally developed software is stated at capitalized cost less accumulated amortization and
impairment.
Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is
expensed as incurred.
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
the software from the date that it is available for use since this most closely reflects the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated
useful life of software is three to five years.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(l)

Intangible assets
Computer software (continued)
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and
adjusted if appropriate.

(m)

Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than investment property and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For
goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use,
the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating
unit” or “CGU”). Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at
which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
reporting purposes.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.
The Bank’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a
corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which
the corporate asset belongs.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group
of units) on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(n)

Deposits
Deposits are the Bank’s sources of debt funding.
When the Bank sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase
the asset (or a similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (“repo” or “stock lending”), the
arrangement is accounted for as a deposit, and the underlying asset continues to be recognised in
the Bank’s financial statements.
Deposits and debts securities issued are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct
transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except where the Bank chooses to carry the liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

(o)

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event the Bank has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
(i)

Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Bank has approved a detailed and formal
restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced
publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for.

(ii) Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by
the Bank from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under
the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost
of terminating the contact and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a
provision is established, the Bank recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated
with that contract.
(p)

Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised
initially at their fair value, and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of the financial
guarantee. The financial guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised
amount and the present value of any expected payment when a payment under the guarantee has
become probable. Financial guarantees are included within other liabilities.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(q)

Employee benefit
(i)

Short term benefits
Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related services provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus or
profit sharing plans if the Bank has a present legal and constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be
reliably estimated.
(ii) Defined contribution plans
The Bank pays contributions to the National Social Security and Insurance Trust on a
mandatory basis. The Bank has no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense in profit and loss
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
(iii) Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution
plan. The Bank’s net obligation in respect of its defined benefit plan is calculated by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present
value. Any unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are
deducted.
The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method.
The Bank recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans and all
expenses related to defined benefit plans in employee benefit expense in OCI.
(iv) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Bank before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Bank recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to
present value.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(r)

Share capital and reserves
(i)

Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted
from the initial measurement of the equity instruments.

(ii)

Share premium
Share premium is measured as the excess of the issue price over the per value of the
ordinary shares.

(iii)

Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in equity in the period in which they are paid to
the Bank’s shareholders. Dividends for the period that are declared after the financial
position date are dealt with in the subsequent events note.

(iv)

Statutory reserves
Statutory reserves are based on the requirements of section 24 of the Banking Act of Sierra
Leone. Transfers into statutory reserves are made in accordance with the relationship
between the Bank’s reserve fund and its paid up capital, which determines the proportion of
profits for the period that should be transferred.

(v)

Statutory loan loss reserves
This is a reserve created to set aside the excess between amounts recognized as impairment
loss on loans and advances based on provisions made for bad and doubtful loans and
advances calculated in accordance with IFRS and the Central Bank’s prudential guidelines.

(vi)

Other reserves
Other reserves represent net actuarial gains or losses on the defined benefit obligation of
the Bank.

(s)

Earnings per share
The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is
determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, which comprise share options granted to employees.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
38. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(t)

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Bank that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions
with any of the Bank’s other components, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the
Management Committee (being the chief operating decision maker) to make decisions about
resources allocated to each segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available.

39.

Standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2017 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted the
following new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements.
Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)
The amendments require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flow and non-cash
changes.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
adoption permitted.
Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (Amendments to IAS 12)
The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments
measured at fair value.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early
adoption permitted.
The Bank is assessing the potential impact on its financial statements resulting from the amendments. So
far, the Bank does not expect any significant impact.
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.
IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted.
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments'
In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted.
The Bank currently plans to apply IFRS 9 initially on 1 January 2018.
The actual impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the Bank’s financial statements in 2018 is not known and cannot
be reliably estimated because it will be dependent on the financial instruments that the Bank holds and
economic conditions at that time as well as accounting elections and judgments that it will make in the
future. The new standard will require the Bank to revise its accounting processes and internal controls
related to reporting financial instruments and these changes are not yet complete.
(i)

IFRS 9 Implementation strategy
The Bank’s IFRS 9 implementation process will be governed by a Steering Committee whose
members will include representatives from risk finance, operations and IT functions. The Steering
Committee will meet regularly to challenge key assumptions, approve decision and monitor the
progress of the implementation work in the Bank, including evaluation of whether the project has
sufficient resources.

ii.

Classification - Financial assets
IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the
business model in which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics.
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL).The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and
receivables and available for sale.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL.


The asset is held within a business model whose objectives is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows, and selling financial asset; and



The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the bank may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. The election is made on an investmentby-investment basis.
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39. Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
ii.

Classification - Financial assets (continued)
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
A financial asset is classified into one of these categories on initial recognition. However for
financial assets held at initial application, the business model assessment is based on facts and
circumstances at that date. Also, IFRS 9 provides new elective designation at FVTPL or FVOCI to be
made on the date of initial application and permits or requires revocation of previous FVTPL
elections at the date of initial application depending on the facts and circumstances at that date.
Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of
the standard are never bifurcated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed
for classification.
Business model assessment
The bank will make an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset
is held at a portfolio level, because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management. The information that will be considered includes:
 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the durations of the financial assets to the
duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the4 sale of
the assets;
 How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the bank’s management;
 The risk that affects the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those risks are managed;
 How managers of the business are compensated e.g whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
 The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales actively will not be
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the bank’s stated objective
for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realized.
Financial assets that are held for trading or that are managed and whose performance is evaluated
or a fair value basis will be measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual
cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
ii.

Classification - Financial assets (continued)
Business model assessment (continued)
For the purpose of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the
credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g liquidity risk and administrative costs as well as profit
margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
bank will consider the contractual terms of the instrument. This will include assessing whether the
financial assets contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.
In making the assessment, the bank will consider:





contingents events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
leverage features
payment and extension terms
terms that limits the bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements); and
 features that modify consideration for the time value of money – e.g. periodic reset of interest
rates.

Preliminary impact assessment
Based on a preliminary high-level assessment of possible changes for the classification and
measurement of financial assets held as at 31 December 2017, the bank’s current expectation is
that:
 trading assets and derivatives assets held for risk management that are classified as held-fortrading and measured at FVTPL, under IAS 39 would also be measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9
 loans and advances to banks and to customers that the classified on loans and receivables and
measured at amortised cost under IAS 39 would in general also be measured at mortised cost
under IFRS 9.
 Held to maturity investment securities measured at amortised cost under IAS 39, would in
general also be measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9.
 debt securities that are classified as available for sale under IAS 39 may under IFRS 9 be
measured at amortised cost FVOCI or FVTPL, depending on the particular circumstances
 investment securities designated as an FVTPL under IAS 39 would in general continue to be so
designated under IFRS 9; and
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
ii.

Classification - Financial assets (continued
Preliminary impact assessment (continued)
 equity securities classified as available-for-sale under IAS 39 would generally be measured at
FVTPL under IFRS 9.
The classification and measurement assessment as at 31 December 2017 may not necessarily
represent the impact on the bank’s financial statements as at 1 January 2018 because IFRS 9
requires the business model assessment to be undertaken based on the fact and circumstances
that exist at the date of initial application, which will be 1 January 2018 for the bank. Furthermore
the financial assets held on initial application will not be the same as those held at 31 December
2017 and how they are managed may not be the same.
Moreover, the bank’s preliminary assessment has not included a detailed review of the contractual
terms of all financial assets which is ongoing and how it has not yet finalized its policies and
methods for analyzing certain prepayment features and variable interest rate features.

iii.

Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the 'incurred loss' model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking 'expected credit loss'
(ECL) model. This will require considerable judgement over how changes in economic factors affect
ECLs, which will be determined on a probability-weighted basis.
The new impairment model will apply to the following financial instruments that are not measured
at FVTPL:





financial assets that are debt instruments;
lease receivables;
financial guarantee contracts issued; and
loan commitment issued

No impairment loss will be recognized on equity investments.
Under IFRs 9, the bank will recognise loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss (ECL) except in the following cases where the amount recognized will be 12 month ECL.
 debt investments securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
 other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased
significantly since their initial recognition.
The assessment of whether credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly will be one of
the critical judgments in implementing the impairment model of IFRS 9. It is described below:
Loss allowances for lease receivables will always be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
12 months ECL are the portion of ECL, that results from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses and will be measured as follows:
 financial assets that are not credit impaired at the reporting date. The present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e the differences between the cash flows due to the bank in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the bank expects to receive);
 financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;
 undrawn loan commitments: the present value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the bank if the commitment is draw down and the cash flows that the bank
expects to receive; and
 financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts
that the bank expects to recover.
Financial assets that are credit-impaired are defined by IFRs 9 in a similar way to financial assets
that are impaired under IAS 39.
Definition of default
Under IFRS 9, the bank will consider an assets to be in default when:
 the borrower is unlikely to pay his credit obligation to the bank in full, without recourse by the
bank to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
 the borrower is past due more than 90 days in any material credit obligation to the bank.
Overdraft are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or
been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.
This definition is largely consistent with the definition that is expected to be used for regulatory
purpose from 1 January 2018.
In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank will consider indications that are:
 qualitative e.g. breaches of covenant
 quantitative e.g. – overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to
the Bank; and
 based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significant may
vary other time to reflect changes in circumstances.
107
230

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra
Leone)Statements
Limited
Financial
for the year ended
31 December
2017
Financial
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant income in credit
Under IFRS 9, when determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Bank will consider reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort including both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical experience and expect
credit assessment and including forward looking information.
The Bank is currently formulating its detailed methodologies for assessing increases in credit risk
under IFRS 9.
The Bank expects that identifying whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an
exposure will entail comparing:
 the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) at the reporting date; with
 the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial
recognition of the exposure.
Credit risk grades
The Bank will allocate each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is
determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experiences credit judgment and the
Bank expects to use these grades for the purpose of identifying significant increases in credit risk
under IFRS 9. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are
indicative of risk of default. These factors may vary depending on the nature of the exposure and
the type of borrower.
Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases
exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates for example, the differences in risk of default between
credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference between credit risk grades 2 and 3.
Each exposure will be allocated to a credit risk grades at initial recognition based on available
information about the borrower. Exposure will be subject to ongoing monitoring which may result
to an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade.
Generating the term structure of PD
Credit risk grades are expected to be a primary input into the determination of the term structure
of PD for exposures. The Bank intends to collect performance and default information about its
credit risk exposures analysed by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading.
For some portfolios information purchased from external credit reference risk agencies may also be
used.
The Bank is designing and testing statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate
estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a
result of the package of time.
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
This analysis is expected to include the identification and calibration of relationship between
changes in default rates and changes in key macro-economic factors as well as in-depth analysis of
the impact of certain other factors (e.g. forbearance experience) on the risk of default. For most
exposures key macro-economic indicators are likely to include GDP growth bench mark interest
rates and unemployment.
For exposures to specific industries the analysis may extend to relevant commodity and for real
estate prices.
The bank intends to formulate a ‘base case’ view of the future directions of relevant economic
valuables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios based on advice
from the bank market risk committee and economic experts and consideration of a variety of
external actual and forecast information. The bank plants to use these forecasts to adopt its
estimate of PDs.
Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly
The criteria for determining whether credit risks has increased significantly varies by portfolio and
will include, quantitative changes in PDs and qualitative factors, including a back stop based on
delinquency.
The Bank expects that it will deem the credit risk of a particular exposure to have increase
significantly since initial recognition if, based on the Bank’s quantitative modelling the remaining
lifetime. PD is determined to have increased by more than a predetermined percentage or range.
In certain instances using its expert credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical
experience, the Bank may determine that an exposure ….. undergo a significant increase in credit
risk based on particular quantitative indications that it considers are indicative of this and whose
effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. As a
backstop and as required by IFRS 9, the Bank will presumptively consider that a significant increase
in credit risk occurs no later than when an asset is more than 30 days, past due. The Bank expose
to determine days past due by counting the number of 30 days. Since the earliest elapsed due date
in respect of which full payments has not been received.
The Bank intends to monitor the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in
credit risk by regular review to confirm that:




the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is
in default;
the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due; and
there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12 months PD
(stage 1) and lifetime PD (stage 2).
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39.

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Inputs into measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are likely to be the term structure of the following
variables:




probability of default (PD);
loss given default (LGD);
exposure at default (EAD)

In general the Bank expects to derive those parameters from internally developed statistical
models and other historical data. They will be adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as
described above.
PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which the Bank expects to calculate based on
statistical rating models, and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various categories of
counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are expected to be based on internally
compiled data comprising both qualitative and quantitative factors. Where it is available market
data may also be used to derive the PD for large corporate counterparties. If a counterparty or
exposure migrates between rating classes, then this will lead to a change in the estimate of the
associated PD. PDs will be estimated considering the contractual measures of exposures and
estimated prepayment rates.
LGD use the magnitude of the likely loss if there is default. The Bank plans to estimate LGD
parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. It
expects the LGD models to consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty
industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. For loans secured
by retail property, LTV ratios are likely to be a key parameter in determining LGD. The bank expects
to calibrate LGD estimates for different economic scenarios and for real estate lending, to reflect
possible changes in property prices. They will be calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using
the effective interest rate as the discounting favor. The LGD may differ from the amounts used for
regulatory purposes. The principal differences relate to removal of conservative regulatory add-ons
and downturn calibration assumptions, inclusion of forward-looking information and use to
multiple economic scenarios and the discount rate used.
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank expects to derive the
EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount
allowed under the contract including amortization. The EAD of a financial asset will be the gross
carrying amount at default. For lending commitments and financial guarantees the EAD will
consider the amount drawn as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn or repaid under
the contract, which will be estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking
forecasters. For some financial assets, the bank expects to determine EAD by modelling the range
of possible exposure outcome at various point in time using scenario and statistical techniques.
The EAD may differ from that used for regulatory purposes. The principal differences relate to: only
irrecoverable undrawn commitments being included for accounting purposes, removal of
conservative bias adjustments and down calibration assumptions and adjustments to remove any
excess over the contractual maximum amount.
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Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Inputs into measurement of ECL (continued)
As described above the subject to using a maximum of a 12 months PD for financial assets for
which credit risk has not significantly increased, the Bank will measure ECL considering the risk of
default over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s extension option) over
which it is exposed to credit risk, even if for risk management purposes, the Bank considers longer
period. The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the bank has the right to
require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.
For retail overdrafts and credit facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment
component the bank will measure ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if
the Bank’s contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel undrawn commitment does not
limit the Bank’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. These facilities do not
have a fixed term or repayment structure and are managed on a collective basis. The Bank can
cancel them with immediate effect but that contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-today management, but only when the Bank becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility
level. This longer period will be estimated taking into account the credit risk management actions
that the Bank expects to take and that serve to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits
cancellation of the facility and/or turning the outstanding balance into cash with fixed repayment
terms.
Forward-looking information
Under IFRS 9, the Bank will incorporate forward-looking information into both its assessment of
whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and
the measurement of ECL. Based on advice from the Bank market risk committee and economic
expects, the consideration of a variety of external actual and forecast information, the Bank intends
to formulate a ‘base case’ view of the future duration of relevant economic variables as well as
representative range of other possible forecast scenarios and considering the relevant probabilities
of each outcome. External information may include economic data and forecast published by
governmental bodies and monetary authorities in Sierra Leone where the bank operates,
supranational organisation such as OECD and the International Monetary Fund, and selected
private-sector and academic forecasters.
The base case is expected to represent a most likely outcome and be aligned with information and
by the bank for other purposes, such as strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios
would represent more optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes. The Bank plans also to
periodically carry out stress testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate the determination of these
other representation scenarios.
The Bank is in the process of identifying and documenting key drives of credit risk and credit losses
for each portfolio of financial instrument and , using an analysis of historical data estimating
relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses.
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Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
iii.

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Forward-looking information (continued)
The most significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements from the implementation of IFRS 9 is
expected to result from the new impairment requirements. Management is not yet able to provide
quantitative information about the expected impact, since the bank is in the process of building
and testing models, assembling data and calibrating impairment stage transfer criteria. The impact
is also dependent on finalisng the classification assessment and the circumstances at 1 January
2018.
However, management expects loss allowances under IFRS 9 to be larger than under IFRS 39.

iv.

Classification – financial liabilities
IFRS 9 largely retain the existing requirements of IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities.
However under IAS 39 all fair values changes of liabilities designated as at FVTPL are recognized in
profit or loss, whereas under IFRS 9 these fair value changes will generally be presented as follows:



the amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the
liability is presented in OCI; and
the remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or loss.

The Bank has designated debt securities issued at FVTPL when it holds related derivatives at FVTPL
and description therefore eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise. The amount of the changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk of
these liabilities that were recognized in profit or loss in 2016 when IAS 39 is disclosed in the notes.
On the adoption of IFRS 9, our current expectation is that such changes in fair value will be
recognized in OCI although the amount recognized in OCI each year will be variable. The
cumulative amount recognized in OCI will be nil if the designated liabilities are repaid at maturity
v.

Hedge accounting
When initially applying IFRS 9, the Bank may choose as its accounting policy to continue to apply the
hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 instead of the requirements in IFRS 9. The Bank's current
plan is that it will elect to continue to apply IAS 39. However the bank will provide the expanded
disclosures on hedge accounting introduced by IFRS 9 amendments of IFRS 7 because the
accounting policy election does not provide an exemption from these new disclosure requirements.

vi

Disclosures
IFRS 9 will require extensive new disclosures, in particular about hedge accounting, credit risk and
expected credit losses. The Bank's preliminary assessment included an analysis to identify data gaps
against current processes and the Bank plans to implement the system and controls changes that it
believes will be necessary to capture the required data.
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Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
vii

Impact on capital planning
The principal impact on the Bank’s regulatory capital of the implementation IFRS 9 will arise from
the new impairment requirements. Under current regulatory requirement impairment provisions
will be dealt with differently depending on whether a particular portfolio is on the IFRS or
standardized approach.
IRB approach: The capital requirement is calculated based on the gross exposure. Any shortfall
between eligible accounting provisions and regulatory expected losses is deducted from capital
reserves and any excess is added back to Tier 2 (up to a certain limit). Our preliminary assessment
indicates that under the current regulatory requirement, the implementation of IFRS 9 for the IRB
portfolios will result in a reduction in CETI reflecting expected higher impairment losses under the
standard with total capital remaining at a similar level. Approximately 80% of the Bank’s loans and
advances to customers are subject to the IRB approach.


Standardised approach: The capital requirement is calculated based on the gross exposures
net of specific provision (i.e net exposures). IFRS 9 is expected to increase the loss allowances
associated with individual assets and therefore the resulting net exposure and so the capital
requirement will fall. However this reduction in capital requirement would be overweighed by
the one-for-one deduction of the increased IFRS 9 loss allowance from capital resources. Only
provisions against losses presently unidentified on an individual basis are allowed to be added
back to tier 2 capital (up to a certain limit). Our preliminary assessment indicates that under
the current regulatory requirements the implementation of IFRS 9 for the standardized
portfolios will result in a reduction in CETI and total capital. Approximately 20% of the Bank’s
loans and advances to customers are subject to the standardized approach.
The Bank’s regulator is currently consulting on possible transition provision relating to the
implementation of IFRS 9 under which some of the capital input of IFRS 9 would be phased in
over a three-to-five year period. The bank’s regulator is also considering the proposals
included in the Basel Committee’s recently issued disclosure paper which addresses the future
long term regulatory capital treatment.

viii.

Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will
applied retrospectively except as described below:

generally be

 The bank plans to take advantage of this exemption allowing it not to restate
comparative information for the prior periods with respect to classification and
measurement (including impairment) changes. Differences in the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adopting of IFRS 9 generally
will be recognised in retained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018.
 The following assessments have to be made on the bases of the facts and circumstances
that exist at the date of initial applications:


The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.
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Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
viii.

ix.

Transition (continued)


The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and
financial liabilities amortised at FVPTL.



The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading is at
FVOCI.

Timeline for implementing IFRS 9
The Bank expects that it will be in a position to provide quantitative information on the impact of
the transition to IFRS 9 on its financial position and performance in its 2017 interim financial
statements. This will include the impact on its CETI and any regulatory ratios.
The quantitative information is expected to be based on the portfolios and the information as at 31
March 2017. Business portfolios and economic conditions will continue to evolve and therefore
such quantitative information compiled ahead of the transaction date will not be an estimate of the
future transition impart but rather an indicative application of the ECL methodology to portfolios
existing at 31 March 2017 and forecasts on that date.

New standards or amendments for 2016 and forthcoming requirements
Since December 2015, a number of standards amendments to an interpretation of standards have been
issued. This note lists these new standards, amendments to or interpretations of standards in issue at 31
December 2016, which were not yet effective for periods beginning on 1 January 2015 and therefore may
need to be considered for the first time when preparing IFRS financial statements for an annual period
beginning on 1 January 2016.
The note contains two tables as follows:


New currently effective requirements: This table list the recent changes in IFRS that are required to be
adopted in annual periods beginning on 1 January 2016.



Forthcoming requirements: This table lists the recent changes to IFRS that are available for early
adoption in annual periods beginning on 1 January 2017, although they are not mandatory until a
later period.

The table also include a cross reference to further guidance as applicable. All of the effective dates in the
table refer to the beginning of an annual accounting period.
New currently effective requirements.
Effective date

New standards or amendments
IFRS 14 Regulatory deferred accounts
Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations (Amendments
to IFRS 11)

114
237

Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra Leone) Limited
Rokel Commercial Bank (Sierra
Leone)Statements
Limited
Financial
for the year ended
31 December
2017
Financial
statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Effective date

New standards or amendments
Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation
(amendments to IAS 16 or IAS 38)

1 January 2017

Agriculture: Bearer plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41.
Equity method in separate financial statements (Amendments to IAS 27)
Annual improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 – cycle various studies.
Investment entities:
Applying the consolidation
(Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

exception

Disclosure initiative (Amendments to IAS 1
1January 2018

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (Amendments to
IAS 12)
Annual improvements to IFRSs 2015 – 2017 cycle (Amendments to IFRS
12 Disclosure of Interest in other entities
IFRS 15 Revenue from contract with customers
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
Classification of measurement of share-based payment transactions
(Amendments to IFRS 2)

1 January 2018

Applying IFRS 9 financial instrument, with IFRS 4 Insurance contract
(Amendments to IFRS 4)
Transfer of investment property (Amendments to IAS 40)
Annual improvements to IFRS 2014-2016 cycle (Amendments to IFRS 1
first time adoption of IFRS and IAS 28 investment in Associates and Joint
Ventures)
IFRS 16 leases
IFRS 22 Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration.
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